Costing Violence and Returns to Investments in Preventing Interpersonal Violence

Revised Draft February 25, 2023

PATHFINDERS

This draft was prepared by a team led by Jeni Klugman, comprising Rifqah Roomaney, Ecehan Yurukoglu, Sara Saini and Paulina Dawidowska, with major contributions from New Perimeter/ DLA Piper, Milorad Kovacevic, who provided excellent statistical advice, and Luisa Portugal, who worked on the graphics.

Thanks to Anke Hoeffler, and to Sarah Cliffe, Daniel Mack, Luisa Portugal and Bojan Francuz, for advice and feedback on an early draft, and to Daniel Friedman for comments on the final draft. The Halving Global Violence Task Force provided excellent feedback during early consultations, and especially to Stephanie Burrows (WHO) and Angela Me (UNODC) for follow up discussions. Special thanks also to Philip Alpers at GunPolicy.org and Alistair Gee at Centre for Armed Violence Reduction.

Contents

Executive Summary
Costing Violence and Returns to Investments in Preventing Interpersonal Violence4
Chapter 1. Introduction and Motivation
Chapter 2. Patterns of inter-personal violence around the world16
Data sources, definitions and cautionary notes
Headlines from global data and patterns
Patterns in national rates of violence
Intimate Partner Violence
Correlations across aspects of measured violence
Chapter 3. Options on costing
Costing methods
Health costs
Criminal justice costs
Challenges
Chapter 4. Evidence about what works to reduce violence, and costs
Individual and Family-based Interventions
Individual level interventions to Reduce Assault and Homicide
Individual and couple-based programs to prevent IPV46
Community level Interventions to Address Violence
Community interventions to address assault and homicide
Community mobilization to address IPV55
Chapter 5. Laws and regulations to prevent violence
Restrictions on gun ownership and use
Laws against Intimate Partner Violence
Media and communications
Emerging Conclusions on What Works
Statistical Tables
1: Homicide, assault and intimate partner violence, by country and gender, most recent year.73
2: Homicide, assault and intimate partner violence, by regional group and gender, most recent year
Appendix 1: Country groups

Figures ES 1. Share of population who had been victims of assault in the last 12 months, by region

	and country outliers	6
ES 2.	Share of women who have experienced intimate partner violence (IPV) in the last 12	
	months, by region and country outliers	7
ES 3.	Annual assault and IPV rates by gender, selected comparisons	8
2.1.	Typology of violence with a focus on interpersonal violence	16
2.2.	Intentional homicides (per 100,000 people) by region and country outliers	
2.3A.	The worst dozen countries in homicide rates	
2.3B.	Countries with the highest number of homicides, by gender	19
2.4.	Share of the population who had been victims of assault in the last 12 months, by region	
	and country outliers	20
2.5.	Comparison of assault rates reported by Gallup and UNODC, by region	
2.6.	Share of population that feels safe while walking alone at night, by gender	
	and region.	.23
2.7.	Share of women who have experienced intimate partner violence (IPV) in the last 12	
	months, by region and country outliers	.24
2.8.	Cross country correlation between the share of women that felt safe walking alone at nigh	t
	and the share of women who have experienced IPV	.26
2.9.	Cross country correlation between assault rates and IPV	
4.1.	Types of Interventions to Reduce Violence	.38
4.2.	Share of population that has confidence in their local police, by gender and region	

Tables

Table 1.	Selected summary of evidence on outcomes tracked, by program
Table 3.1.	Estimated VSL for selected countries
Table 3.2.	Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the USA,
	USD 2014
Table 3.3A.	Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the USA
	and approximated average costs in selected countries (in USD)
Table 3.3B.	Projected average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the
	USA and selected countries (in USD) in 2020
Table 4.1.	Selected individual, couple and family-based violence interventions to reduce violence.40
Table 4.2.	Selected community-level violence interventions with cost information54
Table 5.1.	Selected large-scale and national regulations and interventions
D	

Boxes

Box 1.1. Pathways to Peace, conflict costs and prevention and geo-politics	15
Box 2.1. Police and lethal violence and homicide statistics	17
Box 2.2. Violence against children	18
Box 2.2. Elder Abuse	23
Box 3.1. Minimum information at the individual level for a violence-related injury	32
Box 3.2. Utilizing US data on the medical costs of injury due to assault	34
Box 4.1. Spotlight on addressing Gun Violence	43
Box 4.2. Community policing as a strategy to reduce violence	
Box 5.1. Mass shootings	
Box 5.2. National Strategies to Combat Interpersonal Violence in Central and South America:	
Selected Experiences	5

Executive Summary

Costing Violence and Returns to Investments in Preventing Interpersonal Violence

This report lays out ways to think about the business case for investments in preventing interpersonal violence in the community and at home.¹ It outlines what we know about the extent of such violence, how the costs of violence can be quantified, and what works to prevent violence.

While the public focus is, understandably, often on homicides and gang related violence, and the U.S. and much of Latin America looms large, non-lethal violence is even more pervasive around the world, with severe repercussions for survivors. High rates of assault characterize many countries, while the worst dozen countries are all in Sub-Saharan Africa. Gender disaggregated data shows that women are often facing higher rates of assault, as well as high rates of intimate partner violence (IPV), which is experienced by about one in seven women globally, every year.² The fear of violence is also pronounced, with around 30 percent of people fearful to walk in their neighborhood at night, rising as high as 88% among women in Afghanistan.

The good news is that a growing body of studies document the impacts of violence prevention programs and their costs, including intimate partner violence. Interventions at the individual, community, city and national levels have all been shown to achieve major reductions in various forms of interpersonal violence.

As part of the Pathfinders' Halving Global Violence initiative, this report takes stock of what we know about the business case for boosting investments in violence reduction. Our focus on the business case does not detract from the principle that all people, regardless of gender, race and residence, have the right to live free of violence.

What do we know

Our snapshot of prevalence of violence around the world brings together some well-established facts and points to some new findings relevant to thinking about investing in violence prevention. Rates of violence vary significantly across and within countries, underlining that violence is not inevitable.

Every year, the number of homicide victims is around triple the number of people killed in armed conflict and terrorism combined.³ In some regions and countries, homicide rates are very high; intentional homicide is the leading cause of death for people aged 15-49 years in Latin America.⁴ The rates of intentional homicide are highest in Latin America and the Caribbean, and Sub-Saharan Africa. Sex-disaggregated data show that men are more likely to be the perpetrators of violence, with male identity and masculine norms being one of the main underlying drivers of the phenomenon.⁵

Assault rates are highest in Sub-Saharan Africa – with about one in seven people saying that they had been victims of assault or mugging in the past year. However, there is enormous variation behind regional and country averages. Across all regions there is significant variation around the average, with the worst performing countries often having assault rates double the regional average, while the best performing is below half the average. For example, in Africa, rates range as high as

three in ten in Gambia, down to below one in 40 in Mauritius. Given extensive under-reporting of assault in many countries, due to low levels of trust and capacity in police and justice institutions, we draw on population-based data from Gallup World Poll. National and even state level averages also conceal the ways in which violence tends to be concentrated within neighborhoods in cities.

Patterns of IPV across regions and country groups also reveal large differences. There is significant cross-country variation in prevalence, with the lowest rates of current (past year) IPV reported from Canada, Hong Kong and Switzerland, at less than 2%, and the highest rate is in Iraq, where a shocking 45% of women have experienced intimate partner violence within the past year. Regionally, intimate partner violence is highest in Sub-Saharan Africa – with almost one in five women experiencing violence in the home in the past year – closely followed by South Asia and the Arab States. Worst in Sub-Saharan Africa is Madagascar at 35% and lowest in Comoros, at 7%. We also show that in countries where IPV rates are high, women also tend to feel unsafe in their neighborhoods at night.

ES Figure 1. Share of population who had been victims of assault in the last 12 months, by region and country outliers



We compare the relative risks of different forms of violence, and how those risks vary between men and women. While homicide remains a relatively rare event in national statistics, measured per 100,000 and peaking at 50 in Venezuela, the risks of assault and experiencing violence in the hands of an intimate partner are much higher.

Globally, annual rates of violence committed against women by intimate partners vastly exceeds the overall rates of assault — 10 versus 6.5%. By region, we see some variation — on an annual basis, the risks facing women in Arab states and the US are much more likely to be subject to violence at home (16 and 4.2% respectively), than the overall likelihood that anyone will experience assault in the community (7.4 and 1.9%). In LAC and Europe, the rates of assault and IPV are more similar, and can go the other way — overall assault and IPV rates at 8 and 7.6 % respectively in LAC, and 3.5 and 2.5 in Europe.

Across the 140 countries with data on assault and IPV, there are 54 countries where women face a significantly higher risk of experiencing IPV than their risk of assault.⁶ This is true even in fragile settings. For example, in Iraq and Afghanistan, rates of past year IPV are 45% and 34% respectively, compared to reported annual rates of assault in population surveys of around 7%. In Pakistan, current IPV rates are around 15%, compared to assault rates below 5%. On the other hand, there is a diverse set of about a dozen countries where women's assault rates exceed IPV in the past year by more than 3% percentage points, including Venezuela, Nigeria, the UK and Austria.



ES Figure 2. Share of women who have experienced intimate partner violence (IPV) in the last 12 months, by region and country outliers.

We know that IPV largely affects women, while assault rates tend to be much higher for men. But how do those overall rates compare? Assault rates by gender are fairly similar in some regions —women are generally as likely to be victims as men in Africa and Europe, although in Arab states and ECA, assault victims are more likely to be men. There are 50 countries in which the risk of women experiencing IPV is significantly (more than 3 times) higher than the risk of men being assaulted. For example, in Madagascar and Tanzania, rates of past year IPV are 35 and 22% respectively, compared to reported annual rates of assault for men around 14 and 4 % respectively. In 28 countries, the risk of women experiencing IPV exceeds the risks of men being assaulted by more than 5% percentage points.

This report examines gender breakdowns in rates of homicide and assault, alongside a focus on IPV. Some key highlights and nuances warrant underlining, as also illustrated in ES Figure 3:

- While homicide is far less common than assault or IPV, most victims are men. Globally, the homicide rate is about 10 per 100,000 for men, compared to 2.3 for women. The gender gaps are even larger in Latin America, where the male : female ratio is 37:4 and Sub-Saharan Africa, 23:4 per 100,000.
- In several regions, men are somewhat more likely to be victims of assault than women, although the overall difference is less than a percentage point 6.6% for men and 5.7% for

women. In Latin America the respective rates are also similar, 8.1 versus 7.6%, while in Sub Saharan Africa, with the highest regional rates of assault in the world, assaults reported by women are slightly higher, 14.6 versus 14.1%.

 Around the world, annual rates of IPV experience by women are much higher than total and male rates of assault, and of course much higher than homicide rates. Latin America is the only regional exception – rates of assault against men are 8%, compared to women's IPV rates of 7%. In all other regions, IPV rates are much higher than assault rates – including Sub-Saharan Africa, 18 versus 14%, and South Asia and Arab states, both averaging 16% for IPV and 8% for assault. For North America, the IPV rate averages 4% and assault is reported by 2% of the population.



ES Figure 3. Annual assault and IPV rates by gender, selected comparisons

Source: Statistical Table 2; regions and country groups defined in Appendix 1

We do not know, globally, what share of interpersonal violence takes place in urban areas, although data for the US indicates that almost nine out of ten homicides are urban. We do know that the world is rapidly urbanizing, including many countries in sub-Saharan Africa, and that urban violence tends to be associated with economic and social deprivation.⁷ Many argue that rising inequality exacerbates the risks of violence.⁸

This empirical picture underlines the urgency of concerted efforts to meet the SDG targets on violence reduction, to which all national governments have signed up. The data also underline the importance of considering IPV alongside other forms of violence in efforts to address global violence, because it is so pervasive, and has major repercussions for survivors.

What works to prevent violence

Evidence is accumulating about what works to prevent violence, at three broad levels –interventions targeted at individuals and families; in the community; and nation-wide.⁹ This evidence comes from the United States, Africa (including Liberia, Zambia, Nigeria, Rwanda, South Africa, Uganda, Senegal, DRC, Ghana, Sierra Leone) and Brazil, Nicaragua, Colombia, Nicaragua in Latin America.

Three key, inter-related approaches emerge as most promising and cost effective. First, interventions that target specific at-risk places, people, and behaviors, second, investing in changing norms and behaviors, at the level of both the community and individual attitudes, ¹⁰ and the adoption of multi-sectoral approaches.¹¹

Since prevailing norms at the individual and community levels may underpin the use of violence as a means of exerting power or resolving conflict, an increasingly prominent theme is that violence reduction efforts need to transform harmful gender norms and be anchored in the community if they are to galvanize change.¹² This is central to efforts to combat IPV, and efforts to combat gang and urban violence are also increasingly seeking to addressing harmful gender norms.¹³

Framing in an ecological model helps point to the multiple levels at which violence can occur and potential entry points, as well as the interconnectedness of the different spaces. Indeed, many of the community level programs focus on high-risk individuals, for example, which underlines how the various levels are interconnected.

Typology of actions to prevent violence and



Source: Adapted from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013 Selecting Effective Interventions.

At the individual and family level, a number of successful programs have been documented, including those with major elements of cognitive behavioral therapy and counselling. Some proactively seek to engage high risk individuals, and others seek to work with those who have already perpetrated violence.

• ADD RE INDIVIDUAL

- The Cure Violence public health model has reduced rates of assault and homicide in a diversity of settings.¹⁴
- Community-based interventions aimed at reducing violence against women and girls have shown encouraging impacts¹⁵ --
- A growing number of norm transformative programs have targeted groups of men, the best known of which is *Programme H*, which was launched in Brazil, and has now been adapted in at least 36 countries.¹⁶ The program aims to educate young men on issues of gender equality and partner violence over a period of several months, with a participatory curriculum offered by trained mentors in weekly small group sessions at the core of the program, with encouraging results in terms of attitudes and behaviors around violence. For example, in India, intervention participants were up to five times less likely to report partner violence compared to a control group.
- State and nation-wide efforts include regulations and laws designed to prevent or reduce violence include the prohibition of domestic violence and gun laws. An obvious attraction of legal reforms to address violence is that legislative change per se can be relatively inexpensive, although the costs of implementation and enforcement may be high. Moreover, there may also be negative unintended consequences, including over-policing and repercussions for minority communities. Laws prohibiting intimate partner violence are more recent, and some countries still don't have laws under implementation, and evidence on impacts is just emerging.

The summary table below highlights key evidence, by level of intervention and program. Some have evidence on impacts only, but several have evidence on costs and impacts. The upshot is that a range of interventions have been successfully implemented in low resource settings, often with promising impacts,¹⁷ although better evidence is needed to build the evidence base to advocate for increased efforts in violence prevention.

We also recognize that 'scaling up' of specific projects and programs may face major challenges. Recent feminist writings have highlighted that *how* norms change programs are designed, adapted and implemented is critical, and that "the adaptation and expansion of programming can inadvertently reinforce the status quo, despite good intentions."¹⁸ It is important that programs fit as part of larger, locally driven efforts for social change, "centering the voices, needs, priorities and actions of marginalized communities" and "add to existing activism rather than functioning in siloed ways."

Table 1. Selected summary of evidence on outcomes tracked, by program

			Outcomes tracked	
	of intervention (Randomized Control Trial, RCT), and years of nentation	Intimate partner violence	Assault &/or homicide	Norms around violence
	Fast Track program (United States, 1991 - 2003) Intensive, multi-component intervention to prevent aggression in at-risk children parenting classes, academic tutoring, and social-skill training.			
ased	Sustainable Transformation of Youth Program (Liberia, 2009-2011) Long- term follow-up of an 8-week cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) intervention with financial incentives for high-risk men and street youth.			
Individual, family and couples-based	Becoming a Man program (Chicago, United States, 2012-2013) School-based group counselling program for at-risk youth, including CBT. BAM is available in various US cities, such as Boston, Dallas, Kansas, Los Angeles and Washington DC.			
mily and	Trauma-focused CBT for children (Lusaka and Kabwe, Zambia, 2012 -2013) CBT intervention for children who experienced at least one traumatic event.			
vidual, fa	Violence and Alcohol Treatment Trial (Lusaka, Zambia, 2016 - 2018) Intervention aimed at couples to address IPV and unhealthy alcohol use.			
Indiv	Indashyikirwa (Rwanda, 2015 - 2018) Changing gender norms through individual and couple-based IPV prevention programs, as well as through training community activists. Intervention drew heavily on SASA!			
	Gender Socialization and Financial Training Intervention (Ibadan, Nigeria, 2017-2018) Couple-based gender transformative intervention focused on enhancing women's participation in household decision-making and reducing IPV.			
	The Cure Violence Model (United States, 2010 - 2012). Community mobilization and outreach by Violence Interrupters focused on high-risk individuals; evaluated using quasi-experimental designs. Cure Violence has been implemented in 20 US and Canadian cities, and replicated in 7 countries in Latin America and 8 countries in the Middle East and Africa.			
	Project REASON (Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago, 2015 – 2017). Adaptation of Cure Violence Model assessed through a quasi-experimental impact evaluation and a cost-effectiveness analysis.			
	Ceasefire strategies (Oakland, United States, 2012 – 2017) Followed the focused deterrence group violence reduction strategy. Aimed at changing offender behavior through law enforcement, community mobilization and social services action. Quasi-experimental evaluations in Oakland, Boston, Chicago.			
ity-level	"Fica Vivo!", Belo Horizonte, Brazil, pilot aimed to reduce homicides in high risk favelas, with strong police and military police effort, workshops for young people, and community involvement			
Community-level	Gang Reduction and Youth Development (Los Angeles, United States, 2008 – 2015) Aimed to strengthen youth/young adults, family and community resilience to gang influence through community engagement, gang prevention and intervention and violence interruption (Community Intervention Workers). Evaluated using qualitative and quantitative data.			
	Operation Peacemaker Fellowship (California, United States, 2010 - 2014). 18-month program for high-risk men helping build life outside gangs using a quasi- experimental design and evaluated through a cost-benefit analysis.			
	SASA! (Kampala, Uganda, 2008 – 201). Community mobilization approach to prevent violence against women comprising four strategies: local activism, media and advocacy, communication materials, and training. SASA! has also been adapted and implemented in at least 30 countries. RCTs have been conducted in Uganda and Tanzania. The annual cost was estimated for Uganda.			
	Safe Dates (North Carolina, United States, 1994 – 1995) Workshops for middle-school students to raise awareness about healthy relationships and reduce dating violence among adolescents.			

	Programme H (Rio de Janeiro Brazil 2002). Workshops and community mobilization to change attitudes among young men. Aimed to educate young men		
	on issues of gender equality and IPV. The program adapted and / or implemented		
	in 32 countries.		
	Tostan (Kolda Region, Senegal, 2012 - 2016). A human rights-based education		
	program that aimed to reduce female genital mutilation and IPV by changing		
	existing gender norms and beliefs. Evaluated through a quasi-experimental approach.		
	Transforming Masculinities (Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of Congo,		
	2014 - 2015) Aimed at men and focused on integrating conversations about gender		
	equality into traditional activities such as sermons and prayer meetings.		
	Rural Response System. (Central Region, Ghana, 2016 -2018). Community		
	Based Action Teams aimed to prevent IPV by raising awareness and supporting survivors.		
	Women Training and Integration Program (Liberia, 2019 – 2021).		
	Multifaceted female empowerment program which includes intensive psychosocial		
	therapy and vocational skills training.		
	Men as Partners (Johannesburg, South Africa, 2004 - 2005) Group education,		
	community workshops and activities for young men that focusing on gender		
	equality, heathy relationship dynamics and HIV/AIDS. Evaluation had qualitative component and pre- and post- workshop questionnaires.		
	Stepping Stones and Creating Futures (eThekwini, South Africa, 2015 –		
	2018) Program aimed to reduce IPV and HIV-risks in informal settlements		
	through peer-led, interactive sessions with young adults.		
	Medellín, Colombia, Neighborhood transit and infrastructure investments	BLUE	
	evaluated via natural experiment		
	Project Safe Neighbourhoods (United States, 2000-2006) Multi-agency		
	initiative to reduce gun violence in 82 cities through enhanced enforcement and		
	deterrence; quasi-experimental design.		
	Introduction of firearm regulations (South Africa, 2001- 2009) Legislation to reduce the number of firearms in civilian hands.		
	reduce the number of meaning in civilian nands.		
	State firearm de/regulation (United States) US "shall issue" state gun laws		
	i.e. eliminates most restrictions on carrying a concealed weapon associated with		
tws	more firearm homicides, and vice versa.		
6			
al la	Waiting period laws (United States, 1970 – 2014) States with waiting periods		
local la	(which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide.		
and local la	(which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide.		
al and local la			
ttional and local la	(which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence.		
National and local laws	 (which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence. Laws against domestic violence (Brazil, 2013) Maria da Penha Law increased 		
National and local la	(which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence.		
National and local la	 (which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence. Laws against domestic violence (Brazil, 2013) Maria da Penha Law increased attention and resources for violence against women. 		
National and local la	 (which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence. Laws against domestic violence (Brazil, 2013) Maria da Penha Law increased attention and resources for violence against women. PMC- Saliwansai (Sierra Leone, 2014 – 2015). Education through entertainment 		
National and local la	 (which delay the purchasing of firearms) reduced gun homicide. Laws against domestic violence (Nicaragua, 2012) Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence. Laws against domestic violence (Brazil, 2013) Maria da Penha Law increased attention and resources for violence against women. 		

Legend:

0	
	Evidence on costs only
	Evidence on impacts only
	Evidence on both
	Unclear

Costing violence and the returns to prevention

Interpersonal violence is expensive. The costs to individuals and families, in terms of lost income and medical expenses, as well as pain and suffering, are large. Governments spend large amounts of public money dealing with the consequences of violence. And firms, families, and governments spend large amounts of money on security in the community and home to prevent violence.

Recent estimates suggest that the costs of interpersonal violence amount to around 10% of world GDP.¹⁹ However, there is a huge range in estimated monetary values of violence averted – and these could potentially be the difference between concluding and not concluding that an intervention is economically justified.

We review methods to estimate the costs of interpersonal violence, coupled with evidence about the returns to spending to reduce those costs. A recurring theme is that the scale and costs of what is needed to prevent violence will vary enormously by context and it is affected by local institutions and culturally specific gender norms, among other things.

There are a series of methodological challenges, beginning with the fact that both costs and benefits of violence range across diverse tangible and less tangible outcomes, and are difficult to monetize. Further difficulties arise around:

- 1. Data on violence suffers from major issues of under-reporting and inconsistent definitions.
- 2. Accurate health-related and criminal justice data may not be available at the country level, and findings from US studies or global norms may not hold in low resource settings.
- 3. Shortcomings in rigorous evidence about the extent to which programs work in reducing violence,²⁰ and variability in reported impacts and benefits of different interventions depending on the target group and type of violence, among other things. For example, prevention research does suggest that earlier interventions tend to yield better results than interventions targeted at adolescents or adults, and have a longer time horizon for returns. Likewise, the fact that domestic abuse tends to be recurring over time, rather than once off, suggests that the payoffs would be larger than a single incident being averted.
- 4. Lack of data on intervention costs. The review reveals a lack of comparability across cost measures used some studies measure cost per participant, others per incident prevented, and many simply report the total budget spent. Moreover, the spending requirements for a pilot or specific intervention may not be representative of resources needed to implement the program at scale, or in different national settings. Since no program is 100% effective, the cost of incident averted will exceed the cost per participant.

Still, a recent systemic review of economic evaluations of violence prevention in high income countries concluded that most violence prevention programs yield good value for money. It is plausible that the returns would be at least as high in settings associated with higher levels of violence.

The upshot is that we know enough to expand rapidly violence prevention efforts, especially in high violence settings and, as we saw, the benefits would be broad based, for women and men. The magnitude of the challenge calls for substantially more efforts to apply what is known to prevent various forms of violence, and to test and evaluated innovative approaches.

Last, but not least, not included in conventional estimates of the benefits of prevention of interpersonal violence are the broader benefits to other areas of development and the SDGs. We saw at the outset that the challenge of interpersonal violence is not confined to one region, and that major risks face both men and women. It is clear that a range of development priorities, from poverty reduction, to education to gender equality, among others – would be significantly bolstered if the risks of interpersonal violence were significantly reduced.

Chapter 1. Introduction and Motivation

All people, regardless of gender, race and residence, have the right to live free of violence. Breaches of this basic human right – arising from the intentional use or threat of force or power – are widespread around the world, and raise major human rights issues. The need to address these challenges are explicit in the Sustainable Development Goals, which commit to "significantly reduce all forms of violence and related death rates everywhere," (16.1) and even more ambitiously, pledges the elimination of all forms of violence against women and girls (5.1), and against children (16.2).

Every year, the number of homicide victims is around triple the number killed in armed conflict and terrorism combined.²¹ Non-lethal violence is even more pervasive, with severe repercussions for survivors -- intimate partner violence is experienced by about one in seven women globally, annually.^{22,23}

According to the leading Global Burden of Disease study, interpersonal violence ranked as the fourth leading cause of death among all injuries in 2019, and accounted for about 415 000 deaths.²⁴ In some countries, such as Venezuela, Honduras and Guatemala, homicide is one of the largest killers. In Latin America overall, homicides are the largest cause of death for people aged 15-49 years.²⁵

Yet, while it is widely accepted that interpersonal violence is a huge scourge, investments in efforts to prevent and reduce violence are lagging. For example, both humanitarian and development assistance directed to combating violence against women and girls has been extremely low.²⁶ The OECD tracks the total volume of development assistance directed to ending violence against women and girls. In 2019, the latest available year, less than 0.3 percent of total bilateral official development assistance went toward ending violence against women and girls, amounting to roughly USD \$0.86 per woman. Only 13 countries averaged more than one dollar per woman.²⁷

This under-investment persists despite the growing evidence base, grounded in research and practice, confirming that violence is preventable. As we explore in Chapter 4, community-based interventions aimed at reducing violence against women and girls have shown encouraging impacts,²⁸ while the Cure Violence public health model is one among a range of approaches that have been shown to reduce rates of assault and homicide in a diversity of settings.²⁹

As part of the movement to Halve Global Violence, the aim of this report is to lay out the business case for boosting investments in preventing violence, by showing the extent and costs of violence, and what works to prevent violence, and outlines options for further work. Assessing the business case for investments in prevention should be informed by knowledge about the extent to which programs work in reducing violence. We review the available evidence in order to ground arguments for increased violence prevention efforts. The good news is that a growing body of studies document the impacts of violence prevention programs and their costs, including intimate partner violence, although, as we explain below, the numbers tend to vary widely.

Cost and savings estimates can be a powerful tool to incentivize governments and partners to actively address violence and ensure adequate resource allocations. Such research has been used to influence policy and programming: for example, in Egypt, the Ministry of Planning increased the budget for violence against women related activities based on the findings of a 2015 national costing study.³⁰ Another example of a policy impact comes from the US state of Washington, where a return-on-

investment model was developed to estimate the economic returns of various policy options, and to synthesize data in a form that was comprehensible to non-expert audiences in the state legislature.³¹

Our expectation is that estimates of the costs of interpersonal violence – violence against women and children, assaults and homicides -- would be more persuasive if coupled with evidence about the returns to spending to reduce those costs. This motivates the accompanying focus on the returns to investment, while recognizing that the evidence on the economic value of violence prevention programming is scarce, and as outlined below, there are major methodological challenges.

An important goal of this report is to review the pros and cons of alternative costing methods, and review options to inform future work. However, we do not provide an exhaustive review of the evidence -- the methodology of this report was a rapid desk-based review, undertaken in March-July 2022, and restricted to English language publications, including searching online academic databases and scanning research-agency and practitioner websites for useful articles, evaluations, resources, manuals, and other relevant materials.

Chapter 2 outlines global and regional patterns in the main outcome indicators used to measure violence, to see what can be established in terms of prevalence. Chapter 3 outlines different methods that have been used to estimate the costs of violence, highlighting key challenges and possible ways forward. Chapter 4 reviews what we know about what works to prevent interpersonal violence, and the associated program costs, and the final chapter reviews evidence about the effectiveness of national and local legislative reforms which aim to reduce violence.

Chapter 2. Patterns of inter-personal violence around the world.

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines interpersonal violence as 'violence that occurs between family members, intimate partners, friends, acquaintances and strangers. It includes child maltreatment, youth violence, intimate partner violence, sexual violence, elder abuse and violence against women and girls'.³²

This violence occurs at home and in the community, as highlighted in Figure 2.1. Within the family, we focus on intimate partner violence (IPV), while also spotlighting evidence about violence against children and elder abuse.





Source: Adapted from the World Report on Violence and Health, 2002

Data sources, definitions and cautionary notes

Over the past several decades, governments, UN agencies, survey organizations and researchers have expanded the pool of reliable data on the three main indicators of interpersonal violence – viz, homicide, assault and IPV. Yet major data constraints remain.

Many nations lack the requisite administrative agencies, and in some cases the political will, to compile reliable data on homicide and assault, with major gaps in data availability in countries at lower levels of human development and in Africa. Indeed, only 7 out of 33 low human development index (HDI) countries have reported homicide data to the UN (Afghanistan, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Guinea-

Bissau, Haiti, Tanzania and Uganda), and only 7 have data on assault (Benin, Burundi, Guinea-Bissau, Haiti, Madagascar, Tanzania and Uganda). Thus only 5 low-HDI countries have data on both homicide and assault.

Moreover, the administrative data reported by governments and to UN agencies is plagued by underreporting, especially in settings where trust in institutions and police responses is low. This is true for IPV and assault, and even homicide. One recent estimate for developing countries is that only 7% of women experiencing gender-based violence formally reported the violence, ranging as low as 2% in India and East Asia.³³ In Europe, only around 14% of survivors of IPV reported to the authorities.³⁴ For this reason, we rely on representative population surveys and not administrative reporting for IPV estimates.

The extent of under-reporting of violent crimes has been investigated in several settings. A state level assessment in Brazil between 2004-2011 estimated that about one-third of violent crimes were not reported.³⁵ Recent analysis in Nigeria starkly illustrates the challenges. The officially reported homicide rate in Nigeria in 2019 was 6 per 100,000 inhabitants, whereas a household survey conducted by the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and the National Bureau of Statistics in 2016 suggested that the national homicide rate was 34 per 100,000 population.³⁶

As UNODC points out, these discrepancies underline the urgency of improved criminal justice statistics in countries with low levels of data coverage, in order to determine more accurately the actual level of lethal violence and to inform strategies for tackling such violence. As outlined below, it is not just a matter of statistics, but of reporting to local law enforcement, in particular, if trust and confidence in institutions is low, people are unlikely to report violent crimes and data will be weak – which means that problems with the data can run deep. Major problems can also arise where police lethal violence inflicted by police does not fall within state and national definitions of homicide (Box 2.1).

Box 2.1 Police and lethal violence and homicide statistics

The deaths of many black people in the USA in recent times, including George Floyd, Michael Brown, Breonna Taylor, Eric Garner, have brought the role of police in lethal violence to the fore. This is not only a challenge for the US – as reports of Amnesty and others document from Brazil, Jamaica and The Philippines.

There are strict international laws and standards governing how and when police can use force – particularly lethal force. Under international law, police officers should only use lethal force as a last resort, that is, when such force is strictly necessary to protect themselves or others from the imminent threat of death or serious injury, and only when other options for de-escalation are insufficient. It also means that police killings that do not meet these criteria should be reported as intentional homicide.

Yet in some countries, killings by the police do not meet these criteria, and are not legally sanctioned – for example, Mexico's <u>National Law on the Use of Force</u> does not require that officers use the minimum level of force to resolve a situation, and in the USA, nine states <u>have no laws</u> at all on the use of lethal force by law enforcement officers. In countries and jurisdictions where police lethality is not deemed unlawful, such killings would not be included in homicide statistics.

Source: Amnesty, Police Violence Around the World. https://www.amnestyusa.org/issues/deadly-force-police-accountability-police-violence/ 17

Data availability is currently somewhat better for IPV, where the standardized definition of "current IPV" is the percentage of women who have been subjected to physical and/or sexual violence by a current or former intimate partner in the preceding 12 months. These data have become more widely collected in representative population surveys following appropriate ethical protocols, so that there is no need to rely on reporting to the police. The expansion of field surveys has significantly improved country coverage of IPV estimates, so that 20 low-income countries have adequate data. However, only 4 low-income countries (Burundi, Haiti, Tanzania and Uganda) have data on all three main indicators of violence: homicide, assault and IPV.

For assault, the Gallup World Poll has far more extensive country coverage than the WHO or UNODC. Moreover, the data appears to be more reliable because it is based on representative population samples, and does not depend on people's trust in police and law enforcement. UNODC is based on police reports and Gallup on self-reporting, and UNODC includes all ages, but Gallup only covers people above age 15. It is noted that indicators from UNODC and from Gallup measure different concepts: UNODC refers to physical injuries "Assault: "injuries inflicted by another person with intent to injure or kill, by any means", while Gallup's question is broader and includes being mugged or threatened. However, the latter seems consistent with the WHO (2002) definition of violence, and Gallup appears to be the preferred source for assault data, and used in our analysis below.

The foregoing points to the need for caution when analyzing published data on violence. In particular, the imputations used to address missing data means that analysis of cross-national variations may be spurious – if the same socio-economic variables used to generate for example homicide rates are also employed as explanatory variables, the associated correlations will be misleading.³⁷ For this reason we abstain from any analysis of drivers of cross-country variations in homicide.

Headlines from global data and patterns

Here we review the headlines on intentional homicide, assault and IPV, for the most recent year available. The full data and sources are presented in Statistical Table 1, and the regional and country groupings are defined in Appendix 1.

The three main indicators of violence – homicide, assault and IPV – are conventionally presented in different scales – because the number of homicides is always much lower, these are shown per 100,000, whereas assault and IPV are presented as percentages (per 100). If lethal and non-lethal violence were both presented as percentages, the figures for the former would be tiny. And if we converted non-lethal to per 100,000, this would create confusion if quoted out of context. So, we maintain the conventional metrics to present the national data.

Patterns in national rates of violence

Rates of violence vary significantly across countries, underlining that violence is preventable. Across most of Europe, for example, fewer than 0.1% of deaths are the result of homicide. Homicide rates in East Asia and Europe average one per 100,000, that is a 20-fold difference relative to Latin America, which averages $20.^{38}$

Figure 2.2 shows regional averages and outliers for intentional homicide, that is, unlawful death purposefully inflicted on a person by another person(s), based on official data and with the caveats

outlined above. We see that the regional average in Latin America is more than double that of Africa. Several regions and country groups have group averages in the single digits per 100,000. But there is also significant variation within the worst performing regions, with low rates of homicide being recorded in countries in all regions.



Figure 2.2. Intentional homicides (per 100 000 people), by region and country outliers

Figure 2.3A shows the officially reported homicide rates (per 100, 000) in the twelve most violent countries for the period 2016-2020. The highest rates were experienced in Venezuela (about 50), while a further nine countries in Latin America and the Caribbean rank in the worst dozen countries. Note that Nigeria does not show here – given the problems with official data outlined above – although UNODC surveys suggests that the rate is similar to Honduras and South Africa.

Figure 2.3A. The worst dozen countries in homicide rates



Source: Statistical Table 1

Source: See Statistical Table 1.

How do homicide rates differ by sex? Male identity and masculine norms make men and boys more likely to perpetrate violent crimes as well as more likely to die by homicide and suicide -- boys and men are often socialized and encouraged to be violent with harmful masculine norms shaping the likelihood of both experiencing and perpetrating violence.³⁹ These harmful norms include: achieving socially recognized manhood, policing masculine performance and reinforcing patriarchal power.⁴⁰ Figure 2.3B shows sex-disaggregated homicide rates for the worst 12 countries – and underlines the huge disparities, with rates for men often ten times higher than for women. The worst male homicide rates (per 100, 000) were in Venezuela (94), Jamaica (80) and El Salvador (70), while the worst female homicide rates were in South Africa (10), Jamaica (9) and El Salvador (7).



Figure 2.3B. Countries with the highest number of homicides, by gender

Source: Statistical Table 1. Note: Lesotho does not have sex-disaggregated data.

Turning to assault, we draw on population surveys carried out by Gallup rather than official crime reports, for the reasons outlined above and elaborated further below. Figure 2.4 shows a range in past year assault from a high of 30% in The Gambia, to lows around 1% in several diverse countries, including Australia, Finland, Hong Kong and Turkmenistan.

People experience the highest assault rates in sub-Saharan Africa, where 14% of the population said that they had been assaulted in the past year, followed by Latin America and the Arab States, both around 7-8%. Across all regions there is significant variation around the average, with the worst performing countries often having assault rates around double the regional average, and the best performing below half the average.



Figure 2.4. Share of population who had been victims of assault in the last 12 months, by region and country outliers

Source: See Statistical Table 1.

The picture which emerges from the Gallup data on assault shown in Figure 2.4 is very different to that reported by UNODC, which is the main official international source. Indeed, there is negligible correlation between the two series. For example, the worst ten countries reporting assault in the Gallup series are (from the worst) Sierra Leone, Uganda, Congo Brazzaville, Kenya, Ghana, Mali, Cameroon, South Africa, Zambia, and Nigeria, compared to a totally different set of countries in the UNODC – namely, Bahamas, United Kingdom, Botswana, Saint Vincent and the Grenadine, Cabo Verde, Belgium, New Zealand, Monaco, Barbados, France.⁴¹ The higher rates of reporting in high income countries in the UNODC series may reflect factors around trust in authorities as well as institutional capacity.

Figure 2.5 illustrates the differences -- most obviously, the rates reported by Gallup are far higher overall, and in every region, than the rates reported by UNODC. These differences are remarkable, even if, as noted above, the discrepancies in definitions and methods which mean that the measures of assault are not directly comparable.



Figure 2.5. Comparison of assault rates reported by Gallup and UNODC, by region

Source: UNODC, 2022 and Statistical Table 1.

It is important to underline that there is enormous variation behind the country averages, and even city-wide averages can be misleading. Multiple studies have demonstrated how assault and homicide tend to be clustered. For example:

- In Latin America, 50% of crimes are concentrated in 3-8% of street segments.⁴² In 2011 about 44% of El Salvador's homicides occurred in just ten municipalities (fewer than 4 % of the total). In 2016, 2% of municipalities accounted for over half of all homicides in Brazil and in the analysis of crime in five Colombian cities and one Venezuelan city also found that half of all homicides occurred in 10% of their neighborhoods.⁴³
- In some cities in the United States, about 50% of violent crimes occur in 5-7% of street segments.⁴⁴
- In 2021, violent crime in South Africa was concentrated in fewer than 250 of the 1,100 police precincts.⁴⁵ The Institute for Security Studies examined patterns of murder and robbery in Cape Town, comparing high and low incident neighborhoods, only 20km apart, finding that over a 12-year period, the number of murders were 3,236 and 145 respectively.⁴⁶

Given evidence about the localized nature of violence, it is interesting to review the extent to which people feel safe in their own community, which has direct links to SDG16.1.4, which measures the share of population who feel safe walking alone in the area where they live.

Figure 2.6 highlights gender gaps in perceived levels of neighborhood safety – with women feeling least safe in Latin America, where only 41% women feel safe walking alone in their city, followed by Sub-Saharan Africa (46%) with East Asia and the Pacific perceived as the safest, for both women and men. On average, people in Latin America felt the least safe; with only 48% stating they felt unsafe walking alone at night (41% of women and 54% of men). These estimates were very similar to the sub-Saharan African region where only half of people felt safe walking alone at night.



Figure 2.6. Share of population that feels safe walking alone at night, by gender and region

Source: Gallup World Poll, 2022

Intimate Partner Violence

Intimate partner violence is the most common form of violence experienced by adults around the world, which the global community has pledged to end.

There is significant cross-country variation in prevalence, with the lowest rates of current intimate partner violence reported from Canada, Hong Kong and Switzerland, at less than 2%, and the highest rate is in Iraq, where a shocking 45% of women have experienced intimate partner violence within the past year.

Patterns of intimate partner violence across regions and country groups also reveal large differences (Figure 2.7). Across developing country regions, average rates of intimate partner violence are lowest in Central and Eastern Europe and Eastern Asia and Latin America and the Caribbean (both 7%), and highest in Arab States, Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia (around 18%). The variation within developing country regions is illustrated by the high and low outliers. In Sub-Saharan Africa, for example, highest in the region is 35% in Madagascar and lowest in Comoros, at 7%. These wide-ranging patterns underline the broad scope for concerted efforts to meet the SDGs, to which all national governments have signed up.





Source: Statistical Table 1.

Earlier work has reported that women who feel unsafe at home are often also unsafe in their community.⁴⁷ We confirm this relationship using the Gallup World Poll question, "Do you feel safe walking alone at night in the city or area where you live?" Figure 2.8 shows that in some countries with high IPV rates, women also do not feel safe walking alone at night – as in Afghanistan, Ethiopia, Guinea, Iraq, Madagascar, and Uganda. On the other hand, there are several countries where women feel safe (85-90%) and the IPV rates are low (1-4%) -- Azerbaijan, Croatia, Luxembourg, Norway and Switzerland.

Figure 2.8. Cross country correlation between the share of women that felt safe walking alone at night and the share of women who have experienced IPV



Source: Author estimates based on Statistical Table 1

It is instructive to compare the relative risks of different forms of violence that are being experienced around the world, and how those risks vary between men and women. While homicide remains a relatively rare event in many countries, measured per 100,000 and peaking at 50 in Venezuela, the risks of assault and experiencing violence in the hands of an intimate partner are much higher.

Specifically, when we compare the risks of assault and IPV for women for the 140 countries with data on both measures, there are 54 countries where women face a significantly higher risk of experiencing IPV than their risk of assault.⁴⁸ This is true even in fragile settings. For example, in Iraq and Afghanistan, rates of past year IPV are 45% and 34% respectively, compared to reported annual rates of assault in population surveys of around 7%. In Pakistan, current IPV rates are around 15%, compared to assault rates below 5%. On the other hand, there is a diverse set of about a dozen countries where women's assault rates *exceed* IPV in the past year by more than 3% percentage points, including Venezuela, Nigeria, the UK and Austria.

We know that IPV largely affects women, while assault rates tend to be much higher for men But how do those overall rates compare? Again, there are 50 countries in which the risk of women experiencing IPV is significantly (more than 3 pp) higher than the risk of men being assaulted. For example, in Madagascar, and Tanzania rates of past year IPV are 35 and 21% respectively, compared to reported annual rates of assault for men around 14 and 4 % respectively. In 28 countries, the risk of women experiencing IPV exceeds the risks of men being assaulted by more than 5% percentage points. These figures underline the importance of considering IPV alongside other forms of interpersonal violence in efforts to address global violence, because it is so pervasive, with major repercussions for survivors.

Correlations across aspects of measured violence

To inform policy and program responses, it is important to understand how different aspects of violence are related. As noted above, available evidence suggests that violence is geographically concentrated in cities, neighborhoods and even street blocks– here we step back to examine the patterns of assault, intimate partner violence and intentional homicide across countries.

We might expect countries with high levels of assault in the community to also experience high levels of violence in the home. Figure 2.9, showing the 140 countries with data on both variables, suggests that there is moderate correlation.⁴⁹ By way of contrast, when we compared assault and homicide rates for the 110 countries with data on both variables, contrary to our expectations, there was a very low correlation.⁵⁰



Figure 2.9. Cross country correlation between assault rates and IPV

Source: Author estimates based on Statistical Table 1. Note R-squared= 0.35, p-value <0.01.

We might also expect that rates of IPV and homicide would be correlated at the country level. However, our data – available for 122 countries -- suggests that the correlation is low, with an R^2 of only 0.012. ⁵¹

This snapshot of prevalence of violence around the world brings together some well-established facts and points to some new findings that are critical to establishing the business case for investing in violence prevention. Rates of violence vary significantly across (and within) countries, underlining that violence is not inevitable, and is preventable.

The rates of intentional homicide are highest in Latin America and the Caribbean, and Sub-Saharan Africa. Sex-disaggregated data show that men are more likely to be the perpetrators of violence, with male identity and masculine norms being underlying drivers of the phenomenon.

Assault rates are highest in Sub-Saharan Africa – with about one in seven people saying that they had been victims of assault or mugging in the past year. However, there is enormous variation behind regional and country averages. Rates range as high as three in ten in Gambia, down to much lower rates (below one in 20) in Mauritius. National averages also conceal the ways in which violence tends to be concentrated within neighborhoods in cities.

Intimate partner violence is also highest in Sub-Saharan Africa – with almost one in five women experiencing violence in the home in the past year – closely followed by South Asian and then the Arab States. We also saw that in countries where IPV rates are high, women also tend to feel unsafe in their neighborhoods at night.

Chapter 3. Options on costing

Human life is invaluable, and some people argue that the whole exercise of costing violence is unethical. However, the costing of human lives and injury is done every day, explicitly by insurance companies and the courts and implicitly in the ways in which public and private resources are allocated. Governments spend large amounts of public money dealing with the consequences of violence, and the costs to individuals and families, in terms of health care and loss of income, as well as pain and suffering, are large. And firms, families, and governments spend money on security in the community and home to prevent violence.

As outlined in the introduction, this study is motivated by the expectation that a solid business case, which establishes a better understanding of the costs of societal "bads" – in this case, violence – and the returns on investments to prevent violence, can attract public interest and garner the attention of policymakers, and inform prioritisation.

To establish the business case for violence prevention programs, information is required on several fronts – about the interventions and their effectiveness, and about the costs incurred by violence, the flipside of which are the benefits of violence that are averted. The language can become confusing because the word "costs" is often used to refer to things on both sides of the equation – that is, both the actual spending on prevention programs (costs of prevention), as well as the costs resulting from the violence (costs of violence). The focus of this chapter is on the different methods that have been used to estimate the costs of violence, before highlighting key challenges.

Costing methods

A variety of methods have been used in local, national, and global costing studies. It is useful to review key concepts and methods before highlighting key advantages and disadvantages.

For intervention programs, we need to know the estimated intervention cost per participant, and the estimated number of violent incidents avoided through the intervention. Since no program is 100% effective, the cost of an incident averted will exceed the cost per participant. For example, if the program halves the rate of violence, then the cost of averting a violent incident will be double the participant cost. Typically, the success rates are lower than 50 % -- in Table 4.1, which is limited to interventions with significant and larger impacts, the range is from 5% to 63% reductions in violent crime (for the North Carolina project safe neighborhoods and the NYC Cure Violence project respectively), with only 5 out of 23 studies reporting reductions in violence over 50%.

We need to work out how to cost or value different types of violence incidents. To estimate total costs at the national level, the unit cost per incident can be multiplied by the number of victims (i.e. the prevalence rate) for the type of violence, or a top down approach can be used, as outlined below.

In conceptualizing and measuring the costs of violence, an important basic distinction is between *tangible* and *intangible* costs.

Tangible costs can be monetised in fairly straightforward ways, and include health care-related services and medical costs arising from injuries, loss of income and the costs of policing and the criminal justice

system. Spending for health care–related services include emergency department visits, hospitalizations and outpatient visits, services of physicians, dentists, physical therapists, mental health professionals, and ambulance transport and paramedic assistance. WHO underlines that cost data should distinguish between fatal, serious and slight injuries in order to enable reliable assessment.⁵²

Income or productivity that is lost due to missing work can be readily quantified if there are data on the age and sex of victims, the number of days of work missed, and a way to value those days. The work days missed are the number of days when victims were unable to perform paid work and/or household chores (including household chores and childcare for women not employed outside the home) because of illness, injury, or disability related to violence. UN Women's 2013 study of Viet Nam illustrates how survey data can be used to establish the number of work days typically lost from the type of violence, to which the out-of-pocket expenditures that women incur to access medical treatment, police support, legal support, counseling, and judicial support were added.⁵³

The avoidable costs of policing and the criminal justice system are more difficult to conceptualise in this context, since there is no agreement on what would be the optimal level of spending. Whereas public policy objectives may well seek to minimise lost income and health-related costs due to violence, the optimal level of spending on police and criminal justice is unlikely to be zero.

Spending on law enforcement varies across the OECD, from about 0.5% of GDP in Finland, up to about 1.4% in Hungary.⁵⁴ Recent estimates suggest that police account for relatively large shares of national income in Russia (2.3%) and China (2.8%), for example.⁵⁵

The share of police in local government spending has increased over time in the US – and now accounts for about 10% in Boston, Los Angeles and Milwaukee, compared to about 5% of spending on housing, and 3% on parks.⁵⁶ While there have been fraught debates in America around defunding police, there is no consensus on how much of a budget priority the police ought to be, alongside schools and parks and housing and health care.

Among the potential tangible benefits of reductions in violence are the potential impacts on property values and property tax receipts in the community. For example, it was estimated that reducing homicide by 10% for five years in Philadelphia would boost tax revenue by some \$114 million.⁵⁷

Intangible costs include pain and suffering, and reduced quality of life. While intangible costs are somewhat more challenging to quantify, this type of costing is often done by courts in compensating for injury, and is known as "damages". This amount compensates the victim for the physical and/or emotional pain and suffering that would not have arisen had the violence never occurred.⁵⁸ It should be noted that intangible costs do not include tangible costs.⁵⁹

A key practical point is that estimates of intangible costs per violent incident (pain, suffering and loss of quality of life) are *much* larger than tangible costs.

• For homicide, the ratio of intangible to tangible costs tends to be around 9:1.⁶⁰ For example, a recent CDC study estimates that in 2019, the economic cost of fatal and non-fatal injury in the US totaled \$4.2 trillion – of which 3.8 trillion was due to losses in the value of statistical life and quality of life, compared to \$327 billion in medical care and \$69 billion in work losses.⁶¹

• The tangible and intangible costs of IPV have been estimated in various settings. A report commissioned by the Canadian government estimated that the total economic impact of spousal violence in 2009 was \$7.4 billion, amounting to \$220 annually per Canadian, of which about 7.3% (\$545.2 million) were costs incurred by the judicial and criminal justice system, including policing services, courts, and legal aid. The bulk – 6 billion -- was borne by the primary victims, in which the intangible costs of pain and suffering and loss of life accounted for over 91%. Direct costs – due to medical attention, hospitalizations, lost wages, missed school days, and stolen/damaged property – amounted to \$525 million.⁶² For IPV, estimates for the UK inclusive of loss of life satisfaction arrived at estimates of about 10% of gross domestic product (Santos 2013);⁶³ whereas recent UK Home Office estimated that the cost for a single victim of domestic abuse is £34,015, totaling £66 billion pounds or about 3 % of GDP in 2017.⁶⁴

Anke Hoeffler (2017) points out that the intangible costs are best understood as welfare losses – and warns that since GDP does not measure welfare, it does not make sense to present intangible costs as a share of GDP.⁶⁵ Welfare loss does not reduce GDP, since GDP is the sum of economic activity, not the sum of welfare. At the same time however, Hoeffler has presented her intangible costs as a percentage of GDP in her analysis and papers – since this enables a better sense of the costs that can be compared to other spending and across countries.

One way to think about the costs of violence is to distinguish based on whom incurs the costs. In a 2017 regional study of Latin America, the IDB adopted a three-fold typology to examine costs:⁶⁶

- 1. Social costs to victims (which is mainly the income foregone, by victims as well as imprisoned offenders);
- 2. Private eg security;
- 3. Government spending on police and justice.

An different approach has been pursued in the UK Home Office method,⁶⁷ which distinguishes costs incurred at different stages:

- 1. In anticipation eg home security;
- 2. Consequence property, injury, lost quality of life;
- 3. Response police, criminal justice.

Everytown for Gun Safety, which the largest gun violence prevention organization in the US has adopted a similar method⁶⁸ which includes three types of costs:

- 1. Immediate costs starting at the time of an incident;
- 2. Subsequent costs such as treatment, long-term physical and mental health care, forgone earnings, criminal justice costs; and
- 3. The quality-of-life lost over a victim's lifespan.

This method leads to estimates that the total annual bill for taxpayers, survivors, families, employers, and communities in the US due to gun violence in 2020 was \$557 billion, which is about 2.6% of GDP.⁶⁹ The bulk of total cost (about 76%) arises in the third category -- lost quality of life – which, as outlined above, is an intangible cost. It is noted that the headline Everytown estimates include gun violence due to suicide, which accounts for about 59% of the total. The amount associated with *interpersonal* gun violence is about \$280 billion, which is about 1.2% of GDP, which is equivalent to federal spending on Elementary, Secondary and Vocational Education in 2021.⁷⁰

Everytown, and others, argue that estimates neglecting lost quality of life severely under-estimate the total costs of violence. Everytown applies an Injury Cost Model that is also used by the CDC to cost injuries from a broad array of causes, including gun violence.⁷¹

An alternative approach used by Anke Hoeffler⁷² and others draw on the value of statistical life (VSL) based on the premium paid to workers carrying out risky jobs, as estimated for the US.⁷³ Although the level of distress arising from violence may be considerably higher than the distress expected from a risky work environment, such a calculation arguably captures the lower bound of estimates for the risks to life and health associated with violent crime. In this way, labor market data allows statisticians to calculate the cost of a life – or more precisely, a livelihood.⁷⁴ It also provides a way to represent intangible costs that are otherwise difficult to quantify. However, it does not explicitly capture the tangible, more direct economic costs incurred by violence on the health care, police, and judicial systems.

Normalizing the VSL for GDP makes the numbers more comparable across countries – otherwise the costs of violence could far exceed national income in low income countries. However, this is also problematic, because differences across countries in income and life expectancy, among other factors, may influence a nation's VSL.⁷⁵ The VSL approach is also problematic because the value of life depends on the current monetary wealth of the country. As an example, we take the accepted estimated of VSL in the USA of about 10 million USD which is equivalent to 10 million purchasing power parity (PPP) international dollars. Table 3.1 below presents estimated VSL for Qatar, Malawi and Honduras, derived from the 10 million USD VSL for the USA. Crudely speaking, this means that a life in a rich country is worth more than in a poor country – for example, the life of a Qatari is worth 81 times as much as that of a Malawian, and a US citizen's life is valued at more than 10 times that of a Honduran.

2020	2020 GNI per capita	VSL
USA	PPP (cons 60726.5	stant 2017)
Qatar	83720.7	13,786,518
Malawi	1051.6	173,170
Honduras	4792.0	789,112

Table 3.1. Estimated VSL for selected countries

Source: Author estimates based on World Bank (2022). World Development Indicators (WDI) database, accessed on June 16, 2022

Another disadvantage of the VSL approach, and other approaches that include the large intangible costs associated with violence is that such estimates may be less persuasive for decision-makers than evidence about tangible costs – in particular, actual fiscal costs to governments and societies as well as lost economic activity.

While limiting the focus of the costing to the financial effects of violence on the public treasury is narrow, it may be that governments are most interested in fiscal costs and lost productivity, and less in pain and suffering.

This approach is similar to the human capital method recommended by the WHO/ CDC *Manual for estimating the economic costs of injuries due to interpersonal and self-directed violence*, which measures the value of time lost due to absence from work or reduced productivity, plus health-related costs.⁷⁶ For fatalities, the time lost is measured in years, and for non-fatal injuries due to violence, time lost is measured in days. Information on the employment status and occupation of injury victims can be used to refine estimates. Estimates need to be imputed to value unpaid work for people not in the paid labor force.

Health costs

Health facility level data on patients and unit costs can be used to cost injuries, as listed in Box 3.1. It is noted that the timeframe needs to be determined. One year is appropriate for many types of injury, but risks ignoring the long-term physical and mental health consequences, which could be large.⁷⁷

Box 3.1. Minimum information at the individual level for a violence-related injury.

Data on the patient and unit costs is needed at the facility level:

- sex and age of the patient;
- employment status and occupation;
- hourly income/wage;
- injury intent (interpersonal, self-directed, undetermined);
- injury severity (emergency department [ED] only, hospitalization only, death);
- injury mechanism (firearm, sharp object, other);
- length of inpatient stay in days;
- whether the patient required transport to the ED, such as an ambulance;
- list of all operations carried out on the patient;
- list of all drugs given to the patient during and after the stay;
- the number of examinations (e.g., X-rays) carried out on the patient;
- the number of blood transfusions given to the patient;
- the number and type of physicians consulted during the stay;
- the estimated number of days the patient will be convalescing (i.e., not be able to work) after leaving the facility; and
- the estimated number of out-patient visits the patient will undertake after leaving the facility.

The last two items should be collected via follow-up interviews with patients, or otherwise predicted by hospital staff.

Data on unit costs needed at the facility level includes:

- the average "hotel cost" per bed-day (i.e., the total budget of the facility minus drugs, operations and physicians divided by the number of beds);
- the average cost of an ambulance or other transport to the ED;
- the costs of the various drugs used;
- the average cost per type of operation, examination and blood transfusion;
- the average cost per physician consultation; and
- the average cost per outpatient visit.

Source: WHO/CDC 2008

In the absence of detailed facility level data, health-related costs can be assumed based on expected costs per incident. For example, a careful and comprehensive study estimated 2015 costs for the US from the individual perspective based on two publicly available data sources—Healthcare Cost and

Utilization Project hospital discharge databases and MarketScan medical claims databases, which enabled very large sample sizes (e.g. 818,053 non-fatal injuries, and a much larger control groups).⁷⁸ The time horizon for fatal costs was the emergency department visit or hospitalization which ended in death, and the time horizon for non-fatal costs was one year. The mean cost of fatal injuries was \$40,650. Table 3.2 highlights selected results most relevant to violence-related costs. One obvious finding is that much higher costs are incurred in the event of hospitalization, especially in the cases of non-fatal injury.

Table 3.2. Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the	USA,
USD 2014	

Fatal injury due to assault	
Emergency department	6,921
Hospitalization	52, 787
Non-fatal injury due to assault	
Emergency department	17, 709
Hospitalization	37,435

Source: Peterson, Xu and Florence, 2019

In the absence of country level data, it is possible to utilize the US estimates, normalized for the level of per capita national income. Box 3.2 provides worked through method and example.

An alternative, broader brush approach to bottom-up individual and facility-based costing is to use published government fiscal data on health-related spending, and apportion some share to approximate the fiscal health costs of violence-related injuries.

Box 3.2. Utilizing US data on the medical costs of injury due to assault

In Table 3.3A, the medical costs of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in 2014 are presented alongside 2014 gross national income (GNI) per capita in constant PPP international dollars. These costs are then proportionally adjusted by the ratio of the GNI per capita of Guatemala, India and South Africa, and the USA to approximate the medical costs in these countries in 2014.

2014	Fatal injury	y due to assault	Non-fatal a	GNI pc, 2014 PPP	
	Emergency department	Hospitalization	Emergency department	Hospitalization	(constant, 2017)
USA	6921.0	52787.0	17709.0	37435.0	58392.8
India	598.2	4562.7	1530.7	3235.7	5047.2
South Africa	1487.4	11344.7	3805.9	8045.4	12549.5
Guatemala	916.7	6992.0	2345.7	4958.5	7734.5

Table 3.3A. Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the USA and
approximated average costs in selected countries (in USD)

The costs can be projected to 2020 by using GNI per capita in PPP constant terms and adjusting the relevant medical costs, as shown in Table 3.3B. This assumes that the average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault changes proportionately to the change in GNI per capita in PPP terms.

Table 3.3B. Projected average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries due to assault in the
USA and selected countries (in USD) in 2020

	Fatal injury due to assault		Non-fatal injury due to assault		GNIpc	GNIpc
2020					2014	2020
	Emergency department	Hospitalization	Emergency department	Hospitalization		, 2017 stant
USA	7197.60	54896.66	18416.75	38931.11	58392.8	60726.5
India	723.87	5521.22	1852.24	3915.45	5047.2	6107.5
South Africa	1475.60	11254.51	3775.67	7981.37	12549.5	12449.7
Guatemala	976.81	7450.21	2499.40	5283.47	7734.5	8241.4

Criminal justice costs

The fiscal costs associated with inter-personal violence include police, prosecution, judicial services and legal aid, and the costs of imprisonment. These costs vary enormously across countries, in part due to the prevalence of violence, but more due to differences in incarceration rates, as well as the quality of services, the extent of overcrowding in prisons, and so on. It is unclear what would be the optimal level of spending.

In a sample of 36 countries from around the world, total spending on the criminal justice system as a share of GDP averaged about 0.2 %, ranging from 0.02% in Finland and 0.2% in Israel to 1.2% in the United States and 1.5% in Brazil.⁷⁹

The bulk of these costs arise from policing and incarceration. While prison populations have been rising globally – from 8 to 11 million between 2002 and 2018, many people in prison have not committed violent crimes – according to Penal Reform International, only about half of prisoners committed violent crimes.⁸⁰ UNODC reporting, based on data from 93 countries, suggest that roughly one out of every 14 prisoners worldwide (7%) had been convicted of homicide.⁸¹

A recent review of government expenditures on prisons across 54 countries found an average below 0.3% of GDP, which largely goes to staff and infrastructure, and, in many countries, alarmingly low amounts on food and rehabilitation programs.⁸² Penal Reform International reports that in many developing countries, prison authorities rely on families, NGOs or religious organizations to provide food, healthcare services and other essentials.⁸³ This reduces fiscal costs, but not the total costs and burden of imprisonment. In other countries, especially those which have adopted mass incarceration strategies to tackle crime, spending can be much higher -- for example, El Salvador has spent substantially on mass incarceration, amounting to 4% of GDP in 2014.⁸⁴

At the same time, as already underlined in the context of reporting on assault and IPV, many crimes go unreported and unprosecuted. Even for homicide, in the US, the clearance rate in 2017 was only 62%,⁸⁵ and the 2017 clearance rate for violent crime in Canada in the same period was 64%.⁸⁶ On the other hand, average costings of one conviction per incident are still relevant because there is often more than one offender in a shooting, so the results may roughly even out.⁸⁷

To estimate the costs associated with violent offenders who are incarcerated, costs from countries that are well documented could be applied to incarceration rates – for example, in 2020 in the United States, the annual cost for every person detained in a federal facility was \$39,924.⁸⁸
Challenges

Beyond the fact that both costs and benefits range across diverse tangible and less tangible outcomes, and are difficult to monetize, there are several other larger difficulties, including:

- 1. Data constraints around the prevalence of violence raise major issues of under-reporting and inconsistent definitions. As outlined in Chapter 2, official criminal statistics substantially under-report assaults and intimate partner violence. Country level investigations suggest that even homicide rates may be significantly under-reported, as revealed in the case of Nigeria.
- 2. Accurate health-related data is critical to reliable costing. This includes information about the share of violent fatalities and assaults that involve hospital admission, average length of stay in hospital and the average cost per bed-day of hospital treatment. In the absence of national data, WHO norms can be used, or the findings of existing studies can be extrapolated to other settings, although there are many reasons why findings from US studies, or global norms may not be accurate. Many cases in low-income settings may not make it to the hospital emergency room or other medical treatment, especially where universal care is not free or low cost, or too far away. There may be no clinic, or it may be too costly. In some settings, it may not contrary to local norms for women to visit health facilities without their partner's consent⁸⁹ or to visit without their partner:⁹⁰ in Mali and Senegal, more than 75% of women report that their husbands were the main decisionmakers for their own healthcare.⁹¹
- 3. Reliable data on program effectiveness in reducing different types of violence is essential and, as investigated in the next chapter, the potential impacts of different types of interventions will depend on the target group and type of violence, among other things. For example, prevention research does suggest that earlier interventions tend to yield better results than interventions targeted at adolescents or adults, and have a longer time horizon for returns. Focusing on types of violence or interventions for older age groups could understate what can be achieved by primary prevention with children and adolescents. It may also be valid to account for the fact that domestic abuse tends recur over time suggesting that the payoffs would be larger than just considering a single incident being averted.
- 4. Costs of the intervention are often not collected, and the measures vary. Data is needed on the fixed and marginal intervention costs per participant, coupled with the outcome impact measures.⁹² Sometimes no spending data are available, or only data on total program costs is reported. A major weakness of the evidence base is that the costing analyses are of varying quality, and the studies measure a variety of outputs associated with the interventions, making it difficult to compare the relative efficiency of different interventions. Since no program is 100% effective, the cost of incident averted will exceed the cost per participant.
- 5. There is a huge range in estimated monetary values of violence averted, as shown in Table 4.2. A local adaption of Cure Violence in Trinidad and Tobago prevented crimes at an estimated cost of \$3,577, while the cost of averting one violent gang crime through the Gang Reduction and Youth Development program in Los Angeles was approximately \$162,000.⁹³ Likewise, Peterson and Kearn's systematic review found that the values reported for averted sexual assault ranged from \$15,000-- \$103,000 across high income countries.⁹⁴ The authors point out that this difference could potentially be the difference between concluding and not concluding that an intervention is economically justified.
- 5. Most unit cost estimates are from single sites and small-scale pilots, making it difficult to generalize and use current unit cost data to inform future budgeting at a national or global level.⁹⁵ The spending requirements for a pilot may not be representative of resources needed

to implement the program at scale, or in different national settings. For example, the existence of well-functioning services with good outreach in a rich country setting would be expected to lower the incremental costs of introducing a new program, relative to a setting whether a whole set of delivery arrangements needs to be set up from scratch.

- 6. Choosing the time horizon for presenting costs. Studies often adopt a one-year time horizon, and discount for future costs. Choosing a one-year horizon has the advantage for readily allowing for comparison with GDP.
- 7. Finally, and certainly not least, the scale and costs of what is needed to prevent violence will vary enormously by context and it is affected by local institutions and culturally specific gender norms, among other things.

A fundamental precondition for assessing the business case for investments in prevention is knowing the extent to which program works in reducing violence. This means estimating program's impact relative to what would have occurred in the absence of the program.⁹⁶

A number of studies report on the effectiveness in reducing the risk factors for violence perpetration – for example, attitudes toward intimate partner violence. However, it is not possible to directly link changes in such factors to measured outcomes of violence averted. Without a robust estimate of program success in reducing rates of assault, homicide and IPV, and the associated spending requirements, it is not possible to construct a robust business case for the intervention.

A final more general point to underline is that 'scaling up' of specific projects and programs may face major challenges. Recent feminist writings have highlighted that *how* norms change programs are designed, adapted and implemented is critical, and that "the adaptation and expansion of programming can inadvertently reinforce the status quo, despite good intentions."⁹⁷ It is important that programs fit as part of larger, locally driven efforts for social change, "centering the voices, needs, priorities and actions of marginalized communities" and "add to existing activism rather than functioning in siloed ways."

Chapter 4. Evidence about what works to reduce violence, and costs

There is a growing body of evidence about what works to reduce different types of violence.⁹⁸ This chapter maps the landscape of existing knowledge on the effectiveness of violence reduction programs. Such programs range from specific individual treatment interventions (focused on perpetrators) to broader place-based investments in neighborhood infrastructure. Interventions to reduce violence against women take a variety of forms – from individual psychotherapeutic interventions, to workshop-based interventions (for individuals, couples and/or communities) and school-based programs which aim to affect gender attitudes and social norms. Some prevention programs are implemented using existing social services, whereas others are free-standing.

The evidence can be usefully examined within an ecological framework (Figure 4.1), recognizing the advantages as well as limits of this approach.⁹⁹ An ecological framework allows framing of the multiple levels at which violence can occur and potential entry points, as well as the interconnectedness of the different spaces. Indeed, many of the community programs focus on high-risk individuals, for example, which underlines how the various levels are interconnected.



Figure 4.1. Types of Interventions to Reduce Violence

Source: Adapted from Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013 Selecting Effective Interventions.

As outlined in Figure 4.1, interventions to address intimate partner violence, as well as homicide and assault, can be broadly conceived as falling into four levels:

High-Risk Individuals and families: Interventions that target and work directly with persons most at-risk of perpetrating violence, for example through Cognitive Behavioral Therapy, sometimes engaging with partners and families.

<u>Community-level interventions can take various approaches, some seek to directly</u> interrupt cycles of violence in high-risk communities (eg Cure Violence), while others focus more shifting community norms around gender norms and masculinities, and violence.

National and State-level actions reform the larger legal and institutional setting, especially through changes to laws and regulations (eg firearms).

While our typology is useful, we recognize that the distinctions are sometimes blurred. For example, there are a number of community level programs that focus on high-risk individuals (e.g. Cure Violence) that we chose to categorise as a community level program because of the substantial community level components.

One aspect of violence prevention not covered is the role of police and law enforcement in general. This is an important topic but raises a host of issues that are outside the scope of this paper. For example, the accumulating evidence on police-led diversion of low-risk youth who come into contact with the justice system, from experimental and quasi-experimental studies reviewed in a recent Campbell Collaboration, found that diversion is more effective in reducing a youth's future reoffending than traditional processing.¹⁰⁰ We do address how the role of police in various community level programs, like "Focussed Deterrence", which is a hybrid approach to crime reduction that involves police as well as considerable non-police resources.¹⁰¹ Box 4.1 summarises recent regional patterns on people's trust in police, shows that significant shares of the population lack confidence in their local police, as low as about half in Latin America and the Caribbean. In the context of community level interventions, we also include a box summarizing recent experience around "community policing".

Box 4.1. Trust in police

Healthy relationships between police and the communities they serve is crucial to their effectiveness, and to crime prevention.¹ However, significant shares of the population lack confidence in their local police, declining to about half in Latin America and the Caribbean. There are also gender gaps in confidence in local police by region, suggesting that women tend to have more confidence in the local police than men, except in Latin America and the Arab States. At least one third of the population does not trust the police in several regions, namely Europe and Central Asia, sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America, although there are large differences between men and women. There are also major racial gaps in the degree of trust where this has been measured, as in the United States.



Share of population that has confidence in their local police, by gender and region.

Another critical dimension relates to larger structural challenges – like racial and income inequality and poverty, access to education and job opportunities, and governance. These factors play deeply into patterns of violence, but the focus here is on interventions with the primary aim of reducing various forms of violence, which sometimes address these related factors. For example, place-based interventions can help address structural deficits in local infrastructure and services.

It is also important to emphasize that evaluating what works to reduce violence can be methodologically complex. For example:

• Some types of interventions are more amenable to evaluations with control groups, quasi or natural experimental design (eg randomly assigned individual treatment) than, for example, legislative reforms.

- It is difficult to directly compare dissimilar types of interventions e.g., individual therapy versus place-based actions like greening of vacant lots.
- Ethics requirements are also challenging, and it is not always be possible to run rigorous trials if it could be unethical to withhold treatment.
- Many evaluations of prevention programs measure intermediate impacts, rather than violence outcomes directly for example, attitudes toward intimate partner violence rather than the experience of violence.
- There are also temporal issues short term impacts may not be sustained over time, while evaluations of early prevention programs must follow subjects for an extended period of time for example programs with at-risk children. Tracking over an extended period is an expensive as well as process, but important for understanding effects are sustained over the longer term. In some settings, especially with high mobility and weak administrative systems, tracking people over time can be difficult.

Much of the evidence about what works to reduce interpersonal violence has been gleaned from developed countries, especially the United States. A major recent systematic review provides valuable insights, but was limited to high-income countries.¹⁰² At the same time however, evidence about what works to reduce intimate partner violence has grown exponentially over the past decade, with good coverage across more geographically diverse and low resource settings, from Nepal to Uganda.

Individual and Family-based Interventions

Individual and family-based interventions typically target high-risk adults, perpetrators, and at-risk children and youth. Programs working with parents and caregivers, and intimate partners can pay off. Psychological interventions, such as cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), are increasingly popular in the United States,¹⁰³ and have been successfully implemented in developing country settings like Liberia. Related types of interventions focussed on high-risk individuals include focussed deterrence and interventions like "Cure Violence", which are reviewed in the next section.

Table 4.1 provides a summary of selected violence interventions at the individual, couple and family levels with costing data, and Table 4.2 highlights interventions targeting violence at the community-level. The tables highlight interventions with evidence, where available, on *both* effectiveness and costs, and seeks to cover programs from around the world. Description and analysis of the programs follows.

Table 4.1. Selected individual, couple and family-based interventions to reduce different types of violence

Intervention and goal	Aim and description of intervention, method and sample size.	Impacts on violence – outcome measure	Costs per X (USD)
Reducing assault and homicide			·
			6500 1
Sustainable Transformation of Youth Program STYL (Cognitive Behavioral Therapy)	Aimed at high-risk men and street youth.	 Long-lasting results. Self-reported results 10 years after implementation of the program: Weapon carrying was 7.5% lower for Therapy group and 	\$530 total program cost per participant.
8-week CBT intervention and financial incentives for high-risk men.	N=999 high risk men randomly placed in groups.	4.4% lower for Therapy + Cash group compared to 2.8% decrease for control group	
Liberia (2009 – 2011).	Two experimental interventions: 8 week CBT program and a cash grant.		
Blattman et al., 2022			
Becoming a Man (Cognitive Behavioral Therapy) In school programs for at risk youth.	Aimed at at-risk school children.	• Becoming a Man (BAM) students are 40-50% less likely to be arrested for a violent crime.	\$1100 per student.
Chicago (2012-2013).	N= 5,000 at risk high school students in Chicago. RCT		
Abt, 2019; Prochaska, 2014.	ilei		
Addressing child abuse			
Triple P (Positive Parenting Program).	Aimed at parents to strengthen parenting and reduce child maltreatment.	After two years, the county-level effects of Triple P had: o 33% reduction in child maltreatment cases 13% reduction in child hospitalizations for injuries	Not determined.
Multi-level preventive intervention systematic training regimens for providers/practitioners and coordinated resource materials for parents.	Randomized control trial (RCT) in South Carolina, US with two-year follow up.	• 13% reduction in child hospitalizations for injuries.	
South Carolina, US and various countries.	Intervention consists of sessions on parenting, resources and media campaigns.		
Prinz, RJ (2009). Fast Track Intervention	Aimed at school children with conduct disorders.	Positive effects on the highest-risk group of ninth graders	Cost per child:
Focused on supporting ninth graders with diagnosed conduct disorder.	Several components based on age e.g. at the families of	diagnosed with conduct disorders.Intervention prior to when children could show delinquency	\$58,283.
United States (2005).	elementary school aged children offered parent training with home visits academic tutoring and social skills training. A randomized trial with cost effectiveness analysis	and involvement in crime.	
Foster, M. et al. 2006			
Trauma-focused CBT for children. CBT intervention for children who experienced at least one traumatic event.	Aimed at orphan and vulnerable children aged 5-18 years that experienced at least one traumatic event. RCT with 257 children.	 Achieved an 82% reduction in the trauma symptom score among orphan and vulnerable children at high risk for experiencing trauma 	Not determined.
Zambia (2012 -2013).			

Murray, LK (2015)	Intervention group received 10-16 sessions of trauma- focused CBT.		
Reducing IPV			
Violence and Alcohol Treatment Program (VATU) <i>Couples intervention.</i> Zambia (2016-2018). Ferrari et al, 2022, Kane et al, 2017.	Interventions for couples to address depression, anxiety, IPV and unhealthy alcohol use. N=148 couples. RCT	 Reported a 40% decrease in IPV reports by women in participating families Reached 246 adults and estimated to have achieved 264 IPV-free person-years. 	12 sessions of one-to- one psychotherapeutic intervention cost US\$1,324 per adult client
Gender socialization and financial training intervention. Gender transformative intervention	Couple-based gender transformative intervention focused on enhancing women's participation in household decision- making and reducing IPV.	• Intervention resulted in significant reductions in physical IPV, compared with the control group.	Not determined.
Nigeria (2017-2018).	Clustered RCT of 1080 women and their partners. Four-arms. 1. Couple receives gender socialization (GS) training		
John, NA (2022).	 2: Financial literacy training and GS training. 3. GS training, financial literacy education and contraceptive counselling. 4: control. 		
Indashyikirwa Couple-based IPV prevention program.	Aimed to change gender norms through individual and couple-based IPV prevention programs, as well as through	• Women were less likely to report physical and/or sexual IPV at 24 months (adjusted relative risk 0.44).	Not determined.
Rwanda (2015 – 2018).	training community activists. Intervention drew heavily on SASA!	• Men were significantly less likely to report perpetration of physical and/or sexual IPV at 24 months (aRR=0.54)	
Jewkes, R et al. (2020).	Structured as an RCT, and treatment delivered as 21 sessions of three hours. Of the 840 couples, 500 participants trained for ten days as community activists and deployed in the community intervention		

Individual level interventions to Reduce Assault and Homicide

There are a number of successful individual level violence reduction programs centered on CBT, which are typically targeting high risk individuals, and aim to reduce self-destructive habits and attitudes while developing positive new habits (e.g. reduction in substance abuse or not carrying a weapon).^{civ} A typical CBT treatment involves cognitive skills training, anger management, and supplementary components such as social skills and relapse prevention.^{cv}

Measured impacts of CBT programs include the following:

- According to a meta-analysis of 16 "Reasoning and Rehabilitation" programmes in the U.S., Canada, Europe and the UK, participants averaged a 14% decrease in recidivism compared to controls, for both low-risk and high-risk offenders, in both community and institutional settings.^{cvi}
- In Chicago, the Becoming A Man (BAM) program combines sports, youth engagement, positive masculinity training with CBT, and weekly counselling. Two separate and rigorous studies found that BAM students were 40-50% less likely to be arrested for violent crimes.^{cvii}
- The Sustainable Transformation of Youth program in Liberia included 999 high-risk men actively involved in crime, violence and, drug peddling. Participants were randomly assigned and were offered CBT alone, cash worth US\$200, therapy followed by cash, or neither. The bundle of treatments cost around US\$530 per person. ^{cviii} Over a decade, positive behavior change was sustained, especially when the therapy was combined with cash. The self-reported number of drug sales, thefts, and robberies fell by about half, with large effects among the participants. Individual treatment alone produced smaller and weaker results than individual plus financial assistance. When the cash grants supported the pursuit of legitimate business activity, this appeared to reinforce learning-by-doing and positive habits. ^{cix}
- A 2012 systematic review concluded that the most effective types of CBT focussed on highrisk offenders, with the inclusion of distinct anger control and interpersonal problem solving components -- reduced recidivism by 52%, with average reductions of 25%.^{cx}
- Trauma-focused CBT for children has been found to be effective in Lusaka, Zambia, where there was an 82% reduction in the trauma symptom score among orphan and vulnerable children at high risk for experiencing trauma. ^{cxi}

Abt and Winship's meta-review of the evidence draws the strong conclusion that "CBT works", and is effective in reducing recidivism in adult and juvenile offenders, and was a reliable and versatile intervention.^{cxii} In "Bleeding Out", Thomas Abt argues that implementing focused deterrence and CBT programs could reduce the US homicide rate by 10% annually for the foreseeable future, and save the US more than \$100 billion.^{cxiii}

Some data on CBT program costs has been published. Becoming a Man (BAM) based in Chicago operates at a cost of US\$1100 per student, and pupils are 40-50% less likely to be arrested for a violent crime compared to students without the treatment.^{cxiv} The Liberia program outlined above had an estimated cost of US\$530 per participant. ^{cxv} According to the Washington State Institute for Public Policy, every dollar spent on offering CBT to adult offenders saves US\$6.31 in avoided criminal justice

and associated healthcare expenditures, with a 97% chance that the benefits will outweigh the cost of providing the program. ^{cxvi}

Parenting programs to reduce child abuse

Interventions that support parents and promote nurturing interactions between parents and caregivers and young children have been found to minimize childhood aggressiveness and the likelihood of future violent behaviors, and reduce the risk of child maltreatment.^{exvii} Successful interventions have been implemented in a range of settings.

The Triple P (Positive Parenting Program) has been implemented in more than 25 countries from North America and Europe to Iran and Mexico. In South Carolina, for example, a randomized controlled trial (RCT) assigned 18 counties to a group that implemented the Triple P System county-wide for families with at least one child under eight years old, or a control group with only the usual county services. After two years, the county-level effects of Triple P included a 33% reduction in substantiated child maltreatment cases and a 13% reduction in child hospitalizations for injuries. ^{exviii}

Individual and couple-based programs to prevent IPV

Individual and couple-based programs to prevent IPV have been tried in a variety of settings, and typically involve training sessions, workshops and information activities, and may include support for mental health and couples-counselling.

Overall evidence on the impacts of individual and family interventions on IPV appear to be mixed.^{cxix} Some programs that aim to change norms on gender equality and relationship dynamics have helped shift unhealthy behaviors towards partners – as in Violence and Alcohol Treatment Program in Zambia (VATU) in Zambia and Indashyikirwa in Rwanda – others, like Change Starts at Home in Nepal, have not shown reduced levels of intimate partner violence.

3ie's Evidence Gap Map underlines the lack of research on the shift of beliefs on gender roles and healthy relationships, especially for individual based programs that target men, while noting that the existing evidence on individual and couples' programs do suggest positive changes in men's attitudes.^{cxx}

VATU is a mental health support program that was one of the first in sub-Saharan Africa to target a range of factors, including alcohol abuse,^{cxxii} designed to address multiple common mental health problems in low resource settings.^{cxxii} The approach was implemented over 4-9 months (depending on the participants' schedules),^{cxxii} and reduced IPV reports by women in participating families by 40%, based on surveys administered six months afterwards. The estimated cost per program participant was US\$1,324. There are rigorous evaluations of comparable interventions, including in Ibadan, Nigeria, ^{cxxiv} that successfully reduced physical IPV, but data on costs are not reported.

A growing number of individual and couple-based programs aim to directly transform gender norms. A multipronged intervention for heterosexual couples in Nigeria which sought to boost financial and reproductive knowledge, foster gender equality and improve relationship quality through contraceptive counselling, The program consisted of two parts, gender socialization training and financial training.^{cxxv} The former focused on building knowledge, awareness, critical consciousness around power, care work and gender inequalities with skills in egalitarian decision-making, conflict management, negotiation, and

communication. A randomized control trial in 2018 found that the intervention resulted in significant reductions in physical IPV, compared with the control group. However, changes in emotional and sexual IPV were marginally significant and insignificant, respectively. ^{cxxvi}

Some programs directly seek to change existing beliefs and attitudes within couples. *Change Starts at Home* was an intervention program wherein couples participated in activities and discussions about gender equality and healthy behaviors in Nepal. Discussion sessions as well as community events such as theaters and family meetings were used to raise awareness. However, after almost 9 months of activity, the program had shown no impact on IPV rates.^{exxvii}

Indashyikirwa, a couples-based program in Rwanda, focused on addressing the triggers that led to violence, such as alcohol and substance use and jealousy. The program consisted of participatory and experimental learning elements designed for "developing skills in critical reflection, emotional regulation, conflict resolution and communication; and the overall goal was enabling stronger, more equitable, nonviolent relationship."^{cxxviii} An RCT found that women participating in the program were less likely to report physical and/or sexual IPV at 24 months (adjusted relative risk 0.44), and men significantly less likely to report perpetration of physical and/or sexual IPV at 24 months (aRR=0.54).^{cxxix}

Programs working with individual survivors, and perpetrators

Programs working with the survivors of IPV can also serve to avert the risk of future violence. Programs that respond to survivors' needs play a critical role – from health and counselling, through financial support and housing options. These are sometimes provided through One Stop Centers (OSCs) which provide health, welfare, counseling and legal services in one location, typically in or adjacent to a health facility, and also link to police services through referrals.^{cxxx} *Sukoon*, which operated OSCs in India, reported significantly increased prosecution rates.^{cxxxi} However, evidence about whether OSCs reduce future risk of IPV is needed.

A systematic review of IPV response programs that work to improve survivor's wellbeing in mostly developed countries between 1980 and 2017 finds that most of the programs resulted in "improvements in social support and/or mental health outcomes of survivors, with little evidence of their effect on IPV reduction or increase in healthcare utilization."^{cxxxii}

At the same time, there is evidence that a stay at a shelter can significantly reduce the likelihood of repeated abuse.^{cxxxiii} This was confirmed most recently in a 2022 study which analyzed US data and found that opening a shelter where none previously existed reduced rates of intimate partner homicides.^{cxxxiv}

Treatment Programs for Abusers

Many countries provide rehabilitation programs for perpetrators of intimate partner violence which aim to change their existing beliefs and attitudes towards their partners, often through mental health services and education. Some of these programs have achieved substantial reductions in violence, although other evidence is mixed.

An evaluation of the Batterer Intervention Program (BIP) in the US found that men who completed treatment were less than half as likely to be rearrested for intimate partner violence as men who did not (14 v 35%).^{cxxxv} BIP aims to educate and rehabilitate offenders by changing their thinking and behavior, and emphasizing accountability for their actions.^{cxxxvi} Boots et al. (2016) compared BIP with alternative sanctions and concluded that men mandated to abuser intervention programs were significantly less likely

to abuse again than those who were imprisoned without treatment.^{exxxvii} In Spain, Lila et al. (2014) also observed statistically significant reductions in IPV rates for men attending abuser intervention programs.^{exxxviii} However, a 2017 review of various intervention programs treating abusers and aiming changing their behavioral patterns concluded that the results are mixed, with several smaller experimental studies in the US finding no impact on IPV rates.^{exxxix} This was attributed to differences in methodologies of the studies, including the selection of sample sizes, sources of data, and timeframes.

To test a CBT program for abusers in Taiwan, 70 high-risk domestic violence offenders were subjected to protection orders as well as court-ordered batterer therapy, while 231 low-medium risk DV offenders were subjected to protective orders only. Follow-up at six months found that offenders in the treatment group showed larger relative reductions (38%) in physical violence than the control group (10%).^{ext}

However, while such programs can be mandated for offenders, it may be difficult to enforce where abusers are not imprisoned. A recent report in Turkey showed that most abusers (85%) did not participate in recommended treatment programs, and noted that the programs focused on anger management and self-control, rather than on the need for perpetrators to take responsibility for their actions and question their attitudes and beliefs towards women.^{csli}

Community level Interventions to Address Violence

Rates of violence – homicide, assault and intimate partner violence -- vary enormously across countries. Within countries and cities, violence typically clusters in specific places, among specific people, and around specific behaviors. In the US, for example, it is reported that in Minneapolis, 0.15% of the population was involved in 54% of the city's shootings.^{cvlii} This suggests that programmatic interventions that target individuals and communities most at risk of violence are more likely to be successful. Another prominent theme, especially in efforts to reduce intimate partner violence, is that changing community norms around gender equality and violence are central.

Table 4.2 summarises selected **community-level violence interventions with cost information**, **under several headings**, **namely**:

- **Reducing Homicide and Assault,** which entail efforts to interrupt community-violence cycles and change community-norms around homicide and assault. There are various models, including Focussed deterrence and Cure Violence.
- Reducing IPV, which involves efforts to shift norms around intimate partner violence.
- Service-based programs that utilize social services to help reduce violence.
- **Place-based approaches** to deliberately improve the urban environment and community infrastructure in ways that are expected to reduce violence.

Table 4.2.	Selected community	y-level violence interver	ntions with cost information
------------	--------------------	---------------------------	------------------------------

Intervention name, sites and dates	Method, sample size	Impacts on violence – outcome measure	Costs per X (USD)
The Cure Violence Model Community mobilization and outreach focusing on high- risk individuals. New York City (01/2010 to 05/2012). Chicago. Middle East, Latin America, Europe, Africa. Carbonari, F., et al. 2020, Picard-Fritsche an Cerniglia, 2013.	 Intervention was focused on training community members to work as Violence Interrupters and de-escalate potentially violent crimes. New York City: comprehensive impact and process evaluation conducted using a quasi-experimental time-series design comparing violence rates pre- and post- intervention. Chicago: quasi-experimental comparison group design 	 In New York City: 63% drop in shootings. In Chicago: 48% decrease in shootings. 	Estimated cost: \$3,500-\$4,500 for every prevented violent incident.
Project REASON Adaptation of Cure Violence. Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago (2015 – 2017). Maguire et al 2018.	 Community members trained as Violence Interrupters. Quasi-experimental, mix method evaluation. Systemic control method and interrupted time-series analysis used. N=16 communities that represent 6% of country's population 	 Within 1 year: 45.1% lower violent crime vs comparison group Within 7 years: 38.7% reduction in shootings based on hospital recorded injuries Reported 23% reduction in violent crime based on police reports. 	 Total program cost was \$937,139.82—78% for salaries, 10% for community outreach and activities. Estimated cost of preventing one violent crime: \$3,577.
Focussed deterrence approach			
Ceasefire strategies Data-driven strategy coordinating law enforcement, social services, and local community. Oakland (2012-2017). Braga et al, 2019 Boston (1991-1995). National Institute of Justice, 2001 Chicago. Skogan, et al 2008.	 Program aimed to reduce shootings and killings by focusing social service, community-based, and criminal justice resources on a small group of people involved in most of the city's violence (i.e. gangs). In Oakland, two quasi-experimental impact evaluations were conducted. One was a cross-city quasi-experiment. Impact evaluation for Oakland: cross-city comparison of gun homicide trends in 12 comparison cities between 2010 and 2017. 	 In Chicago: Shootings at 17.42% of pre-program levels. 63% increase in "no-murder" months compared to 50% in comparable area. In Oakland: 43% reduction of gun homicides and 50% decrease in nonfatal shootings In Boston: 63% decrease in mean monthly youth homicide and 32% decrease in "shots-fired" calls 	Chicago annual budget \$240 000.
Gang Reduction and Youth Development Increase community's awareness, protect at-risk youth, and coordinate well-structured responses to gang violence. Los Angeles, 2008-2015. Brantingham et al., 2017. Tremblay, A., et al. 2020.	 Aimed to strengthen youth/young adults, family and community resilience to the influence of gangs using community engagement, gang prevention, gang intervention and violence interruption. Community members were trained as Community Intervention Workers Analysis of crime records provided by Los Angeles Police Department. 	 Reported 30% reduction in gang retaliation. In 2014 and 2015, outreach workers prevented 185 violent gang crimes. 	• \$30 million per year.
Operation Peacemaker Fellowship 18-month long program for high-risk men helping build life outside gangs. Richmond, California (2010-2014).	 Program aimed at high-risk men (offenders) and was focused on helping these men build lives outside of gangs. Program used a stipend and incentivised workplace training for offenders. Cost-benefit analysis. 	Reported 55% decrease in gun related homicides.	 Total costs 2010-2014: \$5,492,278. Participants paid \$1000 per month.

Intervention name, sites and dates	Method, sample size	Impacts on violence - outcome measure	Costs per X (USD)
Huguet, et al. 2016.	Quasi-experiment evaluation not a RCT due to ethical concerns.		
Community programs to address intim	ate nartner violence		
Community programs to address muni-			
Stepping Stones and Creating Futures (SSCF) South Africa (2015 – 2018).	 Program aimed to decrease IPV and HIV-risks in informal settlements through peer-led, interactive sessions held with young adults. Aimed to build knowledge, risk awareness and communication skills around gender, HIV, violence and economic skills. 	• 39% reduction in physical IPV, a 54% reduction in economic IPV, a 32% reduction in sexual IPV, and a 28% reduction in non-partner rape perpetration	Not determined.
Jewkes 2020.			
Programme H Workshops and community mobilization to change attitudes among young men. Brazil.	 Aimed to educate young men on issues of gender equality and intimate partner violence, with a participatory curriculum offered by trained mentors in weekly small group sessions. Three arm experimental design (for Indian version). 	 Significant positive changes in gender attitudes, partner communication, and partner violence. Results in India: men who reported IPV declined more than two-fold to less than 20% (p< 0.05) at follow up. 	 US\$ 108 – 161 per male participant.
Remme et al, 2014. India. Verma et al 2008.			
Men as Partners	• Launched to challenge attitudes, values and behaviour of men that	• 95% of respondents said that MAP workshops	Not determined.
Educational workshops with groups of men.	compromise their health and encourage men to be involved in HIV prevention.	changed their way of thinking about gender, mostly in terms of eliminating violence against	
South Africa (2004-2005).	Educational workshops with groups of men.	women.	
Ditlopo 2007.	Evaluation had qualitative component and also pre- and post- workshop questionnaires.		
SASA!	SASA! consisted of four strategies: local activism, media and advocacy,	• Women in intervention communities were 52%	US\$ 392 per community activist
Community interventions to combat imbalance of power	communication materials, and training.	less likely to report past year experience of	supported per year.
between men and women.	Community activists were also trained.	physical IPV, compared with women in control	
Uganda (2007-2012).	Cluster randomized trial with adjusted cluster-level intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis comparing outcomes in intervention and control	communities.In Tanzania: the rate of current IPV fell from	
Abramsky et al, 2016, Remme et al, 2014,	communities at follow-up (as per the primary trial analysis).	36.5% to 23.2%	
Tanzania Women Research Foundation, 2018.	• N= 1,583 (baseline) and N= 2,532 (post intervention).		
Women Training and Integration Program (Liberia National Red Cross Society) Multifaceted female empowerment program which include		 Emotional, physical, and sexual IPV fell by 10- 26 percentage points (from control bases of 24- 62 %) among participating girls 	Not determined.
intensive psychosocial therapy and vocational skills training.	• Evaluated by RCT.		
Liberia (2019 -2021)			
Park, Kumar, 2022.143			
Tostan	Human rights-based education program that aimed to reduce IPV by	Statistically significant lower rates of past 12-	Not determined.
A human rights-based education program.	changing existing gender norms and beliefs.	month physical IPV	
Senegal (2012 – 2016).	• Evaluated through a quasi-experimental approach.		
Rowley, Diop, 2020.			
Transforming Masculinities	• Focused on integrating conversations about gender equality into traditional activities such as sermons and prayer meetings.	• A 39% decrease in any forms of IPV	Not determined.

Intervention name, sites and dates	Method, sample size	Impacts on violence – outcome measure	Costs per X (USD)
Integrating conversations about gender equality into faith- based traditional activities.	Focused on men.		
Democratic Republic of Congo (2015 - 2015).			
Jewkes et al 2020.			
Rural Response System Community mobilisation and social norms change intervention. Ghana (2016 – 2018).	 Community volunteers were trained (COMBAT) and facilitated activities around gender, violence against women, and the law, and provided counselling for couples experiencing conflict and violence. Evaluated using a RCT. 	• In intervention communities, women's past year experience of both sexual and physical IPV fell from about 17 to 8%	Not determined.
Jewkes et al 2020.			
Safe Dates Workshops for middle-school students raising awareness on what constitutes a healthy and abusive relationships. North Carolina, United States (1998). Foshee et al, 2004, Blueprints Program.	 Focused on school children. RCT with baseline date from 1 in 10 schools in North Carolina. Follow-up data collected 1 month after implementation, then annually for next 4 years. 	 Treatment group reported significantly less physical, serious physical, and sexual violence than the control group, at 4 years follow-up. Reported 25% less psychological and 60% less physical violence. 	• US\$ 17.40 per student.
Foshee et al, 2004, Bluephilts Program.			
Service-based programs to reduce intima	te partner violence		
School based "Paz Educa" evaluated by Varela et al. (2009); Tijmes and Varela (2008), adapted, and evaluated by Varela (2011) and Pérez et al. (2013).	Based on principles of positive behavior support and prevention though environmental design.	 Measures included perceptions of violence, self reported acts and witnessing violence Mixed results across studies – some recorded reductions in violence, others no change or worsening 	Not reported
IMAGE Microfinance initiatives combined with gender and HIV training. South Africa (2001-2004). Jan et al, 2011, Remme et al, 2014.	 Cluster randomized trial, Cost-effectiveness Costs of program / costs per DALY averted. Cost-effectiveness measured for both trial and initial scale-up phases. N= 3,453 	 Trial: cost effective. Initial scale-up: highly cost effective. Reported 55% reduction in the past year experience of physical and/or sexual violence by an intimate partner. 	• US\$ 52 per client in the trial phase (855 clients) and at US\$ 16 per client in the initial scale up phase when the client base trebled (2598 clients).
Shelters	Social cost-benefit analysis (short term and long term).	 Cost benefit ratio > 1 (6:4). 	Lower and upper estimates of
Arizona, USA (1998).	- Social cost bencht analysis (short term and long term).	 Minimum net social benefit: \$3,494,934 (short term). 	annual operating costs: US\$253,183 \$440,558.
Chanley et al, 2001.			

Community interventions to address assault and homicide

Community-level efforts to address assault and homicide typically aim to identify individuals most at risk of spreading violence and seek to intervene to change their behavior and attitudes. Here we review experience from these types of programs, most notably the Cure Violence and Focused Deterrence models, which share some common elements – namely, working to change individual and group norms around violence¹⁴⁴ and providing support like access to education and jobs. One distinction is that Focussed Deterrence tends to emphasise links with law enforcement, messaging about punitive law enforcement and seeking to improve views of police legitimacy in the intervention community.

The **"Cure Violence"** model aims to transform community and individual level attitudes among young people where it is a norm to carry a gun to solve various forms of conflicts.¹⁴⁵ There are three key elements:

- Directly interrupting the transfer of violent behavior,
- Identifying and changing the thoughts of people at the greatest risk of perpetrating violence, and
- Altering group norms.

Program participants are aged between 16-25, and come from a gang, drug, criminal backgrounds, or have been shooting victims. Violence Interrupters are usually young men, selected because of their own experiences with violence and crime, and for their ability to establish rapport with the most at-risk youths. They also work to de-escalate tensions in the aftermath of an injury or shooting. Outreach workers manage cases, build trusting relationships with the most vulnerable members of the community, and connect high-risk individuals with community resources that include employment, housing, recreational activities, and education.

The Cure Violence model has been introduced in multiple high violence settings, in more than 50 cities, across more than 15 countries. Evaluations have found significant reductions in assault and homicide in several cities in Latin America, from Cali, Colombia to San Salvador, El Salvador.¹⁴⁶ In San Pedro, Honduras, implementation of Cure Violence began in 2013 with all program locations achieving large reductions in violence, with shooting reductions averaging 88% in 2014 and 94% in 2015. Similarly, in Cape Town, South Africa, there was a 64% reduction in gang-related crimes during the first six months of the program in 2013.¹⁴⁷ In a decade after implementation, Ceasefire (which began in partnership with Cure Violence) helped over 700 individuals in Cape Town leave gangs.¹⁴⁸

In the US, 20 cities have introduced Cure Violence programs, with several cities achieving major reductions in violence up through the pandemic. It is difficult to ascertain how much was due to the program, since crime rates also fell more generally during this period, and typically several different initiatives were underway. For example in New York City, the murder rate fell by 53% between 2006-2018,¹⁴⁹ a period during which Cure Violence was implemented from 2010, while in 2014, the Mayor's Action Plan for Neighborhood Safety (MAP) introduced a targeted approach to reduce violent crime in and around public housing, which included investments in infrastructure, social support and youth job opportunities.¹⁵⁰ Other US cities which recorded major reductions in violence after implementing the Cure Violence model include Philadelphia, Chicago and Baltimore.¹⁵¹

Studies reporting on the results of Cure Violence approaches estimate that the cost of one prevented violent incident – based on calls to police about violent incidents -- is \$3,500-4,500.¹⁵² In Trinidad and

Tobago, within 7 years of implementation of the Cure Violence approach, the number of shootings fell by almost 39% and it was estimated that the cost of preventing one violent crime was \$3,577.¹⁵³

Focused deterrence programs also target high-risk people and sites, and seek to underline that violence will no longer be tolerated, reinforced by credible threats of enforcement and credible promises of assistance. Successful interventions reportedly focus on a specific behavior, e.g. gun violence, rather than on criminal behavior more generally. The message is not "stop all crime" or "leave the gang," but rather, "stop shooting, stop killing." An evaluation of ten such programs in the United States found that nine had significant positive impacts, with homicide reductions ranging from 34-63%.^{154,155}

An oft-cited successful case of focussed deterrence was in Oakland, California, where killings fell by more than half between 2012 and 2018 after launching Operation Ceasefire.¹⁵⁶ More recently however, Oakland's crime rates have surged to among the highest in the US, with a 23% increase in homicides between 2020 and 2021.¹⁵⁷ This has been attributed in part to restrictions on program operations during the COVID-19 pandemic,¹⁵⁸ and the larger trend of rising violence during the pandemic,¹⁵⁹ which is not yet well understood.

Focused deterrence often involves Group Violence Interventions, in which community members join with law enforcement and social services to target active street groups and seek to substitute deterrence for enforcement, emphasizing "community moral voice". Implementation in multiple US cities has shown success.¹⁶⁰ It begins with a comprehensive data collection effort by law enforcement, and entails significant police interaction with impacted communities, reconciliation for past wrongs, and local government commitment to policy changes desired by the communities.¹⁶¹ Some key successes include:

- Los Angeles' Gang Reduction and Youth Development (GRYD) program significantly reduced gangrelated retaliation shootings, through rumor control, crisis intervention, and related activities. Community Intervention Workers are deployed to avoid retaliation, and the program reportedly reduced the likelihood of retaliation by 98% compared to the non-intervention control. The number of homicides prevented by the program was estimated to save the LA city authorities \$89 million over a two-year period (2014-2015).¹⁶² The annual operating budget of GRYD is around \$30 million.¹⁶³
- In Cincinnati, Ohio, a violence-reduction strategy called Place-based Investigations of Violent Offender Territories (PIVOT) focuses on the most violent micro-locations and sought to block crime activities by using city resources. For example, one strategy involved changes to parking and traffic patterns along a road used in drive-by shootings, and led to major reductions in violent crime (by 71-89% in the two sites).¹⁶⁴
- In Chicago, targeted deterrence and legitimacy messages were sent to gang factions via a series of hour-long face-to-face meetings with law enforcement and community figures, known as "call-ins." A quasi-experimental study reported a 23% reduction in shootings, and a 32% reduction in gunshot victims in the year following treatment, compared to similar factions.¹⁶⁵

A 2015 rapid evidence assessment of programs addressing urban youth gun violence found that successful programs focused on the most violent individuals, targeted crime prevention in new cohorts of violent youth, and coordinated interagency leadership.¹⁶⁶ Another study noted that successful interventions can spillover to reduce crime reduction in other areas via diffusion.¹⁶⁷

Recent focus group discussions with residents, local subject matter experts, and prevention program workers in communities affected by youth violence in Honduras, Guatemala, and El Salvador highlighted several aspects to consider in implementing community-based intervention programs to reduce gang violence in the region -- the need to identify gang territorial control, engagement with gang members and weighing issues of public trust in government institutions.¹⁶⁸

Community and school-based violence reduction initiatives can seek to change norms among younger age groups.¹⁶⁹ Early childhood programs have included efforts to replace war toys with other toys and books.¹⁷⁰ There are also youth-focused programmes which use fun and playful interaction, theatre, and board games. Some initiatives have been linked to larger violence prevention programmes like Cure Violence.¹⁷¹

A recent review of the literature on criminal deterrence usefully distinguishes across different types of strategies, concluding that while the overall evidence suggests that more intensive and problem-oriented policing can reduce crime – "experimental research on hot-spots policing and focused deterrence efforts have, in some cases, led to remarkably large decreases in offending, a fact that may be attributable to the visibility of such policies." ¹⁷² However, the same study concludes that the evidence for 'broken window' approaches – which arrest offenders for relatively minor infractions -- is at best mixed, and also raises major concerns about civil rights. Finally, but not least, the study also underlines that local labor market conditions – as proxied by the unemployment rates and wage levels – have a strong impact on crime rates.

Box 4.1. Community policing as a strategy to reduce violence

Community policing has become a popular approach to combatting crime and improving relations and trust between police and the local community. This may be especially important where heavy handed policing have had negative repercussions.

While the term "community policing" has been used for a wide variety of measures, key elements tend to include citizen involvement and localization, with specific activities, projects, and programs originating from discourse and interaction in each setting. Citizens share their concerns about suspicious people or activities, and information on where crime occurs and who is committing it, which is used to assist police in resource allocations. The aim goes beyond police visits, to strengthen citizen trust and promote greater cooperation, producing a mutually beneficial cycle.¹⁷³

Community-oriented policing strategies vary vastly from city to city, continent to continent. A 2014 comprehensive review of existing research on such strategies found that they have positive effects on citizen satisfaction, perceptions of disorder and police legitimacy, but alone had limited effects on the prevalence of crime and fear of crime.¹⁷⁴

However, a recent systematic review of 43 randomized trials suggests that the results are mixed.¹⁷⁵ The bulk of evidence comes from three countries -- the US, the UK, and Australia – with some positive results reported in New York City from 2013- 2015 with the adoption of community policing.¹⁷⁶ A randomized trial in New Haven, CT discovered that positive interaction with police—delivered through brief door-to-door nonenforcement community policing visits—significantly improved citizens' attitudes toward police, including legitimacy and readiness to collaborate, which remained significant three weeks

later and were greatest among nonwhite respondents.¹⁷⁷ Another systematic review of 30 randomized experimental and quasi-experimental tests of disorder policing found that such strategies are associated with modest crime reductions but that aggressive strategies targeting individual disorderly behaviours do not reduce crime.¹⁷⁸

A broader study, covering Brazil, Colombia, Liberia, Pakistan, the Philippines, and Uganda, investigated community policing efforts that reached nine million people in 516 communities. Over a period of 6 to 17 months, the results were disappointing: there was no improvement in crime victimization, citizen perceptions of the police, police perceptions of citizens, or citizen-police cooperation.¹⁷⁹ In Medellin, Colombia, community policing was implemented in 2012, but in 2019, 48% of the citizens said that they do not trust the police or only a little.¹⁸⁰

A recent Peace in Our Cities brief suggests several cornerstones upon which law enforcement, supported by city leaders, should build their efforts to foster healthier relationships with communities -- including proceeding fairly, narrowing the focus, and taking part in healing with the community.¹⁸¹

It appears that, to be effective, community policing requires more resources must be invested and greater community engagement, particularly in areas of low trust in the police. Further evaluations and more evidence are needed to determine what type of community policing is needed in each city.

Community mobilization to address IPV

Community-based approaches to IPV prevention "are considered promising because they can reach multiple levels of society using educational and behavioral change interventions."¹⁸² These approaches have been tried in a range of countries from United States to South Africa and Brazil, and aim to motivate and support communities to address violence against women and to change the social norms that make violence acceptable, through education and training activities as well as integrating content on gender equality in traditional community activities, such as religious gatherings and weddings. Evaluation findings suggest that group and community programs have often worked to reduce rates of IPV.¹⁸³

The best-known community mobilization program to reduce IPV is *SASA!* (Start Awareness Support Action), that was first implemented in Kampala, Uganda. The program aims to change community attitudes, opinions and beliefs that perpetuate violence against women. The main stages of the program are identifying the characteristics of the community and local activists, spreading awareness about gender equality, strengthening skills and communication among community members and encouraging new behaviors. To reach these goals, SASA! uses local activism, media and advocacy, communication materials, and training sessions—with the specifics of intervention activities evolving in response to community priorities and characteristics.¹⁸⁴ Community activists are supported by health care workers, institutional leaders and police. The 2016 study found that after three years of implementation, women in participating communities were 52% less likely to report past year physical IPV, compared with women in control communities.¹⁸⁵ Due to the successful results, the intervention has been implemented in various other locations. A SASA! replication in Tanzania reported that the rate of current IPV fell from 37 to 23% after participation in the intervention.¹⁸⁶

Another successful community mobilization program is *Tostan* in Senegal, a human rights-based education program that aims to reduce IPV by changing existing gender norms and beliefs. Its gender module works to promote discussions about gender, healthier communication, and healthier relationships for a period of 30 months. Increased couple communication, equitable decision-making and self-efficacy

through participating in the Tostan program was associated with statistically significant lower rates of past 12-month physical IPV.¹⁸⁷

Examples of community level programs aimed at men include *Transforming Masculinities in the Democratic Republic of Congo* (DRC), *Indashyikirwa in Rwanda* (the community version of the couples one mentioned above) and *Sonke CHANGE in South Africa*, where community leaders and activists were involved in spreading knowledge on gender equality, healthy relationships and non-violence in community activities and public places.¹⁸⁸ While the DRC Transforming Masculinities program focused on integrating conversations about gender equality into traditional activities such as sermons and prayer meetings, Indashyikirwa consisted of activities that were designed by the program leaders, in which discussions on gender equality and healthy relationships were encouraged for over 19 months. Sonke CHANGE combined workshops on gender and violence with painted murals, door to door campaigns and advocacy in community events to raise awareness on the issues.¹⁸⁹ While the program in Rwanda showed no impact on IPV rates,¹⁹⁰ Transforming Masculinities in DRC reduced the experience of any form of IPV by 39%.¹⁹¹

Ghana's Rural Response System uses Community-Based Action Teams 'COMBAT' which aims to prevent violence against women, as well as shift stigmas around gender equality and violence. Volunteers are selected by the community and trained to share their knowledge in community activities such as weddings and school meetings, and participate in the discussions to raise awareness on gender equality and violence. ¹⁹² They also visit high-risk homes to offer counseling services. In intervention communities, women's past year experience of both sexual and physical IPV fell from about 17 to 8%.¹⁹³

Stepping Stones and Creating Futures (SSCF) is a small group intervention in South Africa that provides training for single sex groups of 14-20 people which aims to build knowledge, risk awareness and communication skills around gender, HIV, violence and economic skills. Combining two different training methods, the program involves two parts that are delivered one after the other, aiming to educate participants in different topics. The initial training sessions -- Stepping Stones -- consist of participatory learning and critical reflection on relationships, followed by Creating Futures training sessions, focused on economic skills and livelihood goals.¹⁹⁴ There were 21 three hour sessions delivered twice weekly by trained facilitators. A 2018 controlled trial reported a 39% reduction in physical IPV, a 54% reduction in economic IPV, a 32% reduction in sexual IPV, and a 28% reduction in non-partner rape perpetration.¹⁹⁵ However a 2020 follow-up cluster randomized trial of SSCF found no reduction in the rates of women experiencing IPV, although lower rates of men perpetuating IPV.¹⁹⁶ One significant impact of the program over the longer term was that men who hadn't participated in the study having two times higher rates of onset IPV than those who had participated.¹⁹⁷

It is widely accepted that masculine norms have clear and direct links with many forms of violence, which points to the importance of gender norm transformative intervention programs for men.¹⁹⁸ A number of initiatives have targeted groups of men, the best known of which is *Programme H*, which was launched in Brazil.¹⁹⁹ This has since become one of the most recognized programs globally, adapted in at least 36 countries.²⁰⁰ Programme H aims to educate young men on issues of gender equality and partner violence over a period of several months, with a participatory curriculum offered by trained mentors in weekly small group sessions at the core of the program. Combining group education sessions and youth-led activism campaigns, Programme H has "evolved from focusing on workshops and community mobilization to a multipronged strategy combining participatory training with advocacy and lifestyle social marketing aimed at changing community norms." ²⁰¹ The results of the program include positive impacts on behavior and opinions about gender equality and partner violence – however, its impact on

IPV rates were not measured.²⁰² The costs were reported at \$108- \$161 per participant. *Yaari Dosti*, initiated in 2005, is an Indian version of Programme H that was implemented in Mumbai and Gorahkpur for 6 months. The program resulted in male participants being about five times and two times less likely to report perpetration of physical or sexual partner violence, respectively.²⁰³

A recent review assessed Program H programs which included young men aged 12 - 24 years, through impact evaluations in 12 countries.^{204,} The review included three randomized-controlled trials, nine quasiexperimental designs and two pre and post evaluations. Findings showed that Programme H produced positive changes in gender attitudes in most (but not all) settings – for example, in India, young men receiving group education or the combined intervention showed positive changes in attitudes. In two studies, violence perpetration was reduced compared to a control group, however, not all men were partnered thus this was not always possible to measure. There were positive changes in sexual and reproductive health in Programme H adapted interventions that aimed to reduce HIV-risk. Increased condom use was found in India, Brazil and Vietnam.²⁰⁵

Men as Partners in South Africa²⁰⁶ and Ethiopia *Male Norms Initiative*²⁰⁷ included group education, community workshops and activities for young men that focus on gender equality, heathy relationship dynamics and reducing stigmas around HIV/AIDS. The community workshops are held in workplaces, faith-based organizations and community halls. The Ethiopian Male Norms Initiative also uses newsletters and drama skits to raise awareness on issues of gender equity. These approaches have been found to have significantly changed men's beliefs and behavioral patterns, resulting in healthier relationships.²⁰⁸ The latest study of Men as Partners in 2007, showed that "95% of the respondents said that MAP workshops changed their way of thinking about gender, mostly in terms of eliminating violence against women."²⁰⁹ Results from the Ethiopian Male Norms Initiative reported that the share of participants reporting violence toward their partner six months after the program fell, from 53 to 38%.²¹⁰

Group intervention initiatives around the world have also targeted young girls, aiming to educate girls about gender equality, how they should be treated in a relationship and what they should do in the face of potential violence by their partners, as well as empowering girls and building their self-confidence. One such program was the female empowerment program by Liberia National Red Cross Society which targeted marginalized women in informal settlements of Monrovia. The program consisted of psychological support via group counseling and therapy sessions, and economic empowerment through skills and business training sessions. Participants attended daily meetings of 4-5 hours over a 12-month period. A 2022 study revealed that emotional, physical, and sexual IPV fell by 10-26 percentage points (from control bases of 24-62 %) among participating girls.²¹¹

The overall evidence for girls' empowerment programs is positive, especially when gender transformative approaches are combined with components designed to enhance their economic prospects. ²¹² The Global Women's Institute recommends that service providers from health, psychosocial support, legal and security sectors be supported to target services to younger and older adolescent girls, within broader response programming. Building girls' trust in services and ensuring service providers' attitudes that are supportive of adolescent girls accessing help are critical, as well as targeting parents to change harmful attitudes and practices, and as conduits to support girls' access to services. ²¹³

Service based programs

Various activities have been successfully delivered through existing social services and programs. One well-established school-based prevention program is the Safe Dates program in the USA, which is

designed for middle and high school students, aiming to "change adolescent norms on dating violence and gender-roles, improve conflict resolution skills for dating relationships, promote victims' and perpetrators' beliefs in the need for help and awareness of community resources for dating violence, encourage help-seeking by victims and perpetrators, and develop peer help-giving skills."²¹⁴ It involves 10 weekly training sessions, plays, poster contests designed to engage youth in conversations about healthy relationship dynamics, the reasons why people abuse, gender equality and healthy ways to communicate in relationships. A 2014 RCT found 23% less violence perpetration among minority adolescents exposed to Safe Dates.²¹⁵ Another cluster-randomized study of Safe Dates in North Carolina, USA, indicated that the program resulted in 25% less psychological and 60% less physical violence. It was also linked to lower levels of peer aggression and weapon carrying. After four years, there was a significant decrease in self-reported perpetration and physical and intimate relationship violence.²¹⁶ Safe Date-type programs have also been implemented in countries such as Haiti.²¹⁷ A recent systematic review which synthesized evidence on adolescent dating violence prevention programs found that about half of the evaluations (26/52) reported significant preventative effects in at least one outcome for adolescent dating violence.²¹⁸

The Microfinance for AIDS and Gender Equity (IMAGE) in South Africa is an example of a gender and HIV training curriculum appended to a poverty-focused microfinance initiative.²¹⁹ Group based lending was accompanied by training on gender roles, cultural beliefs and healthy relationships. In the second phase of the program, men and women participate together in microfinance and gender equity trainings. Over a period of 12 months in 2006, this approach reportedly reduced IPV levels by 55 %, improved household wellbeing, social capital and gender-equitable attitudes^{''220} and was found to be cost-effective.²²¹

Place-based Interventions

Broader interventions that address local environment and infrastructure deficits in poor communities have demonstrated success in some US cities.²²² This is not about prosecution of individuals for minor crime or "broken windows" – but rather a focus on improving the built environment. Remediation of vacant urban land – which currently accounts for about 15% of land in US cities, for example -- can also help to reduce the number of fire arm shooting incidents resulting in injury or death.²²³

Among the best-known place-based interventions is Medellin, Colombia. In 2004, municipal authorities built a public transit system to connect isolated low-income neighborhoods to the city's urban center, together with municipal investment in neighborhood infrastructure. A study of the effects of this exogenous change in the built environment on violence compared intervention neighborhoods with comparable control neighborhoods using a longitudinal sample of residents and homicide records, and found that the homicide rate fell by 66% more in intervention neighborhoods, and resident reports of violence decreased 75% more in intervention neighborhoods.²²⁴ These results show that interventions in neighborhood physical infrastructure can reduce violence, although cost information was not presented in the study.

Useful evidence about place-based approaches comes from Philadelphia in the US:

• In one Philadelphia neighborhood between 2008 and 2014, the presence of street lighting, painted sidewalks, public transportation, and parks were associated with at least 76% lower odds of homicide.²²⁵

- In 2011, Philadelphia also enacted a "doors and windows ordinance," which required property owners
 of abandoned buildings to install working doors and windows. This was linked to 39% and 13%
 declines in gun and non-gun-related assaults respectively. This ordinance has an estimated cost of
 US\$2,550 for remediation of abandoned buildings, US\$1597 for remediation of vacant lot, and
 US\$180 annually to maintain.²²⁶
- Statistical analysis of trends from 1999 to 2008 attributed reductions in assaults and gun violence by about 4 and 9% respectively to the Philadelphia LandCare program's cleaning and greening of vacant lots, with the aim of reducing space or refuges for criminal activity.²²⁷ The annual cost of maintaining the green lots and community gardens was estimated at about US\$177 per lot, and that every dollar invested in the program yielded US\$26 in net benefits to taxpayers from reduced gun violence, and up to US\$333 in societal costs, such as pain and suffering associated with a gun assault.²²⁸

Cities in developing country settings often experience rapid informal growth with poor quality housing and utilities, and without adequate attention to the spaces between buildings or to public spaces.²²⁹ These areas are characterized by high levels of violence.²³⁰ South Africa experiences among the highest levels of crime in the world, and in Cape Town, areas like Khayelitsha have above average murder rates.²³¹

Upgrading informal settlements involves working toward the provision of services, infrastructure, and tenure security, as well as social and economic programs that address broader structural inequalities. The Violence Prevention through Urban Upgrading implemented in 2009 in an informal settlement in Cape Town's Khayelitsha sub-district included creating small public spaces, sports and community facilities, and business creation. Surveys found that 60% felt that the projects had reduced crime and improved infrastructure, although data on actual changes in homicide rates is not available.²³²

Another type of place-based intervention is to upgrade housing conditions. A rigorous evaluation of a program providing better houses in situ to slum dwellers in El Salvador, Mexico and Uruguay found that treated households were happier with their quality of life. However, perceptions of security and safety only improved in El Salvador, and there were no such changes on the security front felt in the other two countries.²³³

In sum, there is an accumulating body of evidence documenting what works to reduce violence, with promising programs at the individual and community levels, grounded in solid understanding of local norms and dynamics, typically in close collaboration with local community groups. It appears that the most promising and cost-effective programs are characterized by the following features:

- Targeting specific at-risk places, people, and behaviors,
- Investing in changing norms and behaviors, at the levels of both the community and individual attitudes.
- Successful interventions often multi-pronged.

While the bulk of evidence is from the US but knowledge is expanding in a number of countries in Latin America and Africa -- including from fragile settings.

Chapter 5. Laws and regulations to prevent violence

All countries prohibit and criminalize homicide and assault – and in most countries the laws are long and well established. Prohibitions against violence toward women in the home are much more recent, since the first national laws were passed less than five decades ago, although most countries – at last count around 150– now have such laws on the books.²³⁴

Clearly enacting legal prohibitions on violence do not suffice to prevent violence – although such laws play a critical role both in signifying what is not acceptable in the society – and allowing recourse for victims.

Laws can also be a lever to affect the underlying drivers of violence – specifically by restricting access to weapons and alcohol, which are known drivers of interpersonal violence, and by changing social norms about the acceptability of violence. Table 5.1 summarises information on selected laws that aim to reduce various forms of violence. Most do not provide information on costs.

An obvious attraction of legal reforms to address violence is that legislative change per se is relatively inexpensive, although the costs of implementation and enforcement may be high. Moreover, there may also be negative unintended consequences, including over-policing and repercussions for minority communities.

Evidence about the effectiveness of legal reforms is uneven across countries. Most studies and reports about gun regulations are based on the United States, which is a particularly complex case for multiple reasons, including constitutional limitations and the variation of state laws. Several other countries also report on the use of other weapons and means of inflicting violence. Studies about alcohol restrictions have been primarily about North America and Europe. Laws prohibiting intimate partner violence are more recent, and evidence on impacts is just emerging.

Table 5.1. Selected large-scale and national regulations and interventions

Intervention	Method, sample size	Impacts on violence – outcome measure	Costs per X (USD)
Laws and regulations	·	'	•
Firearm regulations. Legislation to reduce the number of firearms in civilian hands. South Africa (2001 – 2009): Matzopoulos, et al 2014.	 Legislation to reduce the number of firearms in civilian hands. Retrospective population-based study of firearm and non-firearm homicide cases before and after legislation was enacted (n=37 067). 	There was a statistically significant decrease in firearm homicides after the law was passed. A 13.6% decrease was estimated per annum, equating to 4585 lives saved over the period 2001 to 2005.	Not available.
State firearm regulations United States (1979 – 1998).	Analysis of gun control by state and homicide rates.	US "shall issue" state gun laws (i.e. eliminates most restrictions on carrying a concealed weapon) were associated with greater number of firearm homicides and all homicides.	Not available.
Waiting period laws United States (1970 – 2014).	Comparison of gun control legislation on waiting period when purchasing firearms and homicide rates.	States with waiting periods - which delay the purchasing of firearms - have reduced gun homicide.	Not available.
Firearm regulations. A national reform unified and extended local laws around safe- storage, firearm registration, suicide prevention, gun-owner licensing, and introduced a gun buyback program.	Review.	Firearm related mortality fell significantly from 3.6 to 1.2 per 100,000.	Not available.
Australia: Negin, et al, 2021. Alcohol regulations. Restrictions on alcohol policy in terms of – outlet density, hours and days of sale, pricing/ taxation. International review: Brewer, 2015.	Review.	 Outlet density regulations: In Buckhead, a 3% decrease in alcohol outlet density was reportedly associated with 6% reduction of violent crimes. Limiting days and hours of sale: Diadema, Brazil, introduced a law requiring bars to close at 11 PM, and after 3 years, there was 17% decrease in reported assaults against women. 	Not available.
Laws against domestic violence. Introduction of comprehensive laws against domestic violence. Nicaragua: Ellsberg, et al 2022.	Three waves of a national survey were compared (Demographic and Health Survey).	Nicaragua's second largest city recorded a 63% reduction in lifetime physical IPV since 1995, as well as a 71% decrease in current rates of physical IPV.	Not available.
Campaigns		·	
Soul City Education through weekly TV drama series about social problems. South Africa (1994-2015): Remme et al 2014. Heise 2011.	 Longest running primetime drama series in South Africa. Educational weekly TV drama series about social problems, including domestic violence. National surveys, Interviews (N=4,000 plus 500 interviews) 	Increased levels of support seeking and giving behavior.	Costs US\$ 0.16; \$0.01 and \$0.10 per person reached by television, radio and print media with the VAWG theme.
PMC- Saliwansai Education through entertainment on national radio Sierra Leone (2012-2015): PMC Website.	• Education through entertainment using a national radio drama. The 208 episodes focused on obstetric fistula, ending female genital mutilation, stopping gender-based violence, and preventing HIV infection.	 Listeners 1.6 times more likely than non-listeners to say they know of an organization or people that advocate against domestic violence. Actual impact on IPV rates are unknown 	• Costs US\$0.53 per listener.

Restrictions on gun ownership and use.

Guns can be lethal. The most recent global data suggests that there are about 857 million firearms held by civilians, with huge variations in ownership rates across countries, from a high of 120.5 firearms per 100 residents in the US, down to fewer than one per 100 residents in Indonesia and Japan.²³⁵

Globally, 38% of lethal violence involves firearms. In 2016, guns were used in 44% of homicides; studies generally indicate a positive association between availability of firearms and violent crimes such as homicides, although the studies exploring the relationship on a cross-national level are limited.²³⁶ Overall, levels of gun ownership (measured without distinguishing between illicit and legal firearms) are not always associated with levels of violence. Gunpolicy.org provides the best source of data on this topic. Czech Republic has 13 firearms for 100 civilians and a rate of 1.6 gun deaths per 100,000 people,²³⁷ and Denmark has 10 firearms per 100 civilians and around 2 gun deaths per 100,000²³⁸ – compared to Colombia²³⁹ and El Salvador²⁴⁰ which have reported rates of firearm ownership of around 10 per 100, but much higher death rates from firearms per 100,000 of 19 and 26 respectively.

Many countries restrict the ownership of guns – according to GunPolicy.org, in 135 countries gun regulations can be classed as restrictive (e.g. Mexico and Norway), while 34 countries have some rules in place (e.g. Kuwait and Iceland). At the other end of the spectrum, 14 nations have laws that can be classified as permissive (e.g. United States and Panama) and 12 countries have no regulations, including Turkmenistan and Afghanistan.²⁴¹

Gun reforms often adopt comprehensive approaches with multiple measures.²⁴² Overall, evidence about the impacts of gun reform suggests stricter gun regulations do limit access to firearms and lower risk of suicides, domestic violence,²⁴³ and homicides.²⁴⁴ Comparisons across US states reveals this association. According to Giffords' State reports, New York, which up until recently had very strict laws, has rates of gun death 61% below the national average, whereas Arkansas and Mississippi have lenient gun laws and high rates of gun death – 66% and 110% respectively above the national average.²⁴⁵

There are examples of successful reforms. One well known example comes from Australia: after a mass shooting in 1996, a comprehensive national reform unified and extended local laws around safestorage, firearm registration, suicide prevention, gun-owner licensing, and introduced a gun buyback program. A recent retrospective published in the New England Journal of Medicine reports that firearm related mortality subsequently fell significantly, from 3.6 to 1.2 per 100,000.²⁴⁶

Another well-known case study involves gun laws in Japan, which are among some of the most restrictive in the world. Japan has a long history of gun control; it is the first nation to have imposed gun laws in the world in 1958, stipulating that "no person shall possess a firearm or firearms or a sword or swords."²⁴⁷ If someone wants to own a gun in Japan, they must attend an all-day class, pass a written test, and achieve at least 95% accuracy during a shooting-range test. Then they have to pass a mental-health evaluation, which takes place at a hospital, and pass a background check.²⁴⁸ Estimated rates of private gun ownership in Japan are extremely low: 0.25 guns per 100 people.²⁴⁹ Gun deaths have also been on a gradual decline in the last two decades (dropping from 101 to 2000 to nine in 2018), suggesting the role of factors beyond legal restrictions, such as a strong cultural aversion to gun ownership.²⁵⁰

Another review was done to ascertain whether there were associations between firearm-related laws and firearm homicides, suicides and unintentional injuries/deaths.²⁵¹ The review found that laws targeting multiple firearm restrictions are associated with a reduction in deaths from firearms.²⁵² Particularly, laws on restricting firearms purchase (e.g. background checks) were associated with reduced rates of intimate partner homicides, while laws restricting access (e.g. safe storage) were associated with reduced unintentional deaths in children.²⁵³

In contrast, a number of countries in Latin America and the Caribbean have restrictive firearm regulations, at least on paper, alongside high levels of gun-related violence.²⁵⁴ For example:

- In Trinidad and Tobago, gun ownership is regulated by Firearm Act of 1970, last amended in 2011.²⁵⁵ Legal ownership is conditional on passing a background check (criminal, mental health, addiction, and domestic violence) and a genuine reason is required to purchase a firearm. Yet the rate of gun deaths rose from 4.1 per 100,000 in 1995 to 24.1 in 2012.²⁵⁶
- In the Dominican Republic, the Commerce, Carrying, and Possession of Firearms Act of 1965 has similar regulations—however, persons with a history of domestic violence are not prohibited from ownership, and the rate of gun deaths increased from 5.4 per 100,000 in 1999 to 16.3 in 2013.²⁵⁷

There are also examples of successful reforms in Latin America and the Caribbean. Colombia had very high homicide and gun violence rates in the 1990s, as well as a long running civil war. Several cities introduced gun restrictions to prohibit carrying weapons, including in Bogotá (1997) and Medellín (2005), which resulted in rapid declines in homicide rates, while the national rates remained stable. However, after initial declines, the rates stagnated– with some observers pointing to a "glass floor of homicides".²⁵⁸

In South Africa, legislation was passed in the year 2000 (Firearm Control Act (FCA)). A retrospective study was done to compare rates of firearm and non-firearm homicide in 5 South African cities before and after legislation was passed and found a statistically significant decreasing trend in firearm homicides from 2001, showing that legislation led to a significant decrease in homicide overall, especially firearm-related homicide.

In the United States, gun ownership is widespread, and guns are involved in about four out of five homicides.²⁵⁹ Everytown For Gun Safety provides an excellent overview of the current status of laws and the impacts of reforms:

- Federal Background Checks are now required for every firearm purchase. However, purchases can be automatically completed if the background check is not completed within 3 business days. In 2020, about 10% (over 6,000) purchases were purchased through this loophole.
- Waiting Period Laws are believed to be especially important in cases of mental crises. The *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* recently reported that introducing a waiting period for firearm purchases reduces homicides by roughly 17%, and estimated that 17 states avoid roughly 750 homicides annually due to waiting period laws.²⁶⁰
- Extreme Risk Protective Order (ERPO or 'red flag') Laws allow family, friends, and law enforcement agents to petition the court to limit access to guns for a person who shows symptoms of mental crisis or desire to harm others. This type of law can reduce the incidence of mass shooting and gun suicide an estimated 56% cases of mass shootings are conducted by people who exhibit worrisome behaviors beforehand.²⁶¹

Secure Gun Storage reforms seek to ensure firearms are available only to licensed owners, to protect against suicides, unintentional shootings, and keeping guns away from children. Currently, 23 U.S. states have storage laws to keep guns out of children's reach. Safe storage regulations are associated with 85% lower risk of unintentional firearm injuries among children and youth, as well as 78% decrease in risk of self-harm involving firearms.²⁶²

In the United States, a systematic review aimed to evaluate the association between firearm laws and preventing firearm homicides²⁶³ and found that stronger laws were associated with decreased rates of firearm homicides, especially laws that strengthen background checks and permit-to-purchase.²⁶⁴

A recent synthesis reviewed thousands of studies regarding the effects of 18 state firearm policies on several outcomes, including firearm deaths and violent crime, was undertaken by the Rand Corporation.²⁶⁵ The results are summarized in Figure 5.1, and were summarized by the authors as follows:

- Available evidence supports the conclusion that child-access prevention laws, or safe storage laws, reduce self-inflicted fatal or nonfatal firearm injuries and homicides among youth.
- There is supportive evidence that both stand-your-ground laws and "shall-issue" concealedcarry laws are associated with increases in firearm homicides.
- There is moderate evidence that
 - state laws prohibiting gun ownership by individuals subject to domestic violence restraining orders decrease total and firearm-related intimate partner homicides.
 - background check requirements reduce homicides.
 - waiting periods reduce total suicides and homicides.

While some policies had no significant effects on the outcomes tracked, several policies did affect one or more of four of the outcomes, as shown in Figure 5.1. For example, evidence shows that waiting periods may decrease(brown lines) suicide rates and that concealed-carry laws may worsen (teal lines) violent crime. The thicker the line, the stronger the evidence.





Source: Smart et al 2023

Examples of recent firearm reforms focused on reduction of gun-related domestic violence, with the impact yet to be determined:

- In 2021, Canada implemented 'Bill C-21' law establishing 'yellow' and 'red' flags that give friends and family a chance to petition to the court for an immediate removal of firearms and revoking gun licenses.
- Brazil's federal law reform from 2019 gives police the power to confiscate firearms from households in which domestic violence was reported, supported by linked databases.²⁶⁶

It must be noted that some countries may have gun laws but that these are not enforced. For example, Brazil reports high rates of gun-related homicides.²⁶⁷ On paper, Brazil has comprehensive gun laws and in 2003 the country passed a disarmament statute; there are age limits for gun ownership (25 years) and background checks are needed every 5 years. However, these laws have not been fully enforced and have been undermined by pro-gun politicians.²⁶⁸

Legal reforms to reduce alcohol consumption

Research studies indicate a strong association between alcohol consumption and IPV,²⁶⁹ and alcohol consumption and homicide.²⁷⁰ Three alcohol policy areas – outlet density, hours and days of sale, pricing/taxation– are popular regulatory reforms.

The WHO global strategy on alcohol advises municipal-level policies to combat harmful use of alcohol.²⁷¹ A review of the effectiveness of policies and programs to reduce the harm caused by alcohol and a recent review of effectiveness of city-based policies – drawing on 23 individual studies and 5 systematic reviews from North America, Nordic countries, Australia and New Zealand– concludes that:

- Outlet density regulations are successful policy measures with particularly positive impact on violence and harm to others. In Buckhead, a 3% decrease in alcohol outlet density was reportedly associated with 6% reduction of violent crimes.²⁷²
- Limiting days and hours of sale is also proven to be an effective regulation, as it decreases consumption and related harm. Diadema, Brazil, introduced a law requiring bars to close at 11 PM, and after 3 years, there was 17% decrease in reported assaults against women.²⁷³
- Based on 132 studies, it is estimated that higher alcohol taxes reduce acute and chronic alcoholrelated harms. In New York City, alcohol taxation (10% tax) reportedly reduced alcohol-related homicides from 3.2 to 2.4 per 100,000.²⁷⁴

However, the same review concluded that education and information campaigns are generally ineffective and inconclusive, rarely indicating any evidence of effectiveness. Parenting and social marketing campaigns yielded inconclusive effects. School-based programs are ineffective in reducing alcohol-related harms.²⁷⁵ A 2018 meta-review by Anderson et al. identified five relevant studies about municipal-level policies, and concluded that the impact of adult-oriented comprehensive community and municipal action to reduce the harmful alcohol use remains to be studied, making recommendations for closing this evidence gap.²⁷⁶

A 2022 WHO report argues that the alcohol industry gets actively involved with the intention of derailing policy reforms.²⁷⁷ In Scotland, the industry opposed the establishment of a minimum price for alcohol while in Brazil it pressured lawmakers to eliminate a statute forbidding consumption of alcohol in stadiums.

In South Africa, alcohol sales amount to over 3% of GDP, and efforts to ensure affordability have been deliberately pursued by the industry.²⁷⁸ However, there are strong opposition movements and during the COVID-19 pandemic, lawmakers in South Africa attempted to reduce interpersonal violence, particularly against both women and children forced to stay at home with male abusers, by introducing a country-wide ban on the sale of alcohol and cigarettes. The ban was initially justified in terms of reducing the burden on hospitals when the pandemic was overwhelming the system, and the government's resolve was reportedly strengthened by alcohol's contribution to interpersonal violence and injuries.²⁷⁹ It has been estimated that the total tangible and intangible costs of alcohol harm to the economy at 10 - 12% of GDP, of which about 1.6% was tangible²⁸⁰ (see Chapter 3).

In turn, during the early months of COVID-19 lockdowns, trauma unit admissions for alcoholrelated injury fell rapidly,²⁸¹ and the decrease in "alcohol related trauma, alongside alcohol's perceived role in crime and undermining public safety, has won political and popular support for maintenance of these restrictions."²⁸² The alcohol ban was subject to legal challenge by industry, which tried to take the government to court.²⁸³ Crime statistics released by police Minister Bheki Cele reported that, comparing the period March 29 -- April 22 in 2020 and 2021, murder cases dropped by 72%; and attempted murder by more than two-thirds; assault by 85%, and domestic violence dropped by 69% over the same period of time in 2019²⁸⁴ – Minister Cele stated in a 2020 interview that, "[m]y first prize would be that we shut down alcohol [for good]."²⁸⁵

In China, alcohol-related harm has not been systematically studied because reliable data are not available, although the WHO estimates rates of alcohol use disorders in China to be 7% and 0.2% among men and women, respectively.²⁸⁶ As in many other countries, in China, excessive drinking has shown an association not just with health-related harm, but also with crime and child abuse, domestic violence, and injuries of all types.²⁸⁷ However, the country takes a fairly lax policy approach towards alcohol, particularly compared to its neighboring countries: it has no enforceable legal drinking age and does not regulate when or where alcoholic products are sold.²⁸⁸ Changes in alcohol taxation throughout the past few decades have been observed to have significant effects on the level of alcohol consumption in China, and also on levels of alcohol-related mortality.²⁸⁹ In 2001, a volumetric tariff of ± 0.5 per 500 g or 500 mL was added to the alcohol tax, and was associated with a significant drop in alcohol production and consumption, whereas in 2006, the central government lowered the tax on spirits, and alcohol consumption rose.²⁹⁰

Laws against Intimate Partner Violence

According to the World Bank's Women, Business and the Law, 160 out of 190 economies have legislation addressing domestic violence, while 32 countries currently still do not criminalize marital rape, including India and Nigeria.²⁹¹ A recent study across 159 economies found that domestic violence legislation was associated with a 2.3% decline in the women-to-men adult mortality ratio, translating into hundreds of thousands of female lives saved.²⁹² At the same time, however, we know that laws on the books are not enough to fully prevent violence or deliver justice to survivors.

Clearly high rates of violence against women often persist despite legal prohibitions. For example, laws in Timor-Leste and Central African Republic prohibit domestic violence, sexual harassment, and marital rape, but 80% of women justify harm they face due to social norms.²⁹³

Still the law can make a difference. Klugman and Li (2019) compared the average current prevalence of violence in countries with and without legislations prohibiting violence. The results show that countries with laws in place have significantly lower average rates of violence (11.4%) compared to countries without such laws (20.7%) based on data from 146 countries. This is suggestive, but like any cross-country empirical relationship, does not show causality.

One of the most dramatic, documented declines in rates of IPV occurred in Nicaragua during a time period which included the passage of a comprehensive law on domestic violence. A 2016 study on the prevalence of IPV in Nicaragua's second largest city found a 63% reduction in lifetime physical IPV since 1995, as well as a 71% decrease in current rates of physical IPV.²⁹⁴ A recent review attributed this success to a combination of factors including the efforts of the Nicaraguan women's movements to reform laws, provide services for survivors, transform gender norms, and increase women's knowledge of their human rights.²⁹⁵

In Europe, the Istanbul Convention sets the standards for prevention, protection, and prosecution of violence against women and domestic violence. Implementation is monitored by an independent

expert body and a Committee of the Parties. So far, 20 baseline evaluations have been completed and published, although evidence about impacts on outcomes are lacking.²⁹⁶ For example, evaluation of Poland's compliance includes a regulation allowing law enforcement agencies to temporarily evict suspected domestic abusers from their place of residence. The evaluation also exposed administrative burdens requiring victims to prove they showed "sufficient resistance" during assaults. Turkey withdrew from the agreement in 2021, causing international backlash. At the same time, there are discussions about additional countries, such as Moldova, joining the convention.²⁹⁷

Italy has enacted successive National Action Plans (NAPs) to address violence against women. Italy's NAP supported the establishment of a National Observatory on violence in 2016 to monitor the implementation of the NAPs and identify best practices.²⁹⁸ The second NAP, approved in 2017, addressed victims' empowerment, preventing secondary victimization, and focused on the needs of the children orphaned by femicides.²⁹⁹

Croatia has adopted its fourth National Strategy of Protection against Domestic Violence, the most recent covering 2017-2022, with prevention programs, harmonizing Croatian legislation with international requirements, and providing financial support to shelters and counselling centers.³⁰⁰ Evidence on impacts is not yet available.

In Asia, relatively recent laws against domestic violence face significant enforcement challenges but show promise. China's first domestic violence law took effect in 2016, creating new protections for survivors through comprehensive legal procedures including protection orders (similar to restraining orders) and compulsory intervention procedures. The Chinese law prohibits physical, mental, and other violations committed by family members on other family members but does not explicitly include sexual violence such as marital rape.³⁰¹ By December 2019, courts in China had issued 5,749 protection orders for domestic violence victims, compared to only 687 in 2016.³⁰² The latest data from the Ministry of Public Security claims that the police stopped or prevented more than six million incidents of domestic violence in the past four years.³⁰³ However, many service providers reportedly lack the awareness and training to sufficiently manage domestic violence cases, and existing shelters are chronically underused due to inadequate services and strict eligibility requirements.³⁰⁴ While some of the data may be outdated, a 2016 report noted that only 149 persons were admitted to the 2,000 odd shelters set up for victims of domestic violence.³⁰⁵ Nonetheless, the law appears to be subject to rollout. By November 2019, various levels of governments in 24 provinces, municipalities, and autonomous regions had issued directives on aspects of the domestic violence law, including guidelines for warning letters, protection orders, and mandatory reporting.³⁰⁶

Nepal's 2009 *Domestic Violence (Offence and Punishment) Act* aims to punish violent acts within the family or at home and provide justice for victims for domestic violence.³⁰⁷ This law allows victims of domestic violence to file a complaint with the police, the local government, or a women's commission within 90 days.³⁰⁸ However, there are implementation constraints: officials and advocates report that they have received very little training and lack sufficient resources to carry out their tasks.³⁰⁹ One study found that between March and July 2020, only 4% of domestic violence incidents reported to the police were forwarded for prosecution, and analysis found that 42% were sent to mediation, often in violation of the rules prohibiting out-of-court settlements of serious cases.³¹⁰ Nonetheless, there has been some progress. Nepal opened its first one-stop crisis center in 2011 in its central and far-western regions, which are being placed in hospitals around the country.³¹¹ These one-stop crisis centers, while not mandated by law, offer multi-faceted services to women in a healthcare environment, placing support services inside hospitals and training providers to identify and refer abused patients. In 2015,

the government developed a protocol to help health providers identify and refer more patients to the crisis centers.³¹²

In contrast, Russia has adopted legislative and policy changes in the opposite direction despite a high prevalence of femicide, domestic violence, abduction, female genital mutilation and other forms of gender-based violence against women.³¹³ In 2017, the Russian Parliament passed a law making any act of domestic violence that does not cause significant injury requiring hospital treatment, an administrative rather than criminal offense.³¹⁴ First-time offenders can walk away with fines as low as 5,000 rubles (\$88).³¹⁵ A fifth of all Russian women have been physically abused by a partner, and an estimated 14,000 women in the country die as a result of domestic violence each year.³¹⁶

As Chapter 2 underlined, many countries in Latin America experience very high rates of interpersonal violence. A number of governments have responded with national strategies and various laws and programs to address violence. Box 5.2 reviews some selected experiences prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Box 5.2. National Strategies to Combat Interpersonal Violence in Central and South America: Selected Experiences

In 2015, *El Salvador* launched a five-year, 2 billion dollar program, "Plan El Salvador Seguro" ("PESS") aiming to prevent crime and violence, improve the criminal justice system, rehabilitate and reintegrate former inmates, protect victims, and strengthen institutional support. While authorities reported that PESS reduced homicides and other violent crimes, other sources indicate that violence increased. Reports suggest that the increase in violence is due, in part, to the use of armed police forces to effectuate the program's policies, including through state-sanctioned extrajudicial killings.

In 2019, PESS was replaced with the Territorial Control Plan ("TCP"), with many of the same goals and initiatives. Current El Salvadoran President Nayib Bukele credits the TCP for recent purportedly significant declines in homicide rates, according to official statistics, falling from 2,398 in 2019 to 1,322 in 2020. Others argue that this was due to other factors, with reports of the government offered privileges to imprisoned gang members in exchange for gang commitment to lower homicide rates.

Over the past decade, *Honduras* has adopted various legislative measures with the stated aim of reducing violence. For example, in 2011, Honduras enacted "La Ley de Seguridad Poblacional", levying taxes to increase government spending on security, defense, and justice. Laws were passed to reduce gender-based violence, including establishing the offense of femicide in the Criminal Code (2013) and supporting women's rights via the International "Plan Nacional Contra la Violencia contra La Mujer" (2014-2022). This National Plan provided for the prosecution of gender-based crimes and provided support for survivors. However, reports indicate that these laws were not properly implemented, and there were delays in judicial proceedings, among other problems.

COVID-19 movement restrictions were associated with decreases in violence, which subsequently rose back to pre-pandemic levels, which has been linked to inter-gang warfare, ineffective law enforcement and economic pressures. Reports indicate that some gangs used the COVID-19 pandemic to increase recruitment efforts and launch attacks on rival gangs. In response, the Honduran government dispatched military forces to communities and imposed military rule over prisons. At the

same time, however, a law aimed at recognizing and funding safe houses for survivors of violence has been stalled in the National Congress since 2019.

From 2007-2011, *Ecuador* enacted a series of programs and policies to reduce violence, including a law in 2007 to "legalize" gangs. Through legalization, gangs were remade as "cultural associations" that could register with the government, receive public grants, and benefit from social and cultural programming. Some reports cite these efforts as a cause of a significant reduction in the homicide rate, from 22 per 100,000 in 2011 to 5 in 2017.

However, interpersonal violence significantly increased during the pandemic in Ecuador, and violent deaths increased by 53% from 2020 to 2021, the highest since 2011. The government attributes the rise in violence to gangs and drug trafficking. This prompted current President Guillermo Lasso to declare a state of emergency in October 2021 and to deploy armed forces to especially violent areas. However, media reports suggest that increasing crime is due to economic hardship, exacerbated by budget cuts and a lack of investment in certain areas of the government.

Sources: Nina Lakhani, "Trying to End Gang Bloodshed in El Salvador," Aljazeera America, January 19, 2015; Members of the Civil Society, "What El Salvador Does Not Recognize: Civil Organizations' Report on Cases of Forced movement due to Violence 2017-2018. What El Salvador Does Not Recognize.pdf; see also Roberto Valencia, "La Fase 2 del Plan Control Territorial es parecida a lo que planteaba el Plan El Salvador Seguro." El Faro. January 11, 2019. "La Fase 2 del Plan Control Territorial es parecida a lo que planteaba el Plan El Salvador Seguro"; Paola Nagovitch, "Explainer: Navib Bukele's Territorial Control Plan." Americas Society: Council of the Americas; Washington Office on Latin America,"Crime and Insecurity in Honduras: Evaluating State Capacity to Reduce Violence; Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada,"Honduras: Domestic violence, including legislation and protection available to victims." Dec. 10, 2013 Honduras: Domestic violence, including legislation and protection available to victims (2010-November 2013); The Advocates for Human Rights,"Honduras' Compliance with the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights: Suggested List of Issues Relating to Violence Against Women." 8681; United States Department of State: Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor, "2019 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Ecuador." Ecuador - United States Department of State; Sigal Samuel, "Ecuador legalized gangs, murder rates plummeted." (2019). Ecuador legalized gangs like the Latin Kings. Murder rates plummeted; Boris Miranda, "Ecuador 'Legalizes' Gangs and Slashes Murder Rate." BBC News Mundo, (2018). Ecuador 'Legalizes' Gangs and Slashes Murder Rate; Stefano Pozzebon, "El Salvador proclaims state of emergency as homicides soar." CNN, 2022; Human Rights Watch, "El Salvador Events of 2021."; Maryanne Murray Buechner, "UNICEF Inside Look: Coping with COVID-19 In El Salvador.", 2020

Media and communications

Communications programs, often in the form of "edutainment", aim to change existing cultural beliefs about gender roles, equality and relationship dynamics on a large scale. While it is difficult to quantify changes in attitudes, the overall evidence suggests that there are positive changes in the beliefs and attitudes of people after being exposed to media content that spreads knowledge on healthy relationships and gender equality. However, impacts on actual IPV experiences have not been documented.

One prominent IPV prevention program using media channels is Soul City of South Africa, which ran between 1994 and 2015. The program used a weekly TV drama to educate the public on intimate partner violence as well as other issues such as HIV and alcohol abuse. The series included one-hour television episodes, radio drama episodes, booklets and an advertising campaign.³¹⁷ Running over 10 seasons in South Africa, the series has been associated with increased levels of support seeking and support giving behavior. Although the impact on IPV rates is unknown, reported attitude shifts were

associated with the intervention, with a 10% increase in respondents disagreeing that domestic violence was a private affair and 22% shift in perceptions of social norms on this issue. ³¹⁸

A clustered randomized controlled intervention in Nigeria invited young people to view screenings of a local television series, MTV Suga, which fuses sexual health messaging with gripping storylines, while a control group was shown a series with no sexual health messages.³¹⁹ Participants in the trial arm improved knowledge and attitudes, and there was evidence of behaviour change, as rates of a sexually transmitted infection (chlamydia) was lower relative to the control group.

Bell Bajao launched in India in 2008 and combined a media campaign with community mobilization activities. Various media channels including television, radio, print and internet were used to spread messages on women's rights and domestic violence, while workshops and training sessions were conducted to educate the public on the same issues. Significant changes in attitude towards IPV were reported, with increased numbers of people reporting that taking action and standing up against violence.

The Population Media Center (PMC) supported *Saliwansai* (Puppet on a String), a radio drama that aired in Sierra Leone between 2012 and 2014, with an audience of 3 million, and episodes featured different stories of four women who experienced IPV, with each story ending in a way that empowered the women and brought the perpetrators to justice.³²⁰ While exposure to the drama resulted in listeners being 1.6 times more likely than non-listeners to say they know of an organization or people that advocate against domestic violence, the impacts on IPV rates is unknown. Another PMC radio serial drama is Nau Em Taim (Now is the Time) that aired between 2011 and 2013 in Papua New Guinea. Similarly, this program led listeners to be more likely to seek domestic violence-related services,³²¹ but the impacts on IPV are unknown.

While the intentional use of media can work to shift beliefs and attitudes on IPV, some commentators have suggested that combining community mobilization activities with media campaigns is more effective than media/communications methods alone.³²²

Emerging Conclusions on What Works

Overall, results from violence prevention programs from around the world show enormous promise. While a 2020 assessment by WhatWorks of 15 IPV programs, mostly in developing countries between 2007 and 2019, notes that the differences in planning, quality, execution, staffing and target groups mean that results vary across programs,³²³ it is clear that valuable evidence is accumulating. However there are also some gaps – for example, an evidence gap map about research on IPV prevention programs in low and middle income countries found that there were gaps in evidence targeting the institution or society level, as well as around lesbian, bisexual, gay, transgender and queer partners.³²⁴

Two key, inter-related approaches emerge as most promising and cost effective from our review. First, interventions that target specific at-risk places, people, and behaviors, and second, investing in changing norms and behaviors, both at the community level, and at the level of individual attitudes. Successful interventions often adopt multi-sectoral approaches.³²⁵

Since prevailing norms at the individual and community levels may underpin the use of violence as a means of exerting power or resolving conflict, an increasingly prominent theme is that violence

reduction efforts need to transform harmful gender norms and be anchored in the community if they are to galvanize change.³²⁶ This is central to efforts to combat IPV, and efforts to combat gang and other forms of violence are also increasingly seeking to addressing harmful gender norms.³²⁷

Individual, couple-based and group-based programs often adopt similar methods in terms of target audience and the inclusion of men in discussions and workshops, although individual and couple-based programs tend to involve smaller groups and more tailored approaches. Group-based programs cater to larger numbers of people from more mixed backgrounds, and usually work with a general curriculum in workshops and training sessions. While WhatWorks suggests that it is better to combine men and women when carrying out the intervention programs -- as in Violence and Alcohol Treatment Program in Zambia, Gender Socialization Program in Nigeria, Indaskyikirwa in Rwanda, SASA! in Uganda and Tostan in Senegal -- findings from some same-sex interventions suggest that they can work to transform gender norms and reduce IPV. Results from working with girls, as well as Promundo's work on changing masculine norms show that programs that have same sex target groups have a significant impact in reducing forms of violence.³²⁸

This review did uncover some useful cost information. One key problem is the lack of comparability across cost measures used – some studies measure cost per participant, others per incident prevented, and a number simply report the total budget spent. We identified fewer than 30 evaluations (16 evaluations from developing country and 13 from developed country settings) with relevant data on costs and impacts. In our sample, the costs range from \$0.01 per person reached by TV advertisement to \$58,283 per child in a "Fast Track Intervention". In interventions where the cost per incident prevented was reported, for the Cure Violence program, this ranges from \$3,577 in Trinidad and Tobago to \$4,500 in cities across the United States.³²⁹ For many interventions, the costs are reported as annual budgets, and vary enormously.³³⁰

Nonetheless a recent systemic review of economic evaluations of violence prevention, in high income countries, concluded that most violence prevention programs yield good value for money. We now turn to look at the evidence of effectiveness of broader legal reforms and prohibitions designed to reduce violence.
Statistical Tables

1: Homicide, assault and intimate partner violence, by country and gender, most recent year

		Homicio	de	Ass	ault victi	ms	Intimate Partner Violence
	Rate per 100,000				rcentage tion, age older		Percentage of population, age 15 and older
	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male	Female
Country/Year		2016-202	0*	2017-2021*			2018
Afghanistan	6.7	0.9	12.2	13.1	6.7	19.9	33.6
Albania	2.1	0.6	3.6	1.2	0.6	1.9	5.1
Algeria	1.3	0.4	2.3	8.5	8.5	8.4	9.4*
Andorra	2.6						
Angola							22.1
Antigua and Barbuda	3.1	2.0	4.3		:		
Argentina	5.1	1.8	8.7	10.3	10.3	10.3	3.7
Armenia	1.8	1.0	2.6	1.0	0.8	1.3	4.5
Australia	0.9	0.6	1.2	1.4	0.8	2.1	2
Austria	0.7	0.8	0.6	9.1	9.9	8.3	2.8
Azerbaijan	2.3	1.6	3.0	0.8	0.9	0.7	4
Bahamas	18.6	5.4	32.4				
Bahrain	0.1	0.2	0.2	8.6	5.1	10.7	
Bangladesh	2.4			12.6	12.8	12.4	20.8
Barbados	16.7	3.4	31.0				27.0*
Belarus	2.4	1.7	3.1	2.2	2.3	2.2	5.2
Belgium				6.6	5.6	7.6	3.3
Belize	25.7	5.5	46.0				6.6
Benin	i			12.0	14.9	8.9	13.2
Bermuda	7.9						
Bhutan	2.5	1.4	3.4	8.2**	7.3**	9.0**	8.4
Bolivia	7.0	5.3	8.7	6.9	8.0	5.8	15.5
Bosnia and Herzegovina	1.2	0.6	1.8	5.1	5.6	4.5	2.7
Botswana	:			12.3	11.3	13.5	15.2
Brazil	20.9	3.5	38.8	6.1	7.2	5.0	5.3
Brunei Darussalam	:						
Bulgaria	1.0	0.7	1.3	4.5	3.2	5.8	4.1
Burkina Faso	1.3			10.4	10.4	10.4	10.6
Burundi	6.1	2.3	9.9	13.8	12.2	15.5	20.1
Cabo Verde	6.5	3.3	9.7				10.2
Cambodia				2.3	2.6	1.9	8.2
Cameroon	1.2	0.9	1.4	17.3	18.8	15.8	19.0
Canada	2.0	0.9	3.0	1.5	1.1	2.0	1.7

Central African		I			l		I
Republic				25.4	19.1	32.2	18.1
Chad				13.2	14.8	11.8	14.6
Chile	3.9	1.0	7.0	7.0	6.3	7.7	4.8
						3.2***	
China	0.5			2.8****	2.4****	*	5.9
Colombia	22.6	3.5	42.5	11.6	10.5	12.7	10.0
Comoros				8.7	8.7	8.6	7.3
Congo				20.2	19.2	21.3	
Congo, DR				14.3	14.6	14.0	31.9
Costa Rica	11.2	1.9	20.4	5.1	3.2	7.0	5.8
Cote d'Ivoire				9.9	9.2	10.5	15.4
Croatia	1.0	0.9	1.0	5.2	4.9	5.6	2.8
Cuba	5.1	2.1	8.0				3.4
Cyprus	1.2	0.7	1.8	2.6	3.2	1.9	3.0
Czechia	0.7	0.7	0.7	2.0	1.7	2.3	2.9
Denmark	1.0	0.6	1.3	2.3	2.5	2.2	2.0
Djibouti							
Dominica	20.8						
Dominican Republic	8.9	2.4	15.4	9.8	8.6	11.0	7.8
Ecuador	7.8	1.9	13.6	10.6	9.1	12.2	6.6
Egypt				5.1	4.6	5.6	11.9
El Salvador	37.2	6.7	70.4	4.4	4.1	4.7	4.8
Equatorial Guinea							25.6
Eritrea							
Estonia	3.2	1.4	5.1	2.6	2.0	3.3	2.7
Eswatini	11.6			7.8	8.6	6.7	16.0
Ethiopia				11.4	12.1	10.7	22.8
Fiji	2.2						16.4
Finland	1.6	1.1	2.1	1.4	1.2	1.5	5.6
France	1.3	0.9	1.7	6.2	4.7	7.9	3.5
Gabon				14.3	15.6	12.8	20.9
Gambia				29.6	28.2	31.1	9.0
Georgia	 1.9	 0.9	3.7	1.9	2.0	1.8	2.2
Germany	0.9	0.9	1.0	8.4	10.0	6.6	3.0*
Ghana	2.1			19.6	19.1	20.1	9.5
	30.3	0.0	00.1	0.7	0.3	1.2	0.0
	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.3	0.8	1.7
, ,							
0,							
Grana Greece Grenada Guatemala Guinea Guinea-Bissau Guyana Haiti Honduras Hong Kong, China (SAR) Hungary Iceland	$\begin{array}{c} 2.1 \\ 0.8 \\ 14.3 \\ 26.0 \\ \\ 1.2 \\ 20.0 \\ 6.7 \\ 36.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 0.8 \\ 1.5 \\ \end{array}$	 0.3 1.8 7.0 10.0 1.0 6.6 0.2 0.8 0.6	 1.2 26.6 37.6 29.8 12.5 66.1 0.4 0.9 2.3	3.2 7.9 14.2 13.4 6.7	$ \begin{array}{r} 19.1 \\ 3.9 \\ \\ 7.5 \\ 14.7 \\ \\ 10.9 \\ 6.3 \\ 0.3 \\ 2.3 \\ 4.1 \\ \end{array} $	2.5 8.2 13.6 16.0 7.2	3.7 5.6 6.3 18.6 8.5 10.1 6.8

India	3.0	2.5	3.4	8.1	7.6	8.5	15.9
Indonesia				3.2	2.8	3.5	7.5
Iran	2.2			3.5	3.4	3.7	15.2
Iraq				9.9	7.0	12.7	45.3*
Ireland	0.7	0.2	1.1	8.7	10.5	6.8	2.7
Israel	1.5	0.6	2.2	5.8	4.9	6.7	4.4
Italy	0.5	0.4	0.6	3.0	2.8	3.1	2.2
Jamaica	44.7	8.7	79.5	3.0	3.2	2.7	5.7
Japan	0.3	0.3	0.2	1.7	2.5	0.8	3.0
Jordan	1.0	0.4	1.5	7.0	5.1	8.6	12.1
Kazakhstan	3.2	1.6	5.0	2.0	2.1	1.9	4.9
Kenya	4.0	1.9	6.1	19.9	21.2	18.6	21.4
Kiribati							19.5
Korea (DPR)							
Korea, Republic of	0.6	0.5	0.6	 1.3	 1.3		
Kosovo	1.2			1.6	1.2	2.0	
Kuwait				4.2	5.4	3.6	
Kyrgyzstan	2.2			2.1	2.2	1.9	
Lao PDR				1.7	0.6	2.9	6.7
Latvia	2.6	2.8	2.4	1.9	1.9	1.9	4.4
Lebanon	1.9			8.9	5.9	12.0	8.9*
Lesotho	43.6			5.7	2.0	9.9	14.3
Liberia				27.8	25.5	30.1	23.2
Libya				13.9	10.0	17.0	
Liechtenstein	2.6						
Lithuania	3.7	2.0	5.7	3.2	4.2	1.9	4.1
Luxembourg	0.2	0.0	0.3	3.2	3.8	2.7	2.7
Macao, China (SAR)	0.3	0.6	0.7				
Madagascar				12.1	10.3	14.1	35.0*
Malawi				8.3	6.0	10.9	15.2
Malaysia				3.8	2.1	5.6	
Maldives	0.6	2.6	9.5	4.0	3.4	4.6	5.3
Mali				19.4	16.7	22.2	16.7
Malta	1.6	0.5	2.7	2.4	1.3	3.7	3.1
Marshall Islands							15.0
Mauritania				9.0	9.0	9.0	
Mauritius	2.9	2.2	3.7	2.4	2.1	2.7	18.4*
Mexico	28.4	6.0	51.0	6.8	5.3	8.5	8.9
Micronesia	0.9	1.8					18.8
Moldova	3.9	2.0	5.9	3.3	4.4	2.1	8.2
Monaco							
Mongolia	6.0	2.2	9.9	2.8	1.1	4.6	9.3
Montenegro	2.9	0.9	4.8	4.2	3.2	5.1	3.5
Morocco	1.3	0.5	2.2				8.5
Mozambique				12.0	10.1	14.1	15.7
Myanmar	2.3	0.2	3.9	6.3	5.5	7.0	8.7
Namibia	11.9	6.9	17.3	15.0	13.9	16.3	14.9
Nauru							15.5

1			11.6	10.4	12.9	10.3
						3.5
						3.2
						5.6
						13.9
						11.7
						3.3
						3.4
					4.5	14.6
						10.9
						17.1
11.1	2.4	19.8	2.7	1.8	3.6	6.4
						25.5
						4.9
						9.1
						4.9
	0.5	1.0				2.6
			2.8	2.2	3.6	3.6
18.5	3.1	35.6				
1.5	1.0	2.0	3.3	2.1	4.5	6.7
7.3	3.5	11.7	3.2	2.0	4.6	6.0*
			16.2	18.3	13.6	21.5
22.7				·		
25.2	4.3	51.1				
	12.9	33.9				
6.6						13.5
						15.5
0.3			5.0	5.4	4.5	10.8
1.0	0.5	1.5	4.4	5.1	3.5	3.0
10.2						
			27.2	25.5	29.1	17.2
0.2	0.2	0.2	1.1	0.7	1.5	2.0
1.2	1.0	1.2	1.4	1.6	1.3	4.4
0.5	0.6	0.5	2.8	3.4	2.2	2.6
						23.6
			6.4***	7.1***	5.7***	21.2*
33.5	9.5	64.1	16.0	13.9	18.3	11.0
			25.4	22.8	28.0	24.0
			3.7	3.4	4.0	2.6
0.6	0.5	0.8	5.7	J. T	1.0	2.0
0.6	0.5 2.3	0.8 4.8	3.5	3.4	3.5	3.3
3.5	2.3	4.8	3.5	3.4	3.5	
						3.3
	6.7 7.5 4.4 0.7 0.9 18.5 1.5 7.3 22.7 25.2 17.2 6.6 0.8 0.3 1.0 10.2 0.2 1.2 0.5 33.5	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.6 0.5 0.7 2.6 1.1 3.7 7.9 1.6 14.3 $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ 1.2 0.4 1.9 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.5 3.8 11.2 0.9 0.6 1.3 11.1 2.4 19.8 $$ $$ $$ 0.9 0.6 1.3 11.1 2.4 19.8 $$ $$ $$ 0.7 0.5 1.0 0.9 $$ $$ 1.5 1.0 2.0 7.3 3.5 11.7 $$ $$ $$ $$ $$	0.6 0.5 0.7 3.2 2.6 1.1 3.7 3.4 7.9 1.6 14.3 6.3 18.5 15.8 1.2 0.4 1.9 3.8 0.6 0.6 0.6 1.4 0.5 0.4 0.5 3.8 4.6 11.2 0.9 0.6 1.3 8.3 11.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 0.9 0.6 1.3 8.3 11.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 0.7 0.5 1.0 3.0 0.0 0.7 0.5 1.0 3.1 0.7 0.5	0.6 0.5 0.7 3.2 2.4 2.6 1.1 3.7 3.4 3.6 7.9 1.6 14.3 6.3 4.7 $$ $$ $$ 18.5 21.5 $$ $$ $$ 15.8 16.9 1.2 0.4 1.9 3.8 4.7 0.6 0.6 1.4 1.9 0.6 11.2 $$ $$ $$ $$ 0.5 0.4 0.5 $$ $$ 3.8 $$ $$ $$ $$ 3.8 $$ $$ $$ $$ 0.9 0.6 1.3 8.3 7.1 11.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 1.8 $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ 0.7 0.5 1.0 3.1 3.3 0.7 0.5 <	0.6 0.5 0.7 3.2 2.4 4.0 2.6 1.1 3.7 3.4 3.6 3.2 7.9 1.6 14.3 6.3 4.7 8.0 $$ $$ $$ 11.5 21.5 15.5 $$ $$ $$ 11.7 12.2 0.4 1.9 3.8 4.7 2.8 0.6 0.6 0.6 1.4 1.9 1.0 0.5 0.4 0.5 $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ 0.6 0.6 1.3 8.3 7.1 9.6 11.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 1.8 3.6 1.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 1.8 3.6 1.1 2.4 19.8 2.7 1.8 3.6 1.1 2.4 19.8 0.2 5.6 7.5

Switzerland	0.5	0.6	0.5	5.6	5.8	5.4	1.2
Syrian Arab Republic	19.7	8.8	30.6				23.0*
Tajikistan	0.9	0.2	1.8	2.3	4.1	0.4	12.0
Tanzania	6.5*	2.8*	12.0*	3.6	3.6	3.5	21.7
Thailand				1.8	1.3	2.3	7.1
Timor-Leste	4.1						24.6
Togo				12.5	12.9	12.2	11.2
Tonga	2.9	1.9	3.8				12.1
Trinidad and Tobago	38.6*	1.9*	57.7*	6.6	7.8	5.3	5.6
Tunisia	4.8	1.9	7.6	10.9	9.9	11.9	8.3
Turkey	2.4	1.1	3.8	6.2	3.8	8.5	9.5
Turkmenistan				0.6	0.6	0.7	
Tuvalu							15.4
Uganda	9.8	4.0	19.3	20.6	23.4	17.6	24.2
Ukraine	6.2	1.9	11.1	3.9	3.0	4.9	8.3
United Arab Emirates	0.7	0.7	0.6	7.5	6.5	7.9	
United Kingdom				8.6	7.4	9.8	3.6
United States	6.3	2.2	7.7	1.9	1.2	2.6	4.2
Uruguay	11.3	2.7	20.6	4.8	4.9	4.8	3.4
Uzbekistan	1.2	0.8	1.6	1.3	0.5	2.1	
Vanuatu	0.3	0.7	0.0				24.2
Venezuela	49.9	5.3	93.9	12.0	10.7	13.3	7.3
Viet Nam				3.5	3.3	3.8	7.3
Yemen				8.1	8.1	8.1	
Zambia	5.4			16.6	20.1	12.8	25.2
Zimbabwe				5.7	4.9	6.5	15.8

Notes:

* Data are from the UN Women Global Database on Violence Against women. (http://evaw-globaldatabase.unwomen.org/en). Based on DHS Data.

** Refers to 2015

*** Refers to 2016

**** Refers to 2022

Countries excluded due to lack of data: Brunei Darussalem, Dijibouti, Eritrea, Korea (DRK), Monaco, San Marino, and Qatar.

Definitions:

Homicide (intentional): Intentional homicide is defined as unlawful death purposefully inflicted on a person by another person(s).

Homicide IPFM: Intentional homicide by intimate partner or family member.

Assault: Percentage of people (both sexes) ages 15 and older who answered "Yes" to the question: "Within the past 12 months, have you been assaulted or mugged?"

Intimate partner violence: Percentage of ever-partnered women ages 15 and older in a given population who have been subjected to physical and/or sexual violence by a current or former intimate partner in the 12 months preceding the survey.

Sources:

Homicide: UN ODC (2022), https://dataunodc.un.org/content/homicide-country-data. Downloaded on April 7, 2022

Assault: Gallup's World Poll database, downloaded on April 25, 2022

Intimate Partner Violence: UN SDG

Database,https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/dataContacts?selectIndicator=&selectAgency=who, downloaded on April 7, 2022

2: Homicide, assault and intimate partner violence, by regional group and gender, most recent year

	Homicide Rate per 100,000			Ass	ault victi	ms	Intimate Partner Violence		
					nge of pop 15 and old		Percentage of population, age 15 and older		
	All	Female	Male	All	Female	Male	Female		
Group/Year		2016-2020			2017-2021		2018		
Developing regions									
Arab States	3.1	1.6	5.7	7.4	6.6	8.2	16.0		
East Asia and the Pacific	0.9	0.6	4.9	2.9	2.5	3.3	6.4		
Europe and Central Asia	4.5	2.2	7.2	3.5	2.5	4.7	7.0		
Latin America and the Caribbean	20.4	3.9	36.9	7.8	7.6	8.1	6.8		
South Asia	3.0	2.4	3.6	8.0	7.6	8.4	16.2		
Sub-Saharan Africa	9.9	4.2	22.9	14.4	14.6	14.2	18.4		
Developed regions									
Europe (developed countries)	0.9	0.7	1.2	5.2	5.0	5.4	3.3		
North America and the Pacific (developed countries)	4.2	1.5	5.2	1.8	1.5	2.1	3.6		
By level of income									
High income	2.6	1.1	3.4	3.5	3.3	3.8	3.6		
Upper-middle income	6.8	3.7	29.2	4.4	3.9	5.0	6.9		
Lower-middle income	3.4	2.2	4.7	7.6	7.4	7.8	13.7		
Low income	8.4	3.5	17.6	13.9	13.6	14.3	22.6		
By level of human deve	lopment								
Very high human development	3.1	1.4	4.4	3.8	3.3	4.3	4.3		
High human development	6.5	3.4	30.1	4.2	3.8	4.5	7.0		
Medium human development	3.6	2.4	4.7	8.6	8.3	8.9	16.2		
Low human development	6.5	2.5	13.8	13.4	13.4	13.5	19.3		
Total									
World	4.7	2.3	10.4	6.1	5.7	6.5	10.0		

Sources: As per Table 1 Note: Country groups as defined in Appendix 1

Country Groups:	Europe – developed countries	Sub-Saharan Africa	Latin America and the Caribbean	Europe and Central Asia Albania		
North America and		Angola	Guiliobeun	Armenia		
Pacific – developed	Andorra	Benin	Antigua and Barbuda	Azerbaijan		
countries	Austria	Botswana	Argentina	Belarus		
A 1'	Belgium	Burkina Faso	Bahamas	Bosnia and Herzegovina		
Australia	Bulgaria	Burundi	Barbados	Kazakhstan		
Canada	Croatia	Cabo Verde	Belize	Kosovo		
Japan	Cyprus	Cameroon	Bermuda	Moldova		
New Zealand	Czechia	Central African Republic	Bolivia	Montenegro		
United States	Denmark	Chad	Brazil	North Macedonia		
East Asia and Pacific	Estonia	Comoros	Chile	Russian Federation		
East Asia and Pacific	Finland	Congo	Colombia	Serbia		
Brunei Darussalam	France	DR Congo	Costa Rica	Tajikistan		
Cambodia	Germany	Cote d'Ivoire	Cuba	Turkey		
China	Greece	Equatorial Guinea	Dominica	Turkmenistan		
Fiji	Hungary	Eritrea	Dominican Republic	Ukraine		
Hong Kong	Iceland	Eswatini	Ecuador	Uzbekistan		
Indonesia	Ireland	Ethiopia	El Salvador	Georgia		
Kiribati	Israel	Gabon	Grenada	Ocolgia		
DRP Korea	Italy	Gambia	Guatemala	Arab States		
Korea, Republic of	Liechtenstein	Ghana	Guyana			
Lao PDR	Lithuania	Guinea	Haiti	Algeria		
Macao, China (SAR)	Luxembourg	Guinea-Bissau	Honduras	Bahrain		
Malaysia	Malta	Kenya	Jamaica			
Marshall Islands	Monaco	Lesotho	Mexico	Djibouti		
Micronesia	Netherlands	Liberia	Nicaragua	Egypt		
Mongolia	Norway	Madagascar	Panama	Iraq		
Myanmar	Poland	Malawi	Paraguay	Jordan		
Nauru	Portugal	Mali	Peru	Kuwait		
Palau	Romania	Mauritania	Saint Kitts and Nevis	Lebanon		
Papua New Guinea	San Marino	Mauritius	Saint Lucia			
Philippines	Slovakia	Mozambique	Saint Vincent and the	Libya		
Samoa	Slovenia	Namibia	Grenadines	Morocco		
Singapore	Spain	Niger	Suriname	Oman		
Solomon Islands	Sweden	Nigeria	Trinidad and Tobago	Palestine		
Thailand	Switzerland	Rwanda	Uruguay	Qatar		
Timor-Leste	United Kingdom	Sao Tome and Principe	Venezuela, Bolivarian Rep.	•		
Tonga	Latvia	Senegal	of	Saudi Arabia		
Tuvalu		Seychelles	Puerto Rico	Somalia		
Vanuatu	South Asia	Sierra Leone		Sudan		
Vietnam	Afghanistan	South Africa		Syria		
	Bangladesh	South Sudan		Tunisia		
	Bhutan	Tanzania		United Arab Emirates		
	India	Togo				
	Iran, Islamic Rep. of	Uganda		Yemen		
	Maldives	Zambia				
	Nepal	Zimbabwe				
	Pakistan					
	Sri Lanka					

Appendix 1: Country groups

References

¹ World Health Organization. *Violence, health and sustainable development: fact sheet on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): health targets*. No. WHO/EURO: 2020-2368-42123-58045. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, 2020; accessed July 4, 2022, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/340811/WHO-EURO-2020-2368-42123-58045-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>

² World Health Organization. *Violence Against Women Prevalence Estimates, 2018: Global, Regional and National Prevalence Estimates for Intimate Partner Violence Against Women and Global and Regional Prevalence Estimates for Non-Partner Sexual Violence Against Women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; accessed June 6, 2022, <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240022256</u>*

³ See https://www.smallarmssurvey.org/highlight/2022-update-small-arms-surveys-global-violent-deaths-gvd-

<u>database; and</u> Vos, Theo, Stephen S. Lim, Cristiana Abbafati, Kaja M. Abbas, Mohammad Abbasi, Mitra Abbasifard, Mohsen Abbasi-Kangevari et al. "Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019." The Lancet 396, no. 10258 (2020): 1204-1222.

⁴ Vos, Theo, Stephen S. Lim, Cristiana Abbafati, Kaja M. Abbas, Mohammad Abbasi, Mitra Abbasifard, Mohsen Abbasi-Kangevari et al. "Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019." *The Lancet* 396, no. 10258 (2020): 1204-1222.
 ⁵ For an excellent review, see *The First Political Order. How Sex Shapes Governance and National Security Worldwide*. Valerie M. Hudson, Donna Lee Bowen, and Perpetua Lynne Nielsen. Columbia University Press. 2020
 ⁶ Where the difference is greater than 3 percentage points. In 35 countries the risk of women experiencing intimate partner violence is significantly higher than their risk of assault. (5 pp)

⁷ Evidence Brief: Making the Case for Peace in Our Cities: Halving Urban Violence by 2030 https://catcher.sandiego.edu/items/usd/I_P%20Urban%20Violence%20Evidence%20Brief%203.4.20.pdf

⁸ Cockayne, Bosetti, Hussain. Preventing Violent Urban Conflict.

https://collections.unu.edu/eserv/UNU:6432/PreventingViolentUrbanConflict-Aug-2017.pdf

⁹ Valuable recent systematic reviews include: Jewkes, R., Willan., S., Lori Heise, , Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls."" *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series*. South South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020) and Emilomo Ogbe, Stacy Harmon, Rafael Van den Bergh and Olivier Degomme, "A systematic review of intimate partner violence interventions focused on improving social support and mentla heath outcomes of survivors", *PloS one*,15 (2020) and Eleanor Dickens, Marie-Eve Augier, Shayda Sabet, Mario Picon and Kristen Rankin, "Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Evidence Gap Map", 3ie (2019).

¹⁰ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections" *Promundo US* (2018).
 ¹¹ Weisburd, David, David P. Farrington, Charlotte Gill, With Mimi Ajzenstadt, Trevor Bennett, Kate Bowers, Michael S. Caudy, Katy Holloway, Shane Johnson, Friedrich Lösel, Jacqueline Mallender, Amanda Perry, Liansheng Larry Tang, Faye Taxman, Cody Telep, Rory Tierney, Maria M. Ttofi, Carolyn Watson, David B. Wilson, and Alese Wooditch, What Works in Crime Prevention and Rehabilitation. An Assessment of Systematic Reviews. Criminology and Public Policy. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12298

¹² Brian Heilman with Gary Barker (2018). Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections. Washington, DC: Promundo-US. https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Masculine-Norms-and-Violence-Making-the-Connection-20180424.pdf ; Elizabeth Rowley and Ndack Diop, *Tostan's Community Empowerment Program in Goudiry, Senegal: Community level change in intimate partner violence and related outcomes.* Evaluation Summary Report. Washington, DC: PATH (2020).

¹³ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections" *Promundo US* (2018).
 ¹⁴ Cure Violence Global. *The Evidence of Effectiveness*. 2021; accessed June 3, 2022, <u>https://cvg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Cure-Violence-Evidence-Summary.pdf</u>

¹⁵ Abramsky, Tanya, Karen Devries, Ligia Kiss, Janet Nakuti, Nambusi Kyegombe, Elizabeth Starmann, Bonnie Cundill et al. "Findings from the SASA! Study: a cluster randomized controlled trial to assess the impact of a community mobilization intervention to prevent violence against women and reduce HIV risk in Kampala, Uganda." *BMC medicine* 12, no. 1 (2014): 1-17.

¹⁶ Doyle, K., & Kato-Wallace, J. (2021). "Program H: A review of the evidence: Nearly two decades of engaging young men and boys in gender equality." Washington, DC: Promundo-US, accessed June 6, 2022,

https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Program-H-Eva.-Report-2-September-2021-V2-Final.pdf ¹⁷ See, for example, Atienzo EE, Baxter SK, Kaltenthaler E. Interventions to prevent youth violence in Latin America: a systematic review. Int J Public Health. 2017 Jan;62(1):15-29. doi: 10.1007/s00038-016-0909-6. Epub 2016 Oct 20. PMID: 27766375; PMCID: PMC5288433.

¹⁸ Community for Understanding Scale Up (2021). "Enhancing Social Norms Programs: An Invitation to Rethink 'Scaling Up' from a Feminist Perspective." Community for Understanding Scale Up.

 ¹⁹ Hoeffler, Anke. "What are the costs of violence?." *Politics, Philosophy & Economics* 16, no. 4 (2017): 422-445.
 ²⁰ On the Economic Analysis of Costs and Benefits of Crime Prevention (Thomsen, 2015) https://www.praeventionstag.de/dokumentation/download.cms?id=2410

²¹ Vos, Theo, Stephen S. Lim, Cristiana Abbafati, Kaja M. Abbas, Mohammad Abbasi, Mitra Abbasifard, Mohsen Abbasi-Kangevari et al. "Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019." The Lancet 396, no. 10258 (2020): 1204-1222. ²² UN Women. *Facts and Figures: Ending Violence against women*; accessed June 6, 2022,

https://www.unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/ending-violence-against-women/facts-and-figures#notes

²³ World Health Organization. *Violence Against Women Prevalence Estimates, 2018: Global, Regional and National Prevalence Estimates for Intimate Partner Violence Against Women and Global and Regional Prevalence Estimates for Non-Partner Sexual Violence Against Women. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; accessed June 6, 2022, https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240022256*

²⁴ Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. *GBD 2019*: *GBD Compare*; accessed June 3, 2022, https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/

²⁵ Vos, Theo, Stephen S. Lim, Cristiana Abbafati, Kaja M. Abbas, Mohammad Abbasi, Mitra Abbasifard, Mohsen Abbasi-Kangevari et al. "Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019." *The Lancet* 396, no. 10258 (2020): 1204-1222.
 ²⁶ Arango, Diana Jimena, Jocelyn Thalassa Deverall Kelly, Jeni Klugman, and Elena Judith Ortiz. "Forced Displacement and Violence Against Women: A Policy Brief." (2021); accessed July 4, 2022,

https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/593151638940044686/pdf/Forced-Displacement-and-Violence-Against-Women-A-Policy-Brief.pdf

²⁷ Arango, Diana Jimena, Jocelyn Thalassa Deverall Kelly, Jeni Klugman, and Elena Judith Ortiz. "Forced Displacement and Violence Against Women: A Policy Brief." (2021); accessed July 4, 2022,

https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/593151638940044686/pdf/Forced-Displacement-and-Violence-Against-Women-A-Policy-Brief.pdf

²⁸ Abramsky, Tanya, Karen Devries, Ligia Kiss, Janet Nakuti, Nambusi Kyegombe, Elizabeth Starmann, Bonnie Cundill et al. "Findings from the SASA! Study: a cluster randomized controlled trial to assess the impact of a community mobilization intervention to prevent violence against women and reduce HIV risk in Kampala, Uganda." *BMC medicine* 12, no. 1 (2014): 1-17.

²⁹ Cure Violence Global. *The Evidence of Effectiveness*. 2021; accessed June 3, 2022, <u>https://cvg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Cure-Violence-Evidence-Summary.pdf</u>

³⁰ Duvvury et al. 2020. Guidance on methods for estimating economic and social costs of violence against women and girls in low and middle income contexts.

³¹ Drake, Elizabeth K., Steve Aos, and Marna G. Miller. "Evidence-based public policy options to reduce crime and criminal justice costs: Implications in Washington State." *Victims and offenders* 4, no. 2 (2009): 170-196.

³² World Health Organization. *Violence, health and sustainable development: fact sheet on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): health targets*. No. WHO/EURO: 2020-2368-42123-58045. World Health Organization. Regional Office

for Europe, 2020; accessed July 4, 2022, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/340811/WHO-EURO-</u>2020-2368-42123-58045-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

³³ Palermo, Tia, Jennifer Bleck, and Amber Peterman. "Tip of the iceberg: reporting and gender-based violence in developing countries." *American journal of epidemiology* 179, no. 5 (2014): 602-612.

³⁴ European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. *Violence Against Women: an EU-wide survey*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. 2014; accessed May 30, 2022,

https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2014/violence-against-women-eu-wide-survey-main-results-report

³⁵ Moreira, Gustavo Carvalho, Ana Lucia Kassouf, and Marcelo Justus. "An estimate of the underreporting of violent crimes against property applying stochastic frontier analysis to the state of Minas Gerais, Brazil." *Nova Economia* 28 (2018): 779-806.

³⁶ See Box 3, p 22-24, in UNODC Global Study on Homicide 2019, <u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/gsh/Booklet2.pdf</u>

³⁷ Stefan Kanis; Steven F. Messner; Manuel P. Eisner; Wilhelm Heitmeyer, "A Cautionary Note about the Use of Estimated Homicide Data for Cross-National Research," *Homicide Studies* 21, no. 4 (November 2017): 312-324
 ³⁸ Roser M and Ritchie M. Our World in Data: *Homicides*; accessed June 1, 2022,

https://ourworldindata.org/homicides.

³⁹ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker. "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections." Washington, DC: Promundo-US. 2018, accessed June 6, 2022, <u>https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Masculine-Norms-and-Violence-Making-the-Connection-20180424.pdf</u>

⁴⁰ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker. "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections." Washington, DC: Promundo-US. 2018, accessed June 6, 2022, <u>https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Masculine-Norms-and-Violence-Making-the-Connection-20180424.pdf</u>

 41 The correlation between the Gallup and ODC series for the 84 countries with data from both is r(84)= .230, p = .036

⁴² Jaitman, Laura, and Nicolás Ajzenman. *Crime concentration and hot spot dynamics in Latin America*. No. IDB-WP-699. IDB Working Paper Series, 2016.

⁴³ Flávia Carbonari, Alys Willman, Federico Manolio, Sofia Reinach and David Marques. "A review of the Evidence and a Global Strategy for Violence Prevention," Pathfinders, 2020, accessed June 6, 2022,

https://www.sdg16hub.org/system/files/2020-10/6c192f_f6036b2b1ecf4fd1a3d7687ff7098a46.pdf

⁴⁴ Weisburd, David. "*The law of crime concentration and the criminology of place.*" Criminology 53, no. 2 (2015): 133-157.

⁴⁵ Lamb, Guy. 2021. "Crime levels, alcohol and COVID-19 lockdowns." Stellenbosch University 24.02.2021. https://www.sun.ac.za/english/Lists/news/DispForm.aspx?ID=8017 accessed 5 July 2022.

⁴⁶ Edelstein, Arnott R, Faull A. *Hotspot Policing for Murder and Robbery: A Cape Town case study*. Institute for Security Studies. 2020; accessed June 1, 2022, <u>https://issafrica.s3.amazonaws.com/site/uploads/sar34.pdf</u>

⁴⁷ Georgetown Institute of Women, Peace and Security and Peace Research Institute of Oslo, 2019, Women Peace and Security Index. Washington DC

⁴⁸ Where the difference is greater than 3 percentage points. In 35 countries the risk of women experiencing intimate partner violence is significantly higher than their risk of assault. (5 pp)

⁴⁹ Spearman rank correlation is r (140) =0.647, p <.001 and R^2 = 0.3515. Spearman rank correlations are used because the data was not normally distributed. Correlation values above r = .7 are typically regarded as significant, between .5 and .7 as moderate.

⁵⁰ The correlation between assault and homicide is r (110) =0.387 and p= <0.001.

⁵¹ There is low positive spearman rank correlation between Intentional Homicide and IPV, r (122) =0.448, p < 0.001. ⁵² Butchart, A. et al 2008, *Manual for estimating the economic costs of injuries due to interpersonal and self-directed violence*

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43837/9789241596367 eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

⁵³ Duvvury, Nata, Patricia Carney, and Huu Minh Nguyen. *Estimating the costs of domestic violence against women in Viet Nam.* UN Women Viet Nam Country Office, 2012, June 16, 2022, <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2013/2/estimating-the-cost-of-domestic-violence-against-women-in-viet-nam</u>

⁵⁴ https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/how-police-compare-different-democracies

⁵⁵ Which Country Spends the Most on Police? https://www.workandmoney.com/s/police-spending-by-country-984701cbc1c340e9

⁵⁶ "Fiscally Standardized Cities". 2022. *LILP*. https://www.lincolninst.edu/research-data/data-toolkits/fiscally-standardized-cities.

⁵⁷ <u>https://costofviolence.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Philly-Report-on-Economic-Impact-of-Gun-Violence-2019.pdf</u>

⁵⁸ While in the US, there is no exact and specific measurement and standard by which pain and suffering damages are calculated, two common methods are used in individual cases: first, multiplying the tangible costs by up to 5, depending on the severity of the injuries, or second, assigning **a** dollar amount for each day of injury.

⁵⁹ Although it is possible that quality of life loss estimates might indirectly capture some work loss.
 ⁶⁰ Hoeffler 2017

⁶¹ Indeed, the authors note that the 2019 estimate is approximately 10 times higher than the 2013 estimate, that was limited to foregone employment compensation. Peterson C, Miller GF, Barnett SB, Florence C. Economic Cost of Injury — United States, 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70:1655–1659.

DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7048a1</u>external icon

⁶² Hoddenbagh, Josh, Susan Elizabeth McDonald, and Ting Zhang. *An estimation of the economic impact of violent victimization in Canada, 2009.* Research and Statistics Division, Department of Justice Canada, 2014, June 16, 2022, https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/fv-vf/rr12 7/rr12 7.pdf

⁶³ Santos, Cristina. "Costs of domestic violence: A life satisfaction approach." *Fiscal Studies* 34, no. 3 (2013): 391-409.
 ⁶⁴ Rhys Oliver, Barnaby Alexander, Stephen Roe and Miriam Wlasny, The economic and social costs of domestic abuse, London: Home Office. Research Report 107, January 2019

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/918897/horr10 7.pdf

⁶⁵ Hoeffler, Anke. "What are the costs of violence?." *Politics, Philosophy & Economics* 16, no. 4 (2017): 422-445. ⁶⁶ Jaitman, Laura (2017) The costs of crime and violence: new evidence and insights in Latin America and the

Caribbean. <u>https://publications.iadb.org/publications/english/document/The-Costs-of-Crime-and-Violence-New-</u> Evidence-and-Insights-in-Latin-America-and-the-Caribbean.pdf

⁶⁷ Heeks, M., Reed, S., Tafsiri, M. and Prince, S. (2018) 'The Economic and Social Costs of Crime'. London: Home Office.

⁶⁸ "The Economic Cost of Gun Violence," Everytown Research & Policy, February 17,

2021, https://everytownresearch.org/report/the-economic-cost-of-gun-violence/.

 69 "The Economic Cost of Gun Violence," Everytown Research & Policy, February 17,

2021, https://everytownresearch.org/report/the-economic-cost-of-gun-violence/.

⁷⁰ USASpending.Gov, <u>https://www.usaspending.gov/explorer/budget_function</u>

⁷¹ Bruce Lawrence et al., "The Consumer Product Safety Commission's Revised Injury Cost Model" (Pacific Institute for Research and Evaluation, February 2018), <u>https://bit.ly/2S5pXPB</u>. It appears that the CDC approach to value the costs of fatal and nonfatal injury includes "medical care, work loss, value of statistical life, and quality of life loss costs" : <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/70/wr/mm7048a1.htm?s_cid=mm7048a1_w</u>

⁷² Hoeffler, Anke. "What are the costs of violence?." *Politics, Philosophy & Economics* 16, no. 4 (2017): 422-445.
 ⁷³ Scaling McCollister 2010

⁷⁴ Schelling, Thomas C. 1968. "The Life You Save May Be Your Own." In *Problems in Public Expenditure Analysis*, edited by Samuel B. Chase, Jr., 127–62. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.

⁷⁵ Viscusi, W. Kip, and Clayton J. Masterman. "Income elasticities and global values of a statistical life." Journal of Benefit-Cost Analysis 8, no. 2 (2017): 226-250.

⁷⁶ Butchart, A. et al 2008, Manual for estimating the economic costs of injuries due to interpersonal and self-directed violence

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43837/9789241596367 eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y ⁷⁷ Peterson C, Miller GF, Barnett SB, Florence C. Economic Cost of Injury — United States, 2019. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70:1655–1659. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7048a1external icon ⁷⁸ Peterson, Cora, Likang Xu, and Curtis Florence. "Average medical cost of fatal and non-fatal injuries by type in the USA." *Injury prevention* 27, no. 1 (2021): 1-10. The databases are publicly available at www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov and www.ibm.com.

⁷⁹ European Commission for the Efficiency of Justice. (2020) "European Judicial Systems CEPEJ Evaluation Report." Accessed July 5 2022, at: https://rm.coe.int/evaluation-report-part-1-english/16809fc058

⁸⁰ Penal Reform International and the Thai Institute of Justice, Global Prison Trends 2020.

https://cdn.penalreform.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Global-Prison-Trends-2020-Penal-Reform-International-Second-Edition.pdf

⁸¹ UNODC, *Global Study on Homicide 2019. Booklet 2: Homicide: extent, patterns, trends and criminal justice response*, United Nations, 2019, p. 83.

⁸² Penal Reform International and the Thai Institute of Justice, Global Prison Trends 2020.

https://cdn.penalreform.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Global-Prison-Trends-2020-Penal-Reform-International-Second-Edition.pdf

⁸³ Penal Reform International and the Thai Institute of Justice, p 115

⁸⁴ https://www.justice.sdg16.plus/_files/ugd/6c192f_2dbf1db98d424eefa0d866fda4bd2861.pdf

⁸⁵ FBI UCR. 2017 Crime in the United States, <u>https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2017/crime-in-the-u.s.-2017/topic-pages/clearances</u>

⁸⁶ Statistics Canada. Crime severity index and weighted clearance rates, Canada, provinces, territories and Census Metropolitan Areas, https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=3510002601

⁸⁷ Thanks to Alistair Gee for pointing this out, who also mentioned <u>https://costofviolence.org/</u> which models their criminal justice costs in each city on both one and two suspects per incident.

⁸⁸ Federal Register, Prisons Bureau. (2021) "Annual Determination of Average Cost of Incarceration Fee". Accessed July 5 2022, at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/09/01/2021-18800/annual-determination-of-average-cost-of-incarceration-fee-coif

⁸⁹ Chimatiro, Chancy S., Precious Hajison, Effie Chipeta, and Adamson S. Muula. "Understanding barriers preventing pregnant women from starting antenatal clinic in the first trimester of pregnancy in Ntcheu District-Malawi." *Reproductive health* 15, no. 1 (2018): 1-7.

⁹⁰ Peneza, Apollonia Kasege, and Stephen Oswald Maluka. "'Unless you come with your partner you will be sent back home': strategies used to promote male involvement in antenatal care in Southern Tanzania." *Global health action* 11, no. 1 (2018): 1449724.

⁹¹ The DHS Program. "Statcompiler, Decision maker about own healthcare: Mainly husband", accessed July 5, 2022, https://www.statcompiler.com/en/

⁹² Peterson, C., & Kearns, M. C. (2021). Systematic review of violence prevention economic evaluations, 2000–2019. American journal of preventive medicine, 60(4), 552-562.

⁹³ GRYD's annual budget was \$30 million USD and in 2014-2015 prevented 185 crimes.

⁹⁴ Peterson, C., & Kearns, M. C. (2021). Systematic Review of Violence Prevention Economic Evaluations, 2000-2019. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *60*(4), 552–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.11.002 ⁹⁵ Remme, M.; Michaels-Igbokwe, C.; Watts, C. Approaches to assess value for money and scale up of violence against women and girls' prevention: A summary of the evidence. Medical Research Council, Pretoria, South Africa (2014) 3 pp.

⁹⁶ On the Economic Analysis of Costs and Benefits of Crime Prevention (Thomsen, 2015) <u>https://www.praeventionstag.de/dokumentation/download.cms?id=2410</u>

⁹⁷ Community for Understanding Scale Up (2021). "Enhancing Social Norms Programs: An Invitation to Rethink 'Scaling Up' from a Feminist Perspective." Community for Understanding Scale Up.

⁹⁸ Valuable recent systematic reviews include: Jewkes, R., Willan., S., Lori Heise, , Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls."" *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series.* South South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020) and Emilomo Ogbe, Stacy Harmon, Rafael Van den Bergh and Olivier Degomme, "A systematic review of intimate partner violence interventions focused on improving social support and mentla heath outcomes of survivors", *PloS one*,15 (2020) and Eleanor Dickens, Marie-Eve Augier, Shayda Sabet, Mario Picon and Kristen Rankin, "Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Evidence Gap Map", 3ie (2019).

⁹⁹ For an excellent overview of the benefits and common limitations of ecological research in the context of violence, including the ecological fallacy, see Zeoli AM, Paruk JK, Pizarro JM, Goldstick J. Ecological Research for Studies of Violence: A Methodological Guide. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2019;34(23-24):4860-4880. doi:10.1177/0886260519871528

¹⁰⁰ Wilson, David B., Iain Brennan, and Ajima Olaghere. "Police-initiated diversion for youth to prevent future delinquent behavior: a systematic review." Campbell Systematic Reviews 14, no. 1 (2018): 1-88.
 ¹⁰¹ Chaflin, A 2022. Policing and Public Safety. University of Pennsylvania.

https://craftmediabucket.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/AVCJReport_PolicingPublicSafety_Chalfin_v3-1.pdf ¹⁰² Peterson, Cora, and Megan C. Kearns. "Systematic review of violence prevention economic evaluations, 2000– 2019." *American journal of preventive medicine* 60, no. 4 (2021): 552-562.

¹⁰³ "Does Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Work in Criminal Justice? A New Analysis from CrimeSolutions," National Institute of Justice, n.d., <u>https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/articles/does-cognitive-behavioral-therapy-work-criminal-justice-new-analysis-crimesolutions</u>.

^{civ} Judith S. Beck, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy: Basics and Beyond (2nd edn.) (New York: The Guilford Press: 2011). ^{cv} Mark W. Lipsey, Nana A. Landenberger, and Sandra J. Wilson, "Effects of Cognitive-Behavioral Programs for Criminal Offenders," *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 3(1), (January 2007), 1–27.

^{cvi} L.S. Joy Tong and David P. Farrington, "How Effective Is the 'Reasoning and Rehabilitation' Programme in Reducing Reoffending? A Meta-Analysis of Evaluations in Four Countries," *Psychology, Crime & Law*12 (1), (January 2006), 3–24.

^{cvii} Thomas Abt, *Bleeding out : The Devastating Consequences of Urban Violence - and a Bold New Plan for Peace in the Streets* (New York: Basic Books June, 2019).

^{cviii} Christopher Blattman, Julian C. Jamison, and Margaret Sheridan, "Reducing Crime and Violence: Experimental Evidence from Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Liberia," *American Economic Review* 107(4), (April 2017), 1165–1206. ^{cix} Blattman, Christopher, et al. "Cognitive Behavior Therapy Reduces Crime and Violence over 10 Years: Experimental Evidence." SocArXiv, 16 May 2022. Web.

^{CX} Mark W. Lipsey, Nana A. Landenberger, and Sandra J. Wilson, "Effects of Cognitive-Behavioral Programs for Criminal Offenders," Campbell Systematic Reviews 3(1), (January 2007), 1–27.

^{cxi} Laura K. Murray et al., "Effectiveness of Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy among Trauma-Affected Children in Lusaka, Zambia," JAMA Pediatrics 169(8), (August 1, 2015), 761.

^{cxii} Thomas Abt and Christopher Winship "What Works in Reducing Community Violence: A Meta-Review and field study for the Northern Triangle", United States Agency for International Development, (February 2016).

^{cxiii} Thomas Abt. "Bleeding out: The Devastating consequences of urban violence–and a bold new plan for peace in the streets", New York, NY: Basic Books. (2019), doi:10.1093/sw/25.6.506

^{cxiv} Meryl Prochaska, "Statistically Speaking: Evaluation of the Becoming a Man (B.A.M) Program in Chicago", Children's Legal Rights Journal, (January 2014).

^{CXV} Christopher Blattman et al., "Cognitive Behavior Therapy Reduces Crime and Violence over 10 Years: Experimental Evidence," (2022).

^{cxvii} "Washington State Institute for Public Policy," Wa.gov, 2018, <u>https://www.wsipp.wa.gov/BenefitCost.</u> ^{cxvii} "Violence Prevention: The Evidence" (World Health Organization: World Health Organization & WHO Collaborating Centre for Violence Prevention (2010), n.d.).

^{cxviii} Ronald J. Prinz et al., "Population-Based Prevention of Child Maltreatment: The U.S. Triple P System Population Trial," *Prevention Science* 10(1), (January 2009), 1–12.

^{cxix} Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Lori Heise, , Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls."" *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series.* South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).

^{CXX} Eleanor Dickens, Marie-Eve Augier, Shayda Sabet, Mario Picon and Kristen Rankin, "Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Evidence Gap Map", 3ie (2019).

^{cxxi} J.C. Kane, "Testing the effectiveness of a transdiagnostic treatment approach in reducing violence and alcohol abuse among families in Zambia: study protocol of the Violence and Alcohol treatment (VATU) trial," *Global Mental Health* (Cambridge Press, 2017).

^{cxxii} Laura K. Murray et al., "A Common Elements Treatment Approach for Adult Mental Health Problems in Low and Middle Income Countries," *Cognitive Behavioral Practice*, May 2014, 21(2), 111-123.

^{cxxiii} J.C. Kane, "Testing the effectiveness of a transdiagnostic treatment approach in reducing violence and alcohol abuse among families in Zambia: study protocol of the Violence and Alcohol treatment (VATU) trial," *Global Mental Health* (Cambridge Press, 2017).

^{cxxiv} John, Adebayo A, Boychuk, *et al.* Intimate partner violence (IPV) prevention using a cross-sectoral couple-based intervention: results from a cluster randomised control trial in Ibadan, Nigeria. *BMJ Global Health* 2022;**7**:e007192. ^{cxvv} Neetu A. John, Ayodeji Adebayo, Natalie Boychuk and Funmilola OlaOlorun, "Intimate partner violence (IPV) prevention using a cross-sectoral couple-based intervention: results from a cluster randomised control trial in Ibadan, Nigeria", *BMJ Global Health* Volume 7-2, (February 2022).

^{cxxvi} Neetu A. John, Ayodeji Adebayo, Natalie Boychuk and Funmilola OlaOlorun, "Intimate partner violence (IPV) prevention using a cross-sectoral couple-based intervention: results from a cluster randomised control trial in Ibadan, Nigeria", *BMJ Global Health* Volume 7-2, (February 2022).

^{cxvvii} Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Lori Heise, , Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N., "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls."" *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series*. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020). ^{cxviii} Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N., "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series*. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020). ^{cxvix} Kristin Dunkle, Erin Stern, Sangeeta Chatterji and Lori Heise, "Effective prevention of intimate partner violence through couples training: a randomised controlled trial of *Indashyikirwa* in Rwanda", *BMJ Global Health* 5(12), (2020).

^{cxxx} Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention costeffectiveness and Value for Money" The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report (January 2014).

^{cxxxi} Prachi Verma, Payal Puri, Dhruv Sharma and Shreya Singh, "Role of 'One Stop Crisis Centre' in Identifying and Assisting Victims of Violence in an Indian Health Care Setup", Central Asian Journal of Global Health (July 202. ^{cxxxii} Emilomo Ogbe, Stacy Harmon, Rafael Van den Bergh and Olivier Degomme, "A systematic review of intimate partner violence interventions focused on improving social support and mentla heath outcomes of survivors", *PloS one*,15 (2020).

^{cxxxiii} R.A. Berk, P.J. Newton, P.J. and S.F Berk, "What a difference a day makes: An empirical study of the impact of shelters for battered women". *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 48 (1986).

^{cxxxiv} Lauren Schechter, "Do Shelterrs Reduce Domestic Violence?" University of Colorado Boulder (October 2021). ^{cxxxv} Bennett, L., Stoops. C., Call, C. & Flett, H. "Program completion and re-arrest in a batterer intervention system." *Research on Social Work Practice*, 17, 42-54 (2007).

^{cxxxvi} The Advocates for Human Rights. Batterers' Intervention Programs. June 15, 2022;

https://www.stopvaw.org/batterers intervention programs.

^{cxxxvii} Boots, D. P., Wareham, J., Bartula, A., & Canas, R. "A comparison of the batterer intervention and prevention program with alternative court dispositions on 12-month recidivism." *Violence Against Women*, 22 (2016).
 ^{cxxxviii} Lila, M., Oliver, A., Catala-Minana, A., & Conchell, R. "Recidivism risk reduction assessment in batterer intervention programs: A key indicator for program efficacy evaluation" *Psychosocial Intervention* (2014).
 ^{cxxxix} Kathleen J. Ferraro, "Current Research on Batterer Intervention Programs and Implications for Policy" (2017).
 ^{cxd} Shih-Chi Lin et al., "Domestic Violence Recidivism in High-Risk Taiwanese Offenders after the Completion of Violence Treatment Programs," *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology* 20, no. 3 (June 2009): 458–72.
 ^{cxli} Group of Experts on Action against Violence against Women and Domestic Violence (GREVIO), Baseline Evaluation Report: Turkey- Istanbul Convention (October 2018).

^{cxlii} Cited in J. Corburn, D. Boggan, K. Muttaqi. *Advance Peace and Focused Deterrence: What Are The Differences?* Advance Peace & UC Berkeley. July 2020

¹⁴³ Park, D. S., & Kumar, N. (2022). Reducing Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from a Multifaceted Female Empowerment Program in Urban Liberia. <u>https://cnxus.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Reducing-Intimate-</u> Partner-Violence-Evidence-from-a-Multifaceted.pdf

¹⁴⁴ Jeffrey A. Butts et al., "Cure Violence: A Public Health Model to Reduce Gun Violence," *Annual Review of Public Health* 36(1)(March 18, 2015), 39–53.

¹⁴⁵ Jeffrey A. Butts et al., "Cure Violence: A Public Health Model to Reduce Gun Violence," *Annual Review of Public Health* 36(1)(March 18, 2015), 39–53.

¹⁴⁶ Cure Violence Evidence Summary, 2021 <u>https://cvg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Cure-Violence-Evidence-Summary.pdf</u>

¹⁴⁷ Cure Violence Global, "Cure Violence Evidence Summary", <u>https://cvg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Cure-</u> Violence-Evidence-Summary.pdf, (August, 2021).

¹⁴⁸ Tal Septon. (2022). A Diplomatic Approach to Crime Control in Cape Town: NGO Diplomacy and Organized Crime. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6323415

¹⁴⁹ JohnJayREC, "Reducing Gun Violence in New York City," JohnJayREC.nyc — John Jay College's Research and Evaluation Center, July 17, 2020, <u>https://johnjayrec.nyc/2020/07/17/databits202001/</u>.

¹⁵⁰ https://criminaljustice.cityofnewyork.us/programs/map/

¹⁵¹ Cure Violence Global, "Cure Violence Evidence Summary", <u>https://cvg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Cure-</u> <u>Violence-Evidence-Summary.pdf</u>, (August, 2021).

¹⁵² Carbonari, F., et al, "A review of the evidence and global strategy for Violence Prevention", March 2020

¹⁵³ Maguire et al, "Evaluating Cure Violence in Trinidad and Tobago", Inter-American Development Bank, 2018 ¹⁵⁴ Anthony A. Braga and David L. Weisburd, "The Effects of 'Pulling Levers' Focused Deterrence Strategies on Crime," Campbell Systematic Reviews 8(1), (January 2012), 1–90.

¹⁵⁵ Braga, A. A., & Weisburd, D. L. (2012). The effects of focused deterrence strategies on crime: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the empirical evidence. *Journal of research in crime and delinquency*, *49*(3), 323-358.

¹⁵⁶ Thomas Abt, Bleeding out : The Devastating Consequences of Urban Violence - and a Bold New Plan for Peace in the Streets (New York: Basic Books June, 2019).

¹⁵⁷ The National Desk "A California City Defunded Its Police. Now, Violent Crime Is Soaring", January 11, 2022
 ¹⁵⁸ The Mercury News "With Gun Violence on the Rise, Oakland Ends the Year with 134 Homicides," 2 January 2022.
 ¹⁵⁹ See <u>https://www.fbi.gov/news/press-releases/press-releases/fbi-releases-2020-crime-statistics</u>; and https://www.ahdatalytics.com/dashboards/ytd-murder-comparison/

¹⁶⁰ National Network for Safe Communities (NNSC). 2022. Group Violence Intervention - National Network for Safe Communities (NNSC). [online] Available at: https://nnscommunities.org/strategies/group-violence-intervention/ [Accessed 18 May 2022].

¹⁶¹ Braga, A., Weisburd, D. and Turchan, B., 2018. Focused Deterrence Strategies and Crime Control. Criminology & amp; Public Policy, 17(1), 205-250 and Webster, D., 2022. Public Health Approaches to Reducing Community Gun Violence. Daedalus, 151(1), 38-48.

¹⁶² Brantingham, P., Sundback, N., Yuan, B. and Chan, K., 2017. *GRYD Intervention Incident Response & Gang Crime* 2017 Evaluation Report.

¹⁶³ Tremblay, A., Herz, D., Zachery, R., Kraus, M., 2020. The City of Los Angeles Mayor's Office of Gang Reduction and Youth Development Comprehensive Strategy.

¹⁶⁴ Reducingcrime.com. 2022. [online] Available at: <https://www.reducingcrime.com/post/pivot-place-based-investigations-of-violent-offender-territories> [Accessed 18 May 2022].

¹⁶⁵ Andrew V. Papachristos and David S. Kirk, "Changing the Street Dynamic," *Criminology & Public Policy* 14(3), (August 2015), 525–58.

¹⁶⁶ Petrosino, A., Campie, P., Pace, J., Fronius, T., Guckenburg, S., Wiatrowski, M., & Rivera, L. (2015). Cross-sector, multi-agency interventions to address urban youth firearms violence: A rapid evidence assessment. *Aggression and violent behavior*, 22, 87-96.

¹⁶⁷ Johnson, S. D., Guerette, R. T., & Bowers, K. (2014). Crime displacement: what we know, what we don't know, and what it means for crime reduction. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 10(4), 549-571.

¹⁶⁸ Cruz, José Miguel, Jonathan D. Rosen Josué Sánchez (2021) Understanding Intervention Programs and Gang Governance at the Local Level: The Case of Northern Central America. https://lacc.fiu.edu/publications/central-american-gang-papers-and-reports/understanding-intervention-programs.pdf

¹⁶⁹ Henri Myrttinen and Mia Schöb. *"Men and masculinities in gender-responsive small arms control"*. WIL, Gender Equality Network for Small Arms Control, June 16, 202

¹⁷⁰ Henri Myrttinen and Mia Schöb. *"Men and masculinities in gender-responsive small arms control"*. WIL, Gender Equality Network for Small Arms Control, June 16, 202

¹⁷¹ Henri Myrttinen and Mia Schöb. *"Men and masculinities in gender-responsive small arms control"*. WIL, Gender Equality Network for Small Arms Control, June 16, 202

¹⁷² Chalfin, Aaron, and Justin McCrary. "Criminal deterrence: A review of the literature." Journal of Economic Literature 55, no. 1 (2017): 5-48.

¹⁷³ Graeme Blair et al., "Community Policing Does Not Build Citizen Trust in Police or Reduce Crime in the Global South," *Science* 374 (November 26, 2021) 6571

 ¹⁷⁴ Charlotte Gill et al., Community-Oriented Policing to Reduce Crime, Disorder and Fear and Increase Satisfaction and Legitimacy among Citizens: A Systematic Review, *Journal of Experimental Criminology* 10, no. 4 (2014): 399-428.
 ¹⁷⁵ Graeme Blair et al., "Community Policing Does Not Build Citizen Trust in Police or Reduce Crime in the Global South," *Science* 374 (November 26, 2021) 6571

¹⁷⁶ Mitch Lortz, "Community Policing: Lower the Crime Rate in Your Jurisdiction," Everbridge, April 21, 2017
 ¹⁷⁷ Kyle Peyton, Michael Sierra-Arévalo, and David G. Rand, "A Field Experiment on Community Policing and Police Legitimacy," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116 (September 2019).

¹⁷⁸ Braga, A. A., Welsh, B. C., & Schnell, C. (2015). Can policing disorder reduce crime? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 52(4), 567-588.

¹⁷⁹ Graeme Blair et al., "Community Policing Does Not Build Citizen Trust in Police or Reduce Crime in the Global South," *Science* 374 (November 2021) 6571

¹⁸⁰ "Community Policing and Public Trust: A Multi-Country Initiative – EGAP," egap.org, n.d., <u>https://egap.org/project/community-policing-and-public-trust-a-multi-country-initiative/</u>.

¹⁸¹ Peace in Our Cities in a Time of Pandemic: Communities, Police and Relationships, Adrian Bergmann. KROC INSTITUTE FOR PEACE AND JUSTICE, University of San Diego, 2021

¹⁸² Eleanor Dickens, Marie-Eve Augier, Shayda Sabet, Mario Picon and Kristen Rankin, "Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Evidence Gap Map", 3ie (2019).

¹⁸³ Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N., "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series.* South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).

¹⁸⁴ Tanya Abramsky, Karen M. Devries, Lori Michau, Janet Nakuti, Tina Musuya, Nambusi Kyegombe and Charlotte Watts, "The impact of SASA!, a community mobilisation intervention, on women's experiences of intimate partner violence: secondary findings from a cluster randomised trial in Kampala, Uganda" *BMJ Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 70-8 (August 2016).

¹⁸⁵ Tanya Abramsky, Karen M. Devries, Lori Michau, Janet Nakuti, Tina Musuya, Nambusi Kyegombe and Charlotte Watts, "The impact of SASA!, a community mobilisation intervention, on women's experiences of intimate partner violence: secondary findings from a cluster randomised trial in Kampala, Uganda" *BMJ Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 70-8 (August 2016).

¹⁸⁶ Tanzania Women Research Foundation and Forum for Women and Development in Norway, SASA! Endline Study Report: Kigoma Ujiji and Magu Districts, United Republic of Tanzania (August 2018).

¹⁸⁷ Elizabeth Rowley and Ndack Diop, Tostan's Community Empowerment Program in Goudiry, Senegal: Community level change in intimate partner violence and related outcomes. Evaluation Summary Report. Washington, DC: PATH; 2020.

¹⁸⁸ Rachel Jewkes, Samantha Willan, Lori Heise, Laura Washington, Nwabisa Shai, Alice Kerr- Wilson and Nicola Christofides, "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls", What Works to Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (January 2020).

¹⁸⁹ WhatWorks, Can community outreach reduce men's use of partner violence? Findings from the CHANGE Trial in South Africa, 2015.

¹⁹⁰ Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020); WhatWorks, Can community outreach reduce men's use of partner violence? Findings from the CHANGE Trial in South Africa, 2015.

¹⁹¹ Elisabet Le Roux, Julienne Corboz, Nigel Scott, Maggie Sandilands, Uwezo Lele, Elena Bezzolato and Rachel Jewkes, "Engaging with faith groups to prevent VAWG in conflict-affected communities: results from two community surveys in the DRC" BMC International Health and Human Rights 20 (2020).

 ¹⁹² Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).
 ¹⁹³ Deda Ogum Alangea, Adolphina A Addo-Lartey, Esnat D Chirwa, Yandisa Sikweyiya, Dorcas Coker-Appiah, Rachel Jewkes, Richard M K Adanu," Evaluation of the rural response system intervention to prevent violence against women: findings from a community-randomised controlled trial in the Central Region of Ghana" Glob Health Action 13, (2020)

 ¹⁹⁴ Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N., "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).
 ¹⁹⁵ What Works?, Stepping Stones and Creating Futures: An Evidence Based Intervention to Prevent Violence Against Women and Improve Livelihoods (October 2018).

 ¹⁹⁶ Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series*. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).
 ¹⁹⁷ Kristin Dunkle, Andrew Gibbs, Sangeeta Chatterji and Lori Heise, <u>"Exploring differential impacts of</u> interventions to reduce and prevent intimate partner violence (IPV) on sub-groups of women and men: A case study using impact evaluations from Rwanda and South Africa" *SSM Population Health* 11 (August 2020).

¹⁹⁸ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections" *Promundo US* (2018). ¹⁹⁹ Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Costeffectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

²⁰⁰ Doyle, K., & Kato-Wallace, J. (2021). "Program H: A review of the evidence: Nearly two decades of engaging young men and boys in gender equality." Washington, DC: Promundo-US, accessed June 6, 2022,

https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Program-H-Eva.-Report-2-September-2021-V2-Final.pdf ²⁰¹ Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Cost-effectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

²⁰² Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Cost-effectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

²⁰³ Mary Ellsberg, Diana J Arango, Matthew Morton, Floriza Gennari, Sveinung Kiplesund, Manuel Contreras and Charlotte Watts, "Prevention of Violence Against Women and Girls: What does the Evidence Say?" *The Lancet* (2015).

²⁰⁴ Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Chile, Croatia, Ethiopia, India, Kosovo, Namibia, Rwanda, Serbia, the United States, and Vietnam – see Doyle, K., & Kato-Wallace, J. (2021). "Program H: A review of the evidence: Nearly two decades of engaging young men and boys in gender equality." Washington, DC: Promundo-US, accessed June 6, 2022, <u>https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Program-H-Eva.-Report-2-September-2021-V2-Final.pdf</u>

²⁰⁵ Doyle, K., & Kato-Wallace, J. (2021). "Program H: A review of the evidence: Nearly two decades of engaging young men and boys in gender equality." Washington, DC: Promundo-US, accessed June 6, 2022,

https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Program-H-Eva.-Report-2-September-2021-V2-Final.pdf ²⁰⁶ Prudence Ditlopo, Saiqa Mullick, Ian Askew, Ricardo Vernon, Edwin Maroga, Sgidi Sibeko, Mokgethi Tshabalala, Rabbuh Raletsemo, Dean Peacock, and Andrew Levack, "Testing the effectiveness of the Men as Partners Program (MAP) in Soweto, South Africa," *FRONTIERS Final Report*. Washington, DC: Population Council (2007). ²⁰⁷ PATH, *Promoting Gender Equity for HIV and Violence Prevention: Results From the PEPFAR Male Norms Initiative*

Evaluation in Ethiopia, 2010.

²⁰⁸ PATH, Promoting Gender Equity for HIV and Violence Prevention: Results From the PEPFAR Male Norms Initiative Evaluation in Ethiopia, 2010.

²⁰⁹ Prudence Ditlopo, Saiqa Mullick, Ian Askew, Ricardo Vernon, Edwin Maroga, Sgidi Sibeko, Mokgethi Tshabalala, Rabbuh Raletsemo, Dean Peacock, and Andrew Levack. 2007. "Testing the effectiveness of the Men as Partners Program (MAP) in Soweto, South Africa," *FRONTIERS Final Report*. Washington, DC: Population Council (2007).
 ²¹⁰Julie Pulerwitz,Lindsay Hughes, Manisha Mehta, Aklilu Kidanu, Fabio Verani and Samuel Tewande, "Changing Gender Norms and Reducing Intimate Partner Violence: Results From a Quasi-Experimental Intervention Study With Young Men in Ethiopia", *American Journal of Public Health* (January 2015).

²¹¹ David Sungho Park and Laresh Kumar, "Reducing Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from a Multifaceted Female Empowerment Program in Urban Liberia" (2022)

²¹² Jewkes, R., Willan, S., Heise, L., Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. "Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls." *What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series.* South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).
 ²¹³ Global Women's Institute, *Violence Against Adolescent Girls: Trends and Lessons for East Africa*, 2018.

²¹⁴ United States Youth Government, *Safe Dates*, <u>https://youth.gov/content/safe-dates</u>.

²¹⁵ Vangie A Foshee, Luz McNaughton Reyes, Christine B Agnew-Brune, Thomas R Simon, Kevin J Vagi, Rosalyn D Lee, Chiravath Suchindran "The effects of the evidence-based Safe Dates dating abuse prevention program on other youth violence outcomes"

²¹⁶ World Health Organization, *INSPIRE: Seven strategies for ending violence against children*, WHO Press, 2016.
 ²¹⁷ Gage, Anastasia J, Jean Guy Honor e and Josu e Deleon. 2016. "Short-term effects

of a violence-prevention curriculum on knowledge of dating violence among high school students in Port-au-Prince, Haiti." Journal of Communication in Healthcare 9(3):178–189.

²¹⁸ Reyes, H. Luz McNaughton, Laurie M. Graham, May S. Chen, Deborah Baron, Andrew Gibbs, Alison K. Groves, Lusajo Kajula, Sarah Bowler, and Suzanne Maman. "Adolescent dating violence prevention programmes: a global systematic review of evaluation studies." *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health* 5, no. 3 (2021): 223-232.

²¹⁹ Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Costeffectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

²²⁰ Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Costeffectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

²²¹ Stephen Jan, Giulia Ferrari, Charlotte Watts, James Hargreaves, Julia Kim, Godfrey Phetla, Linda Morison, John Porter, Tony Barnet and Paul Pronyk, "Economic evaluation of a combined microfinance and gender training intervention for the prevention of intimate partner violence in rural South Africa" *Health Policy Plan.* 26(5):366-72. (September 2011) Doi: 10.1093/heapol/czq071. Epub 2010 Oct 25. PMID: 20974751.

²²² Bernadette C. Hohl et al., "Creating Safe and Healthy Neighborhoods with Place-Based Violence Interventions," *Health Affairs* 38(10), (October 2019), 1687–94.

²²³ Moyer, R., MacDonald, J., Ridgeway, G. and Branas, C., 2019. Effect of Remediating Blighted Vacant Land on Shootings: A Citywide Cluster Randomized Trial. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109, 140-144.

²²⁴ Cerdá M, Morenoff JD, Hansen BB, Tessari Hicks KJ, Duque LF, Restrepo A, Diez-Roux AV. Reducing violence by transforming neighborhoods: a natural experiment in Medellín, Colombia. Am J Epidemiol. 2012 May

15;175(10):1045-53. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr428. Epub 2012 Apr 2. PMID: 22472117; PMCID: PMC3353133. ²²⁵ Michelle C. Kondo et al., "Neighborhood Interventions to Reduce Violence," *Annual Review of Public Health* 39, (April 2018), 253–71.

²²⁶ Charles C. Branas et al., "Citywide Cluster Randomized Trial to Restore Blighted Vacant Land and Its Effects on Violence, Crime, and Fear," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, (February 2018), 2946–51. ²²⁷ Charles C. Branas et al., "A Difference-In-Differences Analysis of Health, Safety, and Greening Vacant Urban Space," *American Journal of Epidemiology* 174, (November 2011), 1296–1306.

²²⁸ Charles C. Branas et al., "A Difference-In-Differences Analysis of Health, Safety, and Greening Vacant Urban Space," *American Journal of Epidemiology* 174, (November 2011), 1296–1306.

²²⁹ Paula Meth, "Informal Housing, Gender, Crime and Violence: The Role of Design in Urban South Africa," *British Journal of Criminology*, (January 11, 2016)

²³⁰ Kathryn Ewing and Michael Krause, "EMTHONJENI—Public Space as Smart Learning Networks: A Case Study of the Violence Prevention through Urban Upgrading Methodology in Cape Town," *Shaping Smart for Better Cities*, (2021), 339–56.

²³¹ Mercy Brown Luthango et al., "Promoting safety and violence prevention through informal settlement upgrading", African Center for Cities. (2018). Available at:

https://www.saferspaces.org.za/resources/entry/promoting-safety-and-violence-prevention-through-informal-settlement-upgrad> [Accessed June 14 2022].

²³² Mercy Brown Luthango et al., "Promoting safety and violence prevention through informal settlement upgrading", African Center for Cities. (2018). Available at:

https://www.saferspaces.org.za/resources/entry/promoting-safety-and-violence-prevention-through-informal-settlement-upgrad [Accessed June 14 2022].

²³³ Galiani, S., P. Gertler, R. Cooper, S. Martínez, A. Ross, and R. Undurraga. 2014. "Shelter from the storm: Upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums." IDB Working Paper IDB-WP-528. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank

²³⁴ The World Bank. "Women, Business and the Law"; accessed July 4, 2022, <u>https://wbl.worldbank.org/en/wbl</u>.
 ²³⁵ Karp, A.(2018) *Estimating Global Civilian-Held Firearms Numbers*, Small Arms Survey. Accessed May 2 2022, at: https://wbl.worldbank.org/en/wbl.
 ²³⁵ Karp, A.(2018) *Estimating Global Civilian-Held Firearms Numbers*, Small Arms Survey. Accessed May 2 2022, at: https://www.smallarmssurvey.org/sites/default/files/resources/SAS-BP-Civilian-Firearms-Numbers.pdf

²³⁶ Altheimer, I., Boswell, M. (2012). *Reassessing the Association between Gun Availability and Homicide at the Cross-National Level,* Am J Crim Just 37, 682–704 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-011-9147-x

²³⁷ GunPolicy.org. Czech Republic — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law, July 7, 2022,

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/czech-republic

²³⁸ GunPolicy.org. Denmark— Gun Facts, Figures and the Law, July 7, 2022,

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/denmark

 $^{\rm 239}$ GunPolicy.org. Columbia — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law, July 7, 2022,

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/colombia

²⁴⁰ GunPolicy.org. El Salvador — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law, July 7, 2022,

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/el-salvador

²⁴¹ Alpers, P., Picard, M., Pavesi, I. (2022). *United States — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law.* Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney. GunPolicy.org. Accessed 2 May 2022. At:

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/united-state

²⁴² Altheimer, I., Boswell, M. (2012). *Reassessing the Association between Gun Availability and Homicide at the Cross-National Level,* Am J Crim Just 37, 682–704 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-011-9147-x

²⁴³ Everytown For Gun Safety. (2022) Gun Violence in America. Accessed 2 May 2022, at:

https://everytownresearch.org/report/gun-violence-in-america/

²⁴⁴ American Psychological Association. (2013, December 1). *Gun violence: Prediction, prevention, and policy.* https://www.apa.org/pubs/reports/gun-violence-prevention

²⁴⁵ Giffords Law Center. (2022) Annual Gun Law Scorecard. Accessed July 3 2022, at:

https://giffords.org/lawcenter/resources/scorecard/?scorecard=AR

²⁴⁶ Negin, J., Alpers, P., Nassar, N., Hemenway, D. *Australian Firearm Regulation at 25– success, ongoing challenges, and lessons for the world,* The New England Journal of Medicine. 2021; 384:1581-1583. https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMp2102574

²⁴⁷ Alleman, Mark. *The Japanese Firearm and Sword Possession Control Law: Translator's Introduction, 9 Pac. Rim L & Pol'y J. 165* (2000). Accessed June 12, 2022. https://digitalcommons.law.uw.edu/wilj/vol9/iss1/6.

²⁴⁸ Weller, Chris and Erin Snodgrass. "Japan has almost completely eliminated gun deaths — here's how."

https://www.businessinsider.com/gun-control-how-japan-has-almost-completely-eliminated-gun-deaths-2017-10.

²⁴⁹ "Japan — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law." Accessed June 12, 2022.

https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/japan.

 $^{\rm 250}$ "Japan — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law."

²⁵¹ Santaella-Tenorio, Julian, Magdalena Cerdá, Andrés Villaveces, and Sandro Galea. "What do we know about the association between firearm legislation and firearm-related injuries?." Epidemiologic reviews 38, no. 1 (2016): 140-157.

²⁵² Santaella-Tenorio, Julian, Magdalena Cerdá, Andrés Villaveces, and Sandro Galea. "What do we know about the association between firearm legislation and firearm-related injuries?." Epidemiologic reviews 38, no. 1 (2016): 140-157.

²⁵³ Santaella-Tenorio, Julian, Magdalena Cerdá, Andrés Villaveces, and Sandro Galea. "What do we know about the association between firearm legislation and firearm-related injuries?." Epidemiologic reviews 38, no. 1 (2016): 140-157.

²⁵⁴ Preventing violence against women through arms control in Latin America and the Carribean, UNLIREC. 2020. Accessed May 2 2022, at: <u>http://unlirec.screativa.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/UNLIREC-Preventing-VAW-through-arms-control-in-LAC-September-2020.pdf</u>

²⁵⁵ Ministry of the Attorney General and Legal Affairs. Firearms Act. Accessed 7 May 2022, at:

https://rgd.legalaffairs.gov.tt/laws2/alphabetical_list/lawspdfs/16.01.pdf

²⁵⁶ Alpers, Philip, Amélie Rossetti and Leonardo Goi. (2021). *Trinidad & Tobago — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law.* Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney. GunPolicy.org, 18 March. Accessed 2 May 2022. at: https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/trinidad-and-tobago

²⁵⁷ Alpers, Philip, Amélie Rossetti and Leonardo Goi. 2022. Dominican Republic — Gun Facts, Figures and the Law. Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney. GunPolicy.org, 25 March. Accessed 9 May 2022. at: https://www.gunpolicy.org/firearms/region/dominican-republic

²⁵⁸ Gilgen, E. (2021). Latin America and the Caribbean. Small Arms Survey. Accessed 2 May 2022. at:

https://www.smallarmssurvey.org/sites/default/files/resources/Small-Arms-Survey-2012-Chapter-01-EN.pdf ²⁵⁹ Gramlich, J. (2019) What the data says about gun deaths in the U.S.. Pew Research Think Tank. Accessed 3 May 2022, at: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2022/02/03/what-the-data-says-about-gun-deaths-in-the-u-s/ ²⁶⁰ M. Luca, D. Malhotra, C. Poliquin. Handgun waiting periods reduce gun deaths. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 114 (46) (2017), pp. 12162-12165

²⁶¹ Everytown For Gun Safety. (2022) Gun Violence in America. Accessed 2 May 2022, at:

https://everytownresearch.org/report/gun-violence-in-america/

²⁶² Everytown For Gun Safety. (2022) Secure Gun Storage. Accessed 2 May 2022, at:

https://everytownresearch.org/report/gun-violence-in-america/

²⁶³ Lee, Lois K., Eric W. Fleegler, Caitlin Farrell, Elorm Avakame, Saranya Srinivasan, David Hemenway, and Michael C. Monuteaux. "Firearm laws and firearm homicides: a systematic review." JAMA internal medicine 177, no. 1 (2017): 106-119.

²⁶⁴ Lee, Lois K., Eric W. Fleegler, Caitlin Farrell, Elorm Avakame, Saranya Srinivasan, David Hemenway, and Michael C. Monuteaux. "Firearm laws and firearm homicides: a systematic review." JAMA internal medicine 177, no. 1 (2017): 106-119.

²⁶⁵ Smart, Rosanna, Andrew R. Morral, Rajeev Ramchand, Amanda Charbonneau, Jhacova Williams, Sierra Smucker, Samantha Cherney, and Lea Xenakis, The Science of Gun Policy: A Critical Synthesis of Research Evidence on the Effects of Gun Policies in the United States, Third Edition. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2023. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA243-4.html. Also available in print form. ²⁶⁶A closer look at domestic violence and firearms legislation in five countries, International Action Network on Small Arms. INANSA Briefing Paper 2022. Accessed May 2 2022, at: <u>https://iansa.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/A-closer-look-at-domestic-violence-and-firearm-legislation-in-5-countries.njg-proof.7feb22dr1-1.pdf</u>

²⁶⁷ Muggah, Robert. 2019. "Relaxing Brazil's Gun Laws Could Make A Murderous Country Even Deadlier." IGARAPE Institute ´ 10 January, July 5, 2022, <u>https://igarape.org.br/en/relaxing-brazils-gun-laws-could-make-a-murderous-country-even-deadlier/</u>.

²⁶⁸ Muggah, Robert. 2019. "Relaxing Brazil's Gun Laws Could Make A Murderous Country Even Deadlier." IGARAPE Institute '10 January, July 5, 2022, <u>https://igarape.org.br/en/relaxing-brazils-gun-laws-could-make-a-murderous-country-even-deadlier/</u>.

²⁶⁹ Mayshak, R., Curtis, A., Coomber, K., Tonner, L., Walker, A., Hyder, S., Liknaitzky, P., & Miller, P. (2022). Alcohol-Involved Family and Domestic Violence Reported to Police in Australia. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *37*(3-4), NP1658-NP1685. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520928633

²⁷⁰ Anderson P, Chisholm D, Fuhr DC: Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol. *Lancet*.2009;373(9682):2234–46. 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60744-3

²⁷¹ World Health Organization. 2019. 10 areas governments could work with to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. Accessed May 8 2022, at: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/10-areas-for-national-action-on-alcohol

²⁷² Brewer, R., 2015. Reducing Alcohol Outlet Density Can Reduce Violent Crime. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Accessed May 8 2022, at: https://blogs.cdc.gov/pcd/2015/05/28/reducing-alcohol-outlet-density-can-reduce-violent-crime/

²⁷³ Hahn, R. A., Kuzara, J. L., Elder, R., Brewer, R., Chattopadhyay, S., Fielding, J., Naimi, T. S., Toomey, T., Middleton, J. C., Lawrence, B., & Task Force on Community Preventive Services (2010). Effectiveness of policies restricting hours of alcohol sales in preventing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *39*(6), 590–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2010.09.016

²⁷⁴ Keyes, K. M., Shev, A., Tracy, M., & Cerdá, M. (2019). Assessing the impact of alcohol taxation on rates of violent victimization in a large urban area: an agent-based modeling approach. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 114(2), 236–247. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14470

²⁷⁵ Anderson P, Chisholm D, Fuhr DC: Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol. *Lancet*.2009;373(9682):2234–46. 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60744-3

²⁷⁶ Anderson P, Jané-Llopis E, Hasan OSM, Rehm J. City-based action to reduce harmful alcohol use: review of reviews. F1000Res. 2018 Jan 29;7:120. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.13783.2. PMID: 29862017; PMCID: PMC5843824.

²⁷⁷ World Health Organization. (2022, March 22). Addressing and managing conflicts of interest in alcohol control policies. Less Alcohol Team. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240044487.

²⁷⁸ Matzopoulos, Richard, Helen Walls, Sarah Cook, and Leslie London. "South Africa's Covid-19 Alcohol Sales Ban: The Potential for Better Policy-Making." International journal of health policy and management. Kerman University of Medical Sciences, November 1, 2020. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7719204/#R3</u>; *see also*

Van Walbeek C, Blecher M. The economics of alcohol use, misuse and policy in South Africa. Cape Town, 2014. ²⁷⁹ Alessandra Guedes, Amber Peterman, Ann Sanson, and Sarah Crowe. "Five Ways Governments Are Responding to Violence against Women and Children during COVID-19." Evidence for Action, April 14, 2020.

https://blogs.unicef.org/evidence-for-action/five-ways-governments-are-responding-to-violence-against-women-and-children-during-covid-19/.

²⁸⁰ Matzopoulos, Richard Gregory, Sarah Truen, Brett Bowman, and Joanne Corrigall. "The cost of harmful alcohol use in South Africa." South African Medical Journal 104 (2), November 28, 2013.

²⁸¹ Matzopoulos, Richard, Helen Walls, Sarah Cook, and Leslie London. "South Africa's Covid-19 Alcohol Sales Ban: The Potential for Better Policy-Making." International journal of health policy and management. Kerman University of Medical Sciences, November 1, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7719204/#R3.

²⁸² Matzopoulos, Richard, Helen Walls, Sarah Cook, and Leslie London. "South Africa's Covid-19 Alcohol Sales Ban: The Potential for Better Policy-Making." International journal of health policy and management. Kerman University of Medical Sciences, November 1, 2020. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7719204/#R3.

²⁸³ <u>https://www.news24.com/fin24/companies/alcohol-bans-were-necessary-to-manage-covid-19-pandemic-court-rules-in-vinpro-case-20211207</u>

²⁸⁴ Posted on April 25, 2020 in Alcohol Industry. "South Africa: Alcohol Sales Ban Leads to Violence Reduction." Movendi International, April 25, 2020. https://movendi.ngo/news/2020/04/25/south-africa-alcohol-sales-ban-leads-to-violence-reduction/.

²⁸⁵ Posted on April 25, 2020 in Alcohol Industry. "South Africa: Alcohol Sales Ban Leads to Violence Reduction." Movendi International, April 25, 2020. https://movendi.ngo/news/2020/04/25/south-africa-alcohol-sales-ban-leads-to-violence-reduction/.

²⁸⁶ Tang, Y. L., Xiang, X. J., Wang, X. Y., Cubells, J. F., Babor, T. F., and Hao, W. Alcohol and alcohol-related harm in China: policy changes needed. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 91(4), 270–276. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.107318.

https://doi.org/10.24/1/BLI.12.10/

²⁸⁷ Ibid.

²⁸⁸ Ibid.

²⁸⁹ Ibid.

²⁹⁰ Jiang, Heng. Alcohol and related health issues in China: action needed. *The Lancet Global Health*, Volume 3, Issue 4, e190 - e191. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(15)70017-3.

²⁹¹ "Women, Business and the Law 2022." World Bank.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/36945.

²⁹² Islam and Lopez-Carlos 2021.

²⁹³ "Data | The World Bank". *Datatopics.Worldbank.Org*. 2017.

https://datatopics.worldbank.org/sdgatlas/archive/2017/SDG-05-gender-equality.html.

²⁹⁴ Mary Ellsberg, Margarita Quintanilla & William J. Ugarte (2022): Pathways to change: Three decades of feminist research and activism to end violence against women in Nicaragua, Global Public Health: 4.

²⁹⁵ Mary Ellsberg, Margarita Quintanilla & William J. Ugarte (2022): Pathways to change: Three decades of feminist research and activism to end violence against women in Nicaragua, Global Public Health.

²⁹⁶ Council of Europe. Istanbul Connvention Action against violence against women and domestic violence. Accessed 3 May 2022, at: https://www.coe.int/en/web/istanbul-convention/home?

²⁹⁷ Council of Europe. A new project to support the implementation of the Istanbul Convention in the Republic of Moldova has been launched. <u>https://www.coe.int/en/web/chisinau/-/a-new-project-to-support-the-</u>

 $\underline{implementation-of-the-istanbul-convention-in-the-republic-of-moldova-has-been-launched.}$

²⁹⁸ Francesca Capone (April 2018), *Violence against Women: Assessing Italy's Compliance with the OSCE Commitments and the Current International Legal Framework*, Security and Human Rights,

https://brill.com/view/journals/shrs/28/1-4/article-p24_24.xml?language=en#FN000066

²⁹⁹ Francesca Capone (April 2018), *Violence against Women: Assessing Italy's Compliance with the OSCE Commitments and the Current International Legal Framework*, Security and Human Rights,

https://brill.com/view/journals/shrs/28/1-4/article-p24 24.xml?language=en#FN000066

³⁰⁰ Report of the Republic of Croatia on Implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on Preventing and Combating Violence Against Women and Domestic Violence, Zagreb 2022, p 5-6, <u>https://rm.coe.int/grevvio-inf-2022-2-eng-state-report-croatia/1680a5a0e4</u>

³⁰¹ Anti-Domestic Violence Law of the People's Republic of China (promulgated by the Standing Comm. Nat'l People's Cong., March 1, 2016). (China).

³⁰² Yang, Hao. "China's Domestic Violence Law Turns Four." Accessed June 3, 2022.

https://asiafoundation.org/2020/04/01/chinas-domestic-violence-law-turns-four/.

³⁰³ Ibid.

³⁰⁴ Pin, Lu. "Two Years On: Is China's Domestic Violence Law Working?" Accessed June 3, 2022.

https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2018/03/is-china-domestic-violence-law-working/.

³⁰⁵ Ibid.

³⁰⁶ Yang, Hao.

³⁰⁷ Domestic Violence (Offence and Punishment) Act, 2066 (2009). (Nepal).

³⁰⁸ Ibid.

³⁰⁹ Tuladhar, Indu and Basnet, Bikita, "Study on Implementation Status of Domestic Violence (Offence & Punishment) Act, 2066 (2009)" at Chapter 3.1, April 30, 2014 (submitted to the Rule of Law and Human Rights Protection System in Nepal Programme).

³¹⁰ Mishra, Aanya and Pranaya Sthapit. "Covid-19 Violence Dashboard Shows Nepal's "Shadow" Pandemic." Accessed June 14, 2022. https://asiafoundation.org/2021/07/21/covid-19-violence-dashboard-shows-nepals-shadow-pandemic/.

³¹¹ Taormina, Tricia. "One country's plan to solve the world's hidden health crisis." Accessed June 14, 2022.
 https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20181023-nepals-plans-to-save-womens-lives.
 ³¹² Ibid.

³¹³ Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), *Concluding observations on the ninth periodic report of the Russian Federation*, CEDAW/C/RUS/CO/9, Nov. 30, 2021, <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N21/351/83/PDF/N2135183.pdf</u>?OpenElement

³¹⁴ https://time.com/5942127/russia-domestic-violence-women/

³¹⁵ https://time.com/5942127/russia-domestic-violence-women/

³¹⁶ https://time.com/5942127/russia-domestic-violence-women/

³¹⁷ Michael Remme, Christine Michaels Igbokwe and Charlotte Watts, "What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls? Evidence Review of Approaches to Scale up VAWG Programming and Assess Intervention Costeffectiveness and Value for Money" *The United Kingdom Government Department of International Development Report* (January 2014).

³¹⁸ Susan Goldstein, S Udin,E. Scheepers and Garth Japet "Achieving Social Change on Gender Based Violence: A Report on the Impact Evaluation of Soul City's Fourth Series" *Soc Sci Med* (2005).

³¹⁹ Banerjee, Abhijit, Eliana La Ferrara, and Victor Orozco. "Experimental Evaluation of MTV Shuga: Changing Social Norms and Behaviors with Entertainment Education." Prelimenary Executive Summary available at https://www. povertyactionlab. org/evaluation/experimental-evaluation-mtv-shuga-changingsocial-norms-and-behaviorsentertainment (2017), accessed July 4, 2022, https://leap.unibocconi.eu/sites/default/files/media/attach/MTV-SHUGA.pdf?MOD=AJPERES

³²⁰ PMC, "Salinwansai: Sierra Leone", <u>https://www.populationmedia.org/projects/saliwansai/</u>

³²¹ PMC, "Nau Em Taim: Papua New Guinea", <u>https://www.populationmedia.org/projects/nau-em-taim/</u>

³²² PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia, A High Price to Pay, November 2015.

 ³²³ Jewkes, R., Willan., S., Lori Heise, , Washington, L., Shai, N., Kerr-Wilson, A, Christofides, N.. Effective design and implementation elements in interventions to prevent violence against women and girls."" What Works To Prevent VAWG? Global Programme Synthesis Product Series. South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria (2020).
 ³²⁴ Eleanor Dickens, Marie-Eve Augier, Shayda Sabet, Mario Picon and Kristen Rankin, "Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Evidence Gap Map", 3ie (2019).

³²⁵ Weisburd, David, David P. Farrington, Charlotte Gill, With Mimi Ajzenstadt, Trevor Bennett, Kate Bowers, Michael S. Caudy, Katy Holloway, Shane Johnson, Friedrich Lösel, Jacqueline Mallender, Amanda Perry, Liansheng Larry Tang, Faye Taxman, Cody Telep, Rory Tierney, Maria M. Ttofi, Carolyn Watson, David B. Wilson, and Alese Wooditch, What Works in Crime Prevention and Rehabilitation. An Assessment of Systematic Reviews. Criminology and Public Policy.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12298

³²⁶ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker (2018). Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections. Washington, DC: Promundo-US. https://promundoglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Masculine-Norms-and-Violence-Making-the-Connection-20180424.pdf ; Elizabeth Rowley and Ndack Diop, *Tostan's Community Empowerment Program in Goudiry, Senegal: Community level change in intimate partner violence and related outcomes.* Evaluation Summary Report. Washington, DC: PATH (2020).

³²⁷ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections" *Promundo US* (2018).
 ³²⁸ Brian Heilman with Gary Barker "Masculine Norms and Violence: Making the Connections" *Promundo US* (2018).
 ³²⁹ F. Cabonari, A. Willman, F. Manolio, S. Reinach, D. Marques, "A review of the evidence and a global strategy for violence prevention." Pathfinders, <u>https://www.sdg16hub.org/system/files/2020-</u>10/6c192f f6036b2b1ecf4fd1a3d7687ff7098a46.pdf; (2020)

³³⁰ From \$240,000 for a Ceasefire program in Chicago and about \$469, 000 for Cure Violence in Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago, to \$333 million annually for a nine-year national-level Project Safe Neighborhood in the United States. The United States Department of Justice, "Attorney General Eric Holder Speaks at the Project Safe Neighborhoods Annual Conference", <u>https://www.justice.gov/opa/speech/attorney-general-eric-holder-speaks-</u> project-safe-neighborhoods-annual-conference, July 2020